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THE PRC CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION FLAGSHIP
OF CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

China Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR Gas”), substantially owned
by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, one of the largest
state-owned conglomerates in China, is a leading gas utilities group
in China, the principal businesses of which include the purchases
and sales of natural gas, the construction and operation of pipeline
facilities, gas for vehicles and vessels, combined cooling, heating and
power, and integrated gas services, etc. Its operations are strategically
located in areas of China, which are economically more developed
and densely populated and areas with rich reserves of natural gas.

Leveraging on the excellent industry fundamentals and the Group’s
execution competency, CR Gas continues to expand steadily in 2024
via organic growths. At the end of 2024, CR Gas's portfolio consisted
of 276 city gas projects in 25 provinces of China including 15
provincial capitals and 76 prefecture-level cities with an annual gross
gas sales volume of some 39.9 billion cubic meters and 60.62 million
customers.

The optimization of energy structure and environmental pollution
control will promote the sustainable growth of natural gas consumption
in China. The PRC government has, in recent years, taken various
measures to promote the development and utilization of less polluting
energy sources. The natural gas industry is in sync with the core
development idea of innovation, harmony, green, open and sharing
as compared with conventional energy resources such as coal and
crude oil. In “The 14th Five-Year Plan” and the draft of “Long-Range
Objectives through the Year 2035”, the state once again emphasized
that the promotion of green and low-carbon development, the
enhancement of the construction of ecological civilization and the
promotion and application of natural gas played an important role in
protecting the ecological environment and promoting the transition to
green development.

The natural gas market in China is still in the important development
period, as China remains the most important region in the global
rise of natural gas development. CR Gas is well placed to take
advantage of such a favorable operating environment and to
become the most respectable leader in the PRC’s gas industry
by continuously expanding through organic and external growths;
diligently enhancing its operational efficiency in pursue of
excellence; delivering a safe and reliable supply of clean energy as
well as the caring, competent and efficient service to our customers;
offering growing and sustainable performance to shareholders;
creating extensive professional and personal development
opportunities to employees; and contributing to the protection and
improvement of the Chinese and global environment.
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ANNUAL RESULTS

In 2024, after experiencing multiple shocks such as geopolitical
conflicts, inflation and tightening monetary policy, the global
economy has shown a greater resilience, but the overall growth
was sluggish and faced with multiple challenges. During the year,
China’s gross domestic product (GDP) represents a year-on-year
increase of 5.0%, indicating a steady economic growth. During the
year, the National Energy Administration released the China Natural
Gas Development Report (2024) which pointed out that natural gas
will play a low-carbon and environmentally friendly advantages in
urban development; it will be applied in the traditional industries and
emerging industries of industrial fuels fields; and play a multifunctional
coordinated advantage in the field of electric power. The State Council
released the “Opinions on Accelerating the Comprehensive Green
Transformation of Economic and Social Development” ((BIR INRAS
EAeRE2EHZBEANER)), requiring the steady advancement
of green and low-carbon transformation of energy, and emphasizing
the role of natural gas in the construction of a new energy system. As
an important promoter of global green and low-carbon development,
China’s trend of low-carbon development will promote the further
development of the natural gas industry, and it will usher in a broader
development space in the future.

D ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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The Group will expand steadily via sustainable organic growth and quality
external acquisitions while at the same time proactively exploring new
opportunities arising from its gas value chain and customer base.

FR - AEEBFEEBREY - FAEIUE During the year, the Group has continued pursuing excellence
fo o HEZ2REBRMRELHNFE and adhered to the enterprising spirit by formulating the annual
ERTE BEBEHETE-—RLE a8 management theme of “Bench-marking and Innovating for Quality
HEBEBRIF - SERAELNE - T and Efficiency Enhancement”. Benchmarked against the leading
ZEAREBEHELCER SR TRRTIS companies in the industry, the Group efficiently promotes business
MZLES  BEROWNESREN K& innovation and continuously improves the operating efficiency in
B BRARBEREFRPIER29%= order to constantly consolidate the core advantages of the Group in
399 1B AK » BEFERAFREILR the city gas market of sophisticated regions and cities. By leveraging
1.4%%1,026.8B T ° excellent operating capabilities, the Group’s total natural gas sales

volume increased by 2.9% from the same period last year to 39.91
billion cubic meters, the revenue increased by 1.4% from the same
period last year to HK$102.68 billion.
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SALE OF NATURAL GAS

In 2024, the Group took a number of measures to safeguard the
supply capacity of natural gas and improve the cost of natural gas
procurement, with a total gas volume of approximately 4.00 billion
cubic meters and representing a year-on-year increase of 33%.
The first shipment of 63,000 tons of independent international spot
procurement was completed, and the Group has established an
international business company in Hong Kong and purchased the
first shipment of 64,000 tons of spot gas, with the purchase prices of
both shipments were RMB100-200/ton lower than the domestic market
price. The establishment of a company about gihewang (& #4) was
completed to build a buyer-demand oriented online procurement
and sales mall for the spot natural gas, which currently has more
than 370 member enterprises and 570 suppliers registered, with an
annual transaction scale of more than 700 million cubic metres and a
transaction amount of RMB2.3 billion.

During the year, the Group sold 39.91 billion cubic meters of natural
gas, an increase of 2.9%, of which industrial gas sales was 20.42
billion cubic meters, an increase of 1.5%, accounting for 51.2% of
the Group’s gas sales; commercial gas sales was 8.52 billion cubic
meters, an increase of 3.8%, accounting for 21.3% of the Group’s gas
sales; and residential gas sales increased by 6.3% to 10.04 billion
cubic meters, accounting for 25.2% of the Group’s gas sales.

DEVELOPMENT OF NEW USERS

Due to the impact of the real estate market, the number of new
connected users of the Group has slowed down, but the Group has
actively explored the connected market and seized the opportunity
of urban transformation, the Group is taking the opportunity of the
Nation’s “Urban Village Renovation in Super and Mega City” policy,
accelerate the development of residential users; categorize potential
industrials, design pipeline network in advance to accelerate industrial
customer development; enlarge commercial gas usage and promote
quick quotation, together with the safe reform approach, promote
commercial customers adopting “bottle to gas” by government and
gas company.

During the year, the Group had 53,000 new industrial and commercial
users; 2.693 million residential users were newly developed, including
the connection to 2.117 million new houses users and 0.576 million old
houses users. The average gas penetration rate of city gas projects
operated by the Group in China increased from 59.3% for the same
period of 2023 to 60.4%.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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EXPANSION OF NEW PROJECTS

The Group continues to focus on the core business development of
city gas by leveraging on its reputable corporate brand image. In
2024, focusing on the integration of “one city, one network (—¥#—
#9)", 7 new projects were signed and 4 projects were registered and
the franchised operational region was increased by 2,678 square
kilometers, with a potential gas sales of 610 million cubic meters
and 98,000 new residential users, the key projects covered one
municipality and a number of prefecture-level cities, thus further
consolidating the Company’s leading position in the city gas core
business.

As of 31st December, 2024, the number of registered city gas projects
at the Group level was 276, spanning across 25 provinces, including
15 provincial capital cities, and 76 prefecture-level cities. The
ever-expanding operational regions and prime geographic locations
of the projects have laid a solid foundation for the sustained and rapid
growth of the Group’s core business.
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Sustainable Growth of Natural Gas
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COMPREHENSIVE SERVICE BUSINESS

In 2024, the Group further promoted the upgrade of network service
model, refined network service standards, with the current user
coverage increasing to 37.76 million households. The Group promoted
Enterprise WeChat and Gas Butler APP, building a bridge for online
communication with users and creating the image of “Customers’
Exclusive Gas Butler (BEFEBRAER)", with an accumulative total
of 26.02 million users added to Enterprise WeChat. The 95777 national
unified service hotline was launched to reinforce its standardized
brand image of professionalism and reliability, which now covers 37
million users. Based on the Group’s own brands of “PERCEN (B &)"
and “CR (¥:H)", the Group has deepened its strategic co-operation
with other brands to enrich the brands and types of products in the
online store of Runran Selection (E#AZE®E), provide users with quality
products, increase user stickiness and create an comprehensive
service ecosystem.

During the year, the comprehensive service turnover increased by
4.0% from HK$4.04 billion to HK$4.21 billion, and the segment profit
increased by 2.1% from HK$1.37 billion to HK$1.40 billion. The
penetration rate of the Group’s comprehensive service business is still
at a low level. The Group believes that through continuously vigorous
promotion, the comprehensive service business will step into a stage
of steady development in the future and become an important part of
the Group's business.

D ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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COMPREHENSIVE ENERGY BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

In 2024, the Group fully explored the energy demand of large-scale
industrial and commercial users in the operational region, made use
of the pipeline advantage and land resources advantage of the city
gas business, selected the best distributed photovoltaic, distributed
energy and transportation charging business. Based on the gas
supply, we created opportunities for the integration of green power,
cooling and heating, solar energy storage and charging, energy and
carbon management and other businesses with the main business,
continued to enhance its comprehensive energy solution capability
and built a comprehensive energy business with the characteristics of
CR Gas.

During the year, the annual energy sales volume of the Group was
3.74 billion kWh, representing a year-on-year increase of 27.2%. The
cumulative contracted installed capacity was 4GW, and the cumulative
installed capacity of 3.1GW was put into operation, including 2.6GW of
distributed energy, 94.7MW of distributed photovoltaic, and 415MW of
transportation charging. The Group actively explored the Hong Kong
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and overseas markets by setting up the Hong Kong and overseas
investment platform “Run Supercharge (E#7)”, and established the
joint venture “Charge Wonderful Life (F3£34f)” with CR Longdation
(¥ ML) to jointly promote business in Hong Kong and overseas.
During the year, the supercharging station at China Resources
Building and Lantanghui (25¥[&) in Hong Kong were successfully
put into operation, becoming the world’s first two European standard
all-liquid-cooled supercharging station in operation. An agreement
was signed with All Seasons Property Co., Ltd (REIRFZEM) to carry
out supercharging and building energy-saving businesses.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

In the course of its rapid development, the Group proactively
facilitated the development of the corporate governance of the Board.
It kept enhancing the role of the Board and the management, whereby
each had defined terms of reference and responsibilities, executed
effective check and balance, and conducted rational decision-making,
thus forming a corporate governance structure with high efficiency.
The Group has always attached great importance to honesty &
integrity management, and complied with laws and regulations,
international practice, and business ethics. It has also insisted that the
relationship among staff, suppliers, customers, relevant government
authorities, partners, competitors, and other stakeholders shall be
dealt with on an arm’s length basis and in good faith, so as to gain
market share and win respect with integrity and to improve the
Company’s inherent qualities and value with compliance management.

The Group also attaches great importance to environmental, social
and governance (ESG) management, and has established an ESG
working group under the leadership of the Board with the participation
of all departments of the Group to promote the full implementation
of the ESG sustainable development management system. We also
continue to engage consulting firms to provide professional advice on
the Group’s ESG management system, policies, information disclosure,
performance, and practice, and strive to further improve the Group's
ESG performance. The Group believes that these measures in place
will promote the Group’s sustainable development and contribute to
the construction of a better ecological environment.

D ( cHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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In 2024, the Group organised members of the Board and management
to conduct anti-corruption and environmental protection training by
carrying out an in-depth study to strengthen the culture of integrity
and awareness of environmental protection. During the year, MSCI
maintained the Company’'s ESG rating of A. The Group will obtain
recognition and affirmation from all walks of life through pragmatic
and accountable ESG quality management measures, integrating
the national dual goals of “peak carbon dioxide emissions target
by 2030 and reach carbon neutrality by 2060” into daily operational
management to achieve substantive business development.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Group achieved a turnover of HK$102.68 billion in 2024,
representing a year-on-year increase of 1.4%. Overall gross profit
margin of the Group was 17.8%, representing a decrease of 0.4 PPT
as compared with that of last year. The decrease in overall gross profit
margin was mainly due to the decrease in the share of revenue from
gas connection with a higher gross profit margin from 10.8% the same
period last year to 9.0%. The Group believes that revenue structure
will continue to be optimised in the future, and the Group is optimistic
that it will maintain high quality and sustainable development in the
future.

The Group has been adopting prudent financial resources
management policies to keep borrowings and capital expenditure
at a sound level. In 2024, the Group’s operating cash flow achieved
HK$7.0 billion, the Group has sufficient funds and available banking
facilities to meet capital expenditures and operating requirements
in the future. Given the Group’s sustained in performance, Moody’s,
Standard & Poor’s and Fitch maintained the credit rating of the Group
at A2, A- and A- during the year. The ratings reflect the Group’s
development strategy of focusing on its core business comprehensive
services and comprehensive energy and its financial performance for
current period has been widely recognised by the market, which will
further reduce the finance costs to be incurred by the Group in its
potential financing activities, and provide sufficient financial resources
for the long-term healthy development of the Group.

HONESTY & INTEGRITY CULTURE

The Group always regards honesty & integrity as its foundation of
development, and has issued and implemented a series of measures
in recent years, including Regulation on Honesty & Integrity (#l{E&
MEIEPHL)) and Rules for Staff Responsible for Honesty & Integrity
Culture (FHIEAHEZEBITIEHIE)) and requwes every staff to sign the
Honesty & Integrity Declaration (FHiEAHEE)).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to enhancing its standard of corporate
governance by benchmarking with good corporate governance
practices and has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook
based on the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) issued by
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 42 to 61 of this

annual report.

CAPITAL MARKET PERFORMANCE

From 2008 to 2024, the share price of the Group has increased by
9.1 times from HK$3.4 to HK$30.8 and its market capitalisation has
increased by 23.1 times from HK$3.08 billion to HK$71.16 billion.

From 2008 to 2024, the profit of the Group increased by 17.0 times
from HK$240 million to HK$4.09 billion, turnover increased by 34.3
times from HK$2.99 billion to HK$102.68 billion and total assets
increased by 35.7 times from HK$3.71 billion to HK$132.48 billion.

Based on Bloomberg'’s report, as at 31st December, 2024, the Group
was covered by 51 analyst reports.

Given the Group’s robust performance, Moody's, Standard & Poor’s
and Fitch maintained the credit rating of the Group at A2, A- and A- in
2024. The ratings reflect the Group’s development strategy of focusing
on its core business comprehensive services and comprehensive
energy and its financial performance for current period has been
widely recognised by the market, which will further reduce the finance
costs to be incurred by the Group in its potential financing activities,
and provide sufficient financial resources for the long-term healthy
development of the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement

DEVELOPMENT PROSPECT

In 2024, with China’s economy showing signs of a mild recovery,
China was further creating a healthy development ecosystem for the
green and low-carbon industries, collaborating to promote carbon
reduction, pollution reduction and green expansion and growth, and
stepping up the overall green transformation of economic and social
development. Specifically, natural gas, played a key role in helping
to build a multi-energy complementary energy system. In 2025, from
the policy perspective, China will continue to promote the battle to
fight air, water and soil pollution. From the supply perspective, efforts
in oil and gas exploration and development will be fully stepped up,
with natural gas production increasing by more than 10 billion cubic
meters for eight consecutive years. From the demand perspective,
the long-term positive trend of China’s economy remains unchanged,
with promising future development prospects, whereby the natural gas
industry maintains a strong momentum of development.

In 2025, the Group will adhere to the business strategy of “1+2+N”.
Based on the steady growth of principal business, the Group will
follow its country’s objective to develop clean energy, enrich the
self-controlled natural gas resources, comprehensively enhance the
industrial control, promote investment in external high-quality projects,
continuously raise the penetration rate of the comprehensive service
businesses, upsize the integrated energy, facilitate steady growth
in results, constantly improve shareholders’ return and realise the
sustainable development of the Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
our most sincere appreciation to our business partners, customers
and shareholders for their unfailing support as well as all the Group's
employees for their hard work and dedication in carrying out their
duties and in achieving the Group’s business goal.

YANG PING
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28th March, 2025
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OPERATING RESULTS

Active in pursuit of excellence, the Group reduced the negative impact

of multiple events beyond expectation during the year ended 31st
December, 2024. During the year, the Group’s revenue increased by
1.4% to HK$102.68 billion and we recorded profit attributable to the
owners of the Company of HK$4.09 billion, representing a decrease
of 21.7% over the previous corresponding period. The operating profit
of the Company decreased by 15.9% to HK$7.74 billion and the cash
generated from operations decreased from HK$10.16 billion in 2023 to
HK$7.00 billion in 2024.

The revenue of the Group was derived from sales and distribution
of gas fuel and related products, gas connection, comprehensive
services, design and construction services and gas stations, which
respectively accounted for 83.3%, 9.0%, 4.1%, 0.4% and 3.2% of
the revenue for 2024 (2023: 81.6%, 10.8%, 4.0%, 0.4% and 3.2%,
respectively).

Gross gas sales volume increased by 2.9% from 38.78 billion m® to
39.91 billion m®,
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The management team continuously improves
the operational efficiency of the Group to achieve
sustainable organic growth.

AEERERITHIEER B MBESRH TS With excellent project planning and active market development
HEFRE  FEZERTMEIER A strategy, the Group continued to focus on the development of new
FR%Z —T_NFHEREEAFEH users of city gas projects. The total number of newly connected
A269.38F residential users in 2024 was 2.693 million.

RZZTWF - NEBMEBETHHER In 2024, the Group continued to make new acquisitions and invested
WA IERTRREERELIH2.2E or paid HK$0.22 billion in 11 city gas projects. Most of these projects
BIL e BRRIBHEEHAEEZELA are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group.

FHEE -
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The investments will enable the Group to further extend its coverage
and footprint in the PRC. The Group has existing city gas operations in
these provinces and has 84 regional offices set up in various strategic
locations in the PRC. The projects of the investments will be efficiently
integrated and managed by the relevant regional office depending
on their geographical locations. As such, the Group considers that
the investments will create synergies with the Group’s existing gas
operation, thereby broadening the Group’s revenue base as well as
enhancing and sustaining its profitability.

The Group also conducts ongoing evaluation of past investments,

which are essential for making decisions on future investments.

PRECISE BENCHMARKING

“‘Benchmarking” is the process of comparing one’s business
processes and performance metrics to the best practices of the
industry. The Group has implemented benchmarking initiatives from
best practitioners in all business sectors. “Benchmarking” has started
off internally with intra-group benchmarking and have extended to
benchmarking against external best practices of the industry.

Implementing “Benchmarking” measure is an indispensable choice for
CR Gas to accomplish the fundamental transformation of its growth
model from resources-driven growth to efficiency improvement, and
is also one crucial approach taken by CR Gas to achieve its strategic
goal to become the leading world-class gas enterprise in China.

This combination of internal and external benchmarking helps each
member company to identify the most important gaps between its
current state and where it wants to be. It creates a road map for
change and generates the rigorous cost and performance baseline
necessary to effectively track progress on that road map over time in
terms of cost reductions and performance improvements. All member
companies were required to sign “Benchmarking Responsibility
Contracts” with head office, and continued to deepen 34 quantitative
benchmarks, highlighting the key objectives and becoming more
focused and precise. This ongoing campaign has led to many
satisfying results in 2024.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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CONTINUOUS EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENT
OF REGIONAL CENTRES AND DESIGN &
CONSTRUCTION CENTRES

The Group has 84 regional centres to decentralise the management
of the day to day operation of the Group’s city gas projects across
China. Each regional centre is responsible for the day to day operation
of a cluster of cities within their respective regions. This enhances the
operation efficiencies and provides better services that respond faster
to changing local demand and conditions.

Members of the Group’s management team concurrently serve as
regional general managers. The arrangement minimises the increase
in headcounts or resources, thereby achieving the goal of attaining
maximum results with minimum resources.

The centralisation of the Group’s design and construction activities will
further enhance standardisation of pipeline construction and central

procurements thereby resulting in further cost reductions.
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BUSINESS PROCESS STREAMLINING AND
OPERATION ENHANCEMENT

The Group continued its systematic review of the business and
management processes of its various city gas projects. This ongoing
process is expected to continuously enhance the overall operational
efficiency of city gas projects.

The Group’s supply chain management was further streamlined with
rigorous tender system covering construction projects, and the new
or revised guidelines covering various categories of projects and
quality control measures were issued and implemented. With the help
of centralised procurement IT system, the procurement of most of our
materials has been centralised, representing 85.54% of total material
procurement expenditure up to the end of 2024. While safeguarding
product quality, the Group reduced procurement costs through
centralised procurement.

Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance
the human resources management process with the objective of
recruiting, promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal
and external sources. CR Gas’s management team comprises utility
professionals with significant expertise and experiences across
financial, law, commercial and engineering disciplines. We strive to
provide and maintain a satisfying and rewarding working environment
for employees and commit to their training and professional
development.

In view of the significant increase in operation size of the Group in
recent years, we continued to promote the application of information
technology systems covering project management, top-up cards for
gas stations, office administration, centralised cash management,
financial reporting, human resources, centralised procurement and
customer service at various levels of the Group’s operation, so as to
improve our operational efficiency.

On the continuous enhancement of customer service, through
continuously diversifying product portfolio, enhancing the success
rate of household safety inspection, shortening user complaint
processing time, promoting internet payment, quickening the response
of user hotlines and other measures, the Company has optimised user
experience to continuously increase user satisfaction.

BT ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

On the financial and tax management areas, the Group has
successfully promoted value-oriented management system to each
member company and thus effectively reduced costs and expenses.
In particular, we further enhanced the centralisation of cash
management with the inclusion of more member companies in the
system with significant increase of cash pool size. By doing so, the
Group has greatly reduced the overall cost of borrowing. Furthermore,
various taxation rationalisation and reduction measures were taken to
reduce tax exposure and speed up tax setoffs and refunds.

SAFETY MANAGEMENT ENHANCEMENT

The Group has formulated a number of safety management policies
and procedures, and has hired qualified engineers and technical
staff as well, to manage and prevent any potential accidents in the
Group’s natural gas related facilities which may cause damage to the
environment.

In addition to our internally commissioned control, hazard prevention
and emergency recovery procedures, the Group have fully complied
with the relevant local and national environmental protection

regulations and licensing requirement.
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To improve our safety standard, the Group carried out a range
of company-wide safety and environment conscious campaigns.
Meanwhile, the Group applied new technologies such as big data
and intelligence to explore intelligent monitoring and dispatch
management of gas, so as to strengthen key aspect and potential
defect treatment. The Group continued to conduct safety audits,
completed safety audits and flight safety inspections for 79 regional
companies and 120 member companies throughout the year, and
urged the inspected units to carry out closed-loop management after
rectification and follow-up. In 2024, a total of HK$2.394 billion was
invested to complete the transformation of 2,168.2 kilometers of old
pipelines.

The Group places emphasis on educating staff and users in respect
of safety procedures. Accordingly, the Group regularly organized
trainings and seminars for relevant staff, and the training for certified
safety engineers, with an aggregate of 412,500 persons/times of
training received which effectively regulated employees’ safety
behavior. For end users, explanations of safety procedures are given
and regular seminars as well as distribution of brochures and booklets
on safety are arranged.
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

TRAINING AND REWARD FOR EMPLOYEES

As at 31st December, 2024, the Group have approximately 57,522
employees. The Group values human resources and recognises the
importance of attracting, training and retaining quality staff for its
continual success. In addition to the “Gas Faculty” in China Resources
University, which designs courses and provides training programs to
the Group’s workforce, the Group also operates 5 regional training
centres covering Eastern, Northern, Central, Southern and South-
Western China. These centres are located in our regional centres
of Wuxi, Jining, Zhengzhou, Fuzhou and Chengdu. Various types of
management and technical trainings are conducted through the Group
for different levels of staff to enhance their knowledge and skills.
Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance
the human resources management process with the objective of
recruiting, promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal
and external sources. CR Gas’'s management team comprises
utility professionals with significant expertise across financial,
law, commercial and engineering disciplines. We strive to provide
and maintain a satisfying and rewarding working environment for
employees and commit to their training and professional development.
The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
work experience and the prevailing market wage level. Further,
bonuses are granted to employees and incentive awards are made
to employees based on merit and performance. The Group believes
this will assist to attract and retain quality staff and at the same time

encourage the employees to give their best performances.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is constantly alert to the threats or uncertainties with
negative consequences facing the industry and has been taking
various measures to safeguard the Group’s interest.

The system of annual and regular safety audit has been established
continuously on all operating member companies of the Group to
ensure compliance with national and local safety regulations.

The Company has set up 6 audit centers across the country and
continued to promote regional companies to improve audit and risk
control functions. A total of 26 internal audit projects were completed
at the Group and member company levels, covering areas such
as operation, finance, and project procurement. The Group has
revised and issued various audit and risk control management
guidelines, organized major risk management and internal control self-
investigation, and no systemic risks occurred throughout the year.

In 2024, the Group kept improving its institutional system, equipped
its internal control system with information technologies, and took
comprehensive measures to prevent and control major risks and to
supervise and inspect how the internal control system worked, thereby
setting up an internal control system that can strengthen internal
control, prevent risks and promote compliance. By doing so, the

Group made full use of the internal control system to safeguard its
operations and control risks, prevented systemic and major risks from
happening, and boosted the high-quality development of the Group.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group is supporting the ongoing green environmental policies of
the PRC government by actively expanding our cleaner natural gas
business. In accordance with the national 14th Five-Year Plan and
the Group’s own development status, and with reference to its energy
conservation and emission reduction targets in 2020, the Group has
formulated the major development targets for green and low-carbon
transformation. As of the end of 2024, the Group’s carbon dioxide
emission intensity and comprehensive energy consumption per
RMB10,000 of revenue (comparable price) decreased by 61.28% and
35.59% as compared with those at the end of 2020, respectively.

The Group also carried out charitable activities as token of measure
to contribute to society. The Group’s member companies conducted
activities such as poverty alleviation, donation for education, caring
for particular groups as well as volunteer services in a number
of regions, making donation (including money and materials) for
various public welfare undertakings during the year, thus building a
reputable corporate image of the Group. In 2024, CR Gas vigorously
implemented sustainable charity and public welfare undertakings,
taking positive actions to help build a harmonious society.
Throughout the year, CR Gas’s total charitable donations amounted to
HK$3,103,600, with cumulative volunteer services of 74,100 persons/
times.

APPRECIATION

| would like to express my deepest gratitude to our management
team and staff members for their unfailing hard work and dedication.
We would continue to work hand in hand to improve service to
our customers, increase efficiency to enhance the values of the
shareholders and employees.

QIN Yan
Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28th March, 2025

(zmpeersRan —2-mE%5%) N




MBERFERE

Financial & Operational Highlights

HMRERE FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
—E-mE —ZTEo=F N CD)
For the year ended Increase/
BEt+-BA=+—BHLEE 31st December, 2024 2023 (Decrease)
FExT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
S Turnover 102,675,888 101,271,905 1.4%
EH Gross profit 18,258,378 18,451,671 (1.0%)
KEEF (N REM IS A KR Profit from operations
EhaEBERBERRIEE) (before finance costs and
share of results of joint ventures
and associates) 7,738,284 9,205,654 (15.9%)
F A Profit for the year 5,748,294 7,058,886 (18.6%)
RRF AR A A A E T Profit attributable to the Company’s
equity holders 4,088,148 5,223,705 (21.7%)
KEEBSHR e F5E Net cash from operating activities
(ZRBRZE) (after tax payments) 7,001,826 10,156,593 (31.1%)
BREARAFO(ET) Basic EPS™ (HKS$) 1.80 2.30 (21.7%)
BRARABRR S - "I OB Final dividend proposed per share
(HK cents) 70.00 100.69 (30.5%)
2ERE - Gk OB Total dividend per share for the year
(HK cents) 95.00 115.69 (17.9%)

R < (1)

% o

FRERBFZD BT INEF
BYEE - T REEm T 8IRA R

Note: (1)

scheme.
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Basic earnings per share is calculated based on weighted average
number of issued shares, excluding shares held for incentive award
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—EoME —E=F M CRD)
For the year ended Increase/
BE+=-A=1t—BHLEE 31st December, 2024 2023 (Decrease)
FExT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
BEE Total assets 132,482,695 137,871,085 (3.9%)
RITHEBRRIRS Bank balances and cash 7,530,584 9,978,468 (24.5%)
BEEmmo Total borrowings(” 23,000,859 26,528,718 (13.3%)
BEEF58 Net borrowings 15,470,275 16,550,250 (6.5%)
RRABRAFEE AEGER Equity attributable to the
Company’s equity holders 41,171,967 40,772,231 1.0%
eI R Non-controlling interests 22,799,009 22,611,451 0.8%
REEE Total equity 63,970,976 63,383,682 0.9%
—ECZMF —E=F 2E
MBER Financial Indicators 2024 2023 Change
ERE Gross profit margin 17.8% 18.2% (0.4PPT)
FHRE(FA) Net profit margin (for the year) 5.6% 7.0% (1.4PPT)
SRR (AR FEM) Net profit margin (attributable to
shareholders) 4.0% 5.2% (1.2PPT)
BERBELE® Debt to capitalisation ratio® 26.4% 29.5% (3.1PPT)
BEA/BLLERO Debt to assets ratio® 17.4% 19.2% (1.8PPT)
-ZNEIEE Return on equity 9.9% 12.8% (2.9PPT)
B 5E Notes:
(1) EAPEERARFRE(ZTZNF : 08 (1)  The amount due to an intermediate holding company (2024: HK$0; 2023:

T —T =4 :3,804,920 B T) « JE

HK$3,804,920,000), as well as the amount due to a fellow subsidiary
(2024: HK$0 ; 2023: HK$0) are included in total borrowings.

NRAAMEBERABTFA(ZFTZWEF 038
T DB ZF 0B AP ARERR -

(2 EAXBBELREERAFEREREEIRK
REERALG) -
(B HEEBEBHLTEERARHAELEMNL

Bl o

(2) Debt to capitalisation ratio is the ratio of total borrowings to total
borrowings and total equity.

(38) Debt to asset ratio is the ratio of total borrowings to total assets.

(zmprersran —2-mE%8) @EIN
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Financial & Operational Highlights

EERE OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
—E_NEFEEYRE Operational data for 2024
R-B-ME i ———
+=-A=t+-H +-A=+-H
As at As at
31st December, 31st December, )
EERE Operational Performance 2024 2023 Change
BEE¥H Number of projects 276 276 -
ERTEEFY (BEFR) Connectable householders
(million) 99.98 97.08 3.0%
ERAFBEXR Penetration rate of residential
household 60.4% 59.3% +1.1PPT
BHERE (BEIHXK) Gross sales volume (million m?) 39,907 38,784 2.9%
BERAR Residential 10,038 9,444 6.3%
T¥RF Industrial 20,416 20,111 1.5%
EERP Commercial 8,523 8,209 3.8%
BREEAP Vehicles 930 1,020 (8.8%)
THERE RE/ER Average gas tariff/Cost/Gross margin
(AR¥EBIFXK) (RMB per m?) 3.42/2.89/0.53 3.50/2.99/0.51 (0.08)/(0.10)/0.02
ERRE (RE) Total length of pipeline (km) 327,029 306,955 20,074
BERAE Connected customers 60,624,075 57,779,698 2,844,377
ERBF Residential 60,085,963 57,294,810 2,791,153
T¥AP Industrial 51,711 42,481 9,230
EERP Commercial 486,402 442,407 43,995
FHEREBRBA (AR Average residential connection fee
(RMB) 2,685 2,660 25
MEERERE (EWR) Gross new households with paid
connection fee
mE Total 2,693,470 3,312,582 (619,112)
AfnE Consolidated 2,106,662 2,654,374 (547,712)
MEIE(CNG/LNG/L-CNG)  Gas station (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) 307 (189/68/50) 315 (193/70/52) 8) ((4)/(2)/(2))

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s annual revenue in 2024 amounted to HK$102.68 billion
(2023: HK$101.27 billion).

The city gas distribution business contributed an after tax but before
non-controlling interest profit of HK$5.75 billion (2023: HK$7.06 billion)
and profit attributable to owners of the Company of HK$4.09 billion
(2023: HK$5.22 billion).

Turnover

In 2024, the Group recorded a gross gas volume of 39.91 billion cubic
meters, representing an increase of 2.9%. The turnover of CR Gas
registered an increase of 1.4% from HK$101.27 billion to HK$102.68
billion for the year ended 31st December, 2024, mainly due to the
rapid development of the Group’s gas sales business during the year.

The Group recorded profit attributable to the owners of the Company
of HK$4.09 billion, representing a decrease of 21.7% as compared to
HK$5.22 billion for the previous corresponding period.

Gross Margin

The Group’s overall gross profit margin was 17.8%, representing a
decrease of 0.4 percentage point as compared with that of last year.
The decrease in overall gross profit margin was mainly because the
revenue from the Group’s sale and distribution of gas fuel and related
products and revenue from gas stations as a percentage of operating
revenue increased from 84.8% last year to 86.5% in 2024, while
the percentage of revenue from gas connection with higher gross
profit margin decreased from 10.8% last year to 9.0%. The Group
believes that the revenue structure will continue to be optimised in
the future, and the Group is optimistic of high-quality and sustainable
development in the future.

(zmprersran —2-mE58%) QEIN
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Other income, costs and expenses

The decrease of HK$1.06 billion in other income was mainly due to the
fact that in 2023, EEMEA and EFPIZEMIRA were consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements of the Group, resulting in a one-
off gain of HK$1.08 billion.

As a percentage of revenue, selling and distribution expenses as
well as the administration expenses were 6.9% and 4.5% respectively
(20283: 6.7% and 4.5%, respectively).

Finance expense decreased by HK$200 million was mainly due to the
decrease in total borrowing and structural adjustment of loans.

The increase in share of results of joint ventures by HK$134 million
was mainly due to the improvement in the operation of Tianjin project.
And the decrease in share of results of associates by HK$30.32
million was mainly due to the decrease in profit or loss of K &W¥ASR for
the year as compared with that for the previous corresponding period.

Taxation amounted to HK$2.00 billion, representing 25.8% of profit
before taxation (2023: 20.8%).

Operating and free cash flow generation

The city gas distribution operation continued to bring in healthy cash
flow with a net operating cash flow after tax of HK$7.00 billion. The
Group recorded bank balances and cash of HK$7.53 billion at the end
of 2024. The Group continued to leverage on its strong balance sheet
to raise low cost finance during 2024 and had a total borrowings of
HK$23.00 billion outstanding as at 31st December, 2024. The Group
maintains a very healthy balance sheet with a low gross debt to total
asset ratio of 51.7% (2023: 54.0%).

Reasonable rates of return

In view of the fact that the Group is still in expansion phase, the city
gas distribution operation maintained reasonable return on equity of
9.9% in 2024, representing a decrease of 2.9 percentage points from
2023. The Group invested a total of 11 new projects in 2024. The rates
of returns were expected to improve once all these newly acquired
projects started to attain higher operating efficiency and generated
more returns in 2024 and thereafter.

BFZ® ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Major contributors

Previously, the earlier projects of Chengdu, Wuxi and Suzhou acquired
in 2008 used to account for more than 80% of the gas sales volume,
connection fee and net profit contribution. As the Group acquired
more new projects from 2009 to 2024, their contribution percentages
decreased and were taken up by others such as Chongging, Tianjin,
Ningbo, Zhengzhou, Zhenjiang, Fuzhou, Nanjing, Qingdao, Hefei,
Anyang and Wuhan. The percentage contribution from all projects
were expected to gradually become more evenly distributed in the
future. The broadening of the Group’s earning base will ensure that
the Group will not rely heavily on any single city gas project.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The net cash inflow after tax from operations during the year amounted
to HK$7.00 billion (2023: HK$10.16 billion).

To fund its acquisition expansion, the Group spent HK$0.22 billion in
capital expenditure during the year. The Group spent HK$4.20 billion
in upgrading and expanding of its existing city gas pipelines and
related facilities (2023: HK$5.15 billion). The above required funding
was financed by the operating cash flow, bank borrowings and cash
on hand of the Group. As at year end, the Group’s bank balances and
cash and other deposits was HK$7.53 billion (2023: HK$9.98 billion).
Among the balances, 1.97% was denominated in Hong Kong dollar
and 93.64% in Renminbi and 4.39% in US dollar.

It is the Group’s policy to use the cash flow generated from operations
and appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of fund to
finance major expansion and acquisition. As at the end of the year,
the Group had total borrowings of HK$23.00 billion (2023: HK$26.53
billion). 62.0% (2023: 32.8%) of the total borrowings are considered
as current liabilities and repayable within one year, and the remaining
are repayable in more than one year. Renminbi, Hong Kong dollar,
US dollar and Japanese Yen, denominated borrowings accounted for
78.3%, 11.7%, 8.8% and 1.1% of the total borrowings respectively
(2023: 76.2%, 14.8%, 7.6% and 1.4%). 59.3% (2023: 23.7%) of total
borrowings are interest bearing on floating rate terms and 40.7%
(2023: 76.3%) are interest bearing bank loans and medium-term notes
with fixed interest rate.

The bank balances and cash of the Group was HK$7.53 billion as at
the year end. The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the year,
calculated as total borrowings over total assets, was 17.4% (2023:
19.2%). The financial position and liquidity of the Group is very healthy
and stable.

(FRRFERAERLS —S_NEER)
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The Group has been granted a total of HK$83.21 billion, RMB52.10
billion, JPY8.29 billion, US$0.52 billion and HK$22.50 billion (2023:
HK$20.33 billion, RMB38.98 billion, JPY8.29 billion and US$0.52
billion) banking facilities with maturities from 2024 to 2025. The
facilities are unsecured and with floating interest rates. As at the end
of the year, 54% of the HK$ facilities (2023: 16%), 50% of the RMB
facilities (2023: 90%), 70% of the US$ facilities (2023: 99%) and 64%
of the JPY facilities (2023: 30%) has been drawn down.

Other than the above, the Group has no other committed borrowing
facilities. For day-to-day liquidity management and maintaining
flexibility in funding, the Group has managed to obtain sufficient
uncommitted short-term facilities from banks.

Charge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2024, bank deposits of HK$139.50 million were
pledged as securities for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31st December, 2024, the Group’s city gas
distribution business spent HK$13.82 billion on plant, machinery and
equipment and HK$4.90 billion on construction in progress.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2024, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Financial Management and Treasury Policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of
the Group’s treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of
the major objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its
exposure to fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. It is the Group’s policy not to engage in speculative activities.

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, US dollar and Renminbi with some denominated in JPY.
The Group does not expect significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations in this regard.

JFED ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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Mr. YANG Ping, aged 50, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company on 23rd December, 2021. He was appointed as the chairman of

the Board of the Company on 16th August, 2024, and is also the chairman

BEE4E of the Nomination Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee
Mr. YANG Ping (now known as Environmental, Social and Governance Committee (“ESG

Committee”)) of the Company. Mr. YANG was the Chief Representative of
Shanghai Representative Office of China Resources Gas Group Limited
from 2005 to 2011, the General Manager of the Office & Administration
Department of China Resources Gas Group Limited from 2011 to 2012,
the Vice General Manager of Wuhan Region and the General Manager of
Wugang China Resources Gas (Wuhan) Co., Ltd from 2012 to 2014, the
General Manager of the Greater Hubei Area from 2014 to 2016, the Vice
President of China Resources Gas Group Limited from 2016 to 2021; and
the Chief Executive Officer of China Resources Gas Group Limited from
2021 to 2024. Mr. YANG graduated from Tongji University and holds a
Bachelor's Degree in Gas Profession.
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Ms. QIN Yan, aged 47, was appointed as an executive Director and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 17th December, 2024. Ms.
QIN joined China Resources (Nanjing) Petroleum Gas Co., Ltd. (F3 R H
FiERBRAR) (currently known as Nanjing China Resources Gas Co.,
Ltd. (FAREBMAARAAF]) (“Nanjing China Resources Gas”)) in 2004,
and was appointed as the Vice President of the Company in October

=Mzt . . _ o .
Ms. QIN Yan 2021, prior to that time, she successively served as the Chief Financial

Officer of Nanjing China Resources Gas, General Manager of Huaibei
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (FILZ=BERRARAF]), General Manager
of Zhenjiang regional company, General Manager of Nanjing regional
company, Vice General Manager of the East China Region and Assistant
President of China Resources Gas (Group) Co., Ltd. (ZEBMR(EE)ER
A7]). Ms. QIN holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from
Nanjing University and a certificate of economist.
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Mr. LI Xiaoshuang, aged 47, was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company on 8th December, 2023. He joined the Company in 2005
and was appointed as the Vice President of the Company in 2016 and the
Chief Financial Officer of the Company in 2017. Previously, he had held
the positions of Deputy General Manager of the Investment Department
as well as General Manager of the Audit Department and the Finance

Department of the Company. He has extensive experience in, among

LN other areas, merger and acquisitions, internal audit, risk management

Mr. LI Xiaoshuang and financial management. He graduated from Guangdong University of
Finance & Economics with a bachelor’s degree in economics.

JELD ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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Mr. WANG Gaogiang, aged 55, was appointed as a Non-executive

IFemEE ]
Mr. WANG Gaogiang Director of the Company on 15th September, 2021 and a member of

the Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Company on 29th
November, 2024, he also serves as an external director of business unit

of China Resources Group, and has served as a non-executive director of
China Resources Capital Holdings Company Limited since August 2021
and a non-executive director of China Resources Vanguard (Holding)
Company Limited since September 2023. From March 2020 to August
2021, he served as the Deputy General Manager of the Audit Department
of China Resources Group; from February 2012 to February 2020,
he served as the Vice President of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited; from August 2002 to January 2012, he successively
served as the Senior Manager and Deputy Chief Officer of the Audit &
Supervision Department of China Resources Group; from March 2000 to
July 2002, he served as the Manager of the Audit Department of China
Resources Logistics Co. Limited; from August 1992 to February 2000,
he successively served as the Deputy Chief Officer and Manager of
the Finance Department of China Resources National Corporation. Mr.
WANG has over 30 years’ experience in corporate finance, internal audit,
internal control, risk management and corporate governance. Mr. WANG
holds a bachelor’'s degree of economics from the Guangdong University
of Foreign Studies, and has obtained the International Certified Internal
Auditor qualification and the PRC Accountant qualification.
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Ms. GE Lu, aged 54, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the
Ms. GE Lu Company on 27th September, 2023 and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company on 29th November, 2024, and is also an
external director of the business units of China Resources Group. She
has been appointed as a non-executive director of China Resources
Healthcare Group Limited since August 2021, and a non-executive
director of China Resources Digital Holdings Company Limited since
November 2021 and a non-executive director of China Resources Medical
Holdings Company Limited (which is listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange; Stock Code: 1515) since September 2023. Ms. GE served as
positions including the vice general manager and chief information officer
of China Resources Pharmaceutical Commercial Group Limited (Z= 5 & %
mEEEABR AR and China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited
(GEBEBELEEABR AR, and the general manager assistant of Beijing
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (JtREZMHBERAF]) (now known as China
Resources Pharmaceutical Commercial Group Limited (828 Lipg & E
BBR2A7A]) from January 2010 to August 2021. Ms. GE has over 30 years
of working experience in the pharmaceutical industry and specializes in
supply chain management, logistics management and information systems
management and planning in the pharmaceutical distribution field. Ms.
GE holds a master's degree of business administration from Tsinghua
University (B# X&) and a bachelor’'s degree of computer science from
Beijing Jiaotong University (L RZ#@BAEZ), and holds the title of Senior
Engineer.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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Mr. LI Weiwei Mr. LI Weiwei, aged 58, was appointed as a non-executive Director and

a member of the Corporate Governance Committee (now known as ESG
Committee) of the Company on 29th November, 2024. He also serves
as an external director of the business units of China Resources Group.
Mr. LI served as the supervisor and director of the board secretariat of
Guangzhou Longkey Industrial Co., Ltd. from October 1994 to June 1998;
successively served as the chief secretary of the chief executive officer,
deputy general manager of the human resources training department,
human resources director of the human resources headquarters of
Guosen Securities Co., Ltd. from June 1998 to June 2004; the human
resources director and vice president of Huaxi Securities Co., Ltd. from
June 2004 to September 2010; the deputy general manager of China
Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. from September 2010 to January
2019; the deputy general manager of China Resources Capital Holdings
Company Limited from February 2019 to August 2021; a director of China
Resources Capital Management Limited from August 2019 to June 2024; a
director of China Resources Microelectronics Limited (the shares of which
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 688396.SH)
since September 2021 and a non-executive director of China Resources
Vanguard (Holding) Company Limited since February 2025. Mr. LI holds
a Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) degree in Systems Engineering at Tsinghua
University.
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Mr. ZHANG Junzheng, aged 60, was appointed as a non-executive

Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company
on 29th November, 2024. He also serves as an external director of the

REBELE , ) .
Mr. ZHANG Junzheng business units of China Resources Group. Mr. ZHANG served as an

executive director and the vice chairman of the board of directors of
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (‘CR Power”, the
shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 836)) from December 2019 to December 2024. He served
as a director of the Health Safety and Environment Department of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”) from June 2014 to
December 2019 and the deputy director of the office of the board of CRH
from June 2009 to June 2014. He joined CR Power in 1995; worked as
deputy chief engineer and deputy general manager for China Resources
(Xuzhou) Electric Power Co., Ltd.; and served as the general manager of
the Assets Operations Department of CR Power from November 2004 to
June 2009. Mr. ZHANG is qualified as a Senior Engineer, and holds an
MBA Degree from China Europe International Business School.
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Mr. FANG Xin, aged 49, was appointed as a non-executive Director and a
member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Company on

BETEE

Mr. FANG Xin 21st January, 2025. He also serves as an external director of the business

units of China Resources Group, and has served as a non-executive
director of China Resources Healthcare Group Limited since December
2024 and a non-executive director of China Resources Vanguard (Holding)
Company Limited since February 2025. Mr. FANG served as a director
of China Resources Chemical Innovative Materials Co., Ltd. (¥;E/{LE4H
BRI ER2AF]) (‘“CR Materials”, the shares of which are listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 301090.SZ) from January
2020 to December 2024, the period in which he concurrently served
as the assistant general manager from January 2020 to August 2021;
the vice general manager from August 2021 to January 2022; and the
general manager from January 2022 to December 2024. Mr. FANG joined
China Resources Group in August 1996, successively served as various
positions including the director of procurement department and assistant
general manager of China Resources Chemicals Holdings Limited (38
{ETHERE AR A F]) (now known as China Resources Chemical Innovative
Materials Holdings Limited ((E{bLZ2MEIEHEIZERBRAFR)). Mr. FANG
holds a bachelor’'s degree in engineering from Beijing Institute of
Technology.
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Mr. WONG Tak Shing, aged 74, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in 1998. He is the Chairman of

BEBEE , , _ ,
Mr. WONG Tak Shing the Company’'s Remuneration Committee and member of the Audit and

Risk Management Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee (now known as ESG Committee). Mr. WONG
involves in various professional appointments and public duties, including
Member of Probate Committee of the Law Society of Hong Kong and
Member of Committee on Charities and Trust of the Law Society of Hong
Kong (2011-2023). He was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court
of Hong Kong in 1984, a solicitor of England & Wales and Australia
respectively in 1989, a solicitor of Singapore in 1995 and was appointed
as a China-Appointed Attesting Officer with effect from 18th January, 2003
and full member (TEP) of the Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners
(STEP) with effect from 12th February, 2010. Mr. WONG has been in
private practice in Hong Kong for over 30 years. From 1984 to 1987, he
worked as an assistant solicitor with two local law firms in Hong Kong
before setting up his own practice in 1987. Mr. WONG holds a Master’s
Degree in Laws from the Peking University of China and a Master's
Degree in Laws from the University of London of England.
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Mr. YU Hon To, David, aged 77, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management

Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company on 28th December, 2012. Mr. YU
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Mr. YU Hon To. David is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England

and Wales and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He has extensive experience in the fields
of auditing, corporate finance, financial investigation and corporate
management. He was formerly a partner of an international accounting
firm. He is currently a non-executive director of Haier Smart Home Co.,
Ltd., which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange - (stock code:
600690.SH) and on the Main Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange
Limited (stock code: 6690) and an independent non-executive director
of Keck Seng Investments (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: 184), One
Media Group Limited (stock code: 426), MS Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1451) and Playmates Toys Limited (stock code: 869).
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Mr. YANG Yuchuan, aged 61, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit and Risk Management

BEILE

Mr. YANG Yuchuan Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
(now known as ESG Committee) of the Company in August 2018. Mr.
YANG is the Guest Professor of Hong Kong Financial Services Institute, an

independent non-executive director of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 836) and Bojun Education Company Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1758). He is the chief executive and chief macro economist of Prime
China Securities Limited, responsible for the day-to-day management
and operation of the company. He has extensive experience in financial
industry. Mr. YANG was an executive director of Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0509); a non-executive director of TTG Fintech Limited, a
company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (stock code: TUP);
an executive director of Partners Capital Securities Limited and the chief
executive of Sunshine Asset Management (HK) Limited. Mr. YANG holds
a bachelor’'s degree from Shanghai Jiao Tong University in the PRC and
a master’s degree of business administration from University of San
Francisco in the United States of America.
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Mr. LI Pok Yan, aged 69, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee of
the Company on 27th September, 2023 and was appointed as a member
of the Corporate Governance Committee (now known as ESG Committee)
of the Company on 29th November, 2024. He is a member of the Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers, Chartered Engineer of the United Kingdom,
and a member of the Institute of Marine Engineering, Science and
Technology in the United Kingdom. He has extensive working experience
in different shipyards and is experienced in managing large-scale
projects and leading team operations. He is proficient in management
of personnel, funds, materials, technology, and information resources,
and is familiar with factory and industrial operations, occupational
safety, maritime affairs and the Companies Ordinance in Hong Kong.
Mr. LI is currently an executive director of Yiu Lian Dockyards Limited
and has served as its general manager and deputy general manager
before. He was also the deputy general manager and senior consultant
of China Merchants Industry Holdings Co., Ltd.. Mr. LI managed the
modification and inspection projects of a number of seagoing vessels
and large offshore drilling platforms at that time. Mr. LI was a member
of the Representative Election Conference of the 14th National People’s
Congress of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2023. He
has been appointed as a member of the Hong Kong Election Committee
(Shipping and Transport Sector) since 2016. From 2009 to 2014, he was
appointed as the Vice Chairman of the 14th and 15th Executive Committee
of the Tsuen Wan Branch of the Hong Kong New Territories Industry and
Commerce Federation. From 2003 to 2009, he was appointed as the 12th
and 13th Vice Chairman of the Tsuen Wan Branch of the Hong Kong New
Territories Industry and Commerce Federation. From 2003 to 2011, he was
appointed as a director of the 12th, 13th and 14th board of directors of
the Hong Kong New Territories Industry and Commerce Federation. Mr. LI
holds a master’s degree in management from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHU Likun, aged 58, was appointed as a Senior Vice President
of China Resources Gas Group Limited in January 2014, responsible
for Party organisation and human resources. Mr. ZHU Likun holds
a Master's Degree in Economics from Soochow University and a
certificate of senior engineer. He joined Suzhou China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd. (a member of China Resources Group) in 2003 and has been
working for China Resources Gas Group Limited since then.

Mr. LI Xuesong, aged 55, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas Group Limited in January 2021, responsible for the
comprehensive energy management. Mr. LI Xuesong holds a college
degree from Inner Mongolia Radio & TV University (R & EEESHE A
£). He joined Zhongshan Public Utility Gas Company Limited (7Ll
NRABEABR AR, a member of China Resources Group) in 2007 and
has been working for China Resources Gas Group Limited since 2017.

Mr. GAO Jian, aged 45, was appointed as the Secretary of
Disciplinary Committee (4ZZ52) of China Resources Gas Group
Limited in July 2024, responsible for the discipline inspection and
legal compliance. Mr. GAO Jian holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in
Management from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics
(FEFIE 4K 2) and holds certificates of accountant. He joined China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (ZB (£E) AR 27, a
member of China Resources Group) in 2012 and has been working for
China Resources Gas Group Limited since 2024.

Mr. HAN Wenchen, aged 52, was appointed as a Vice President
of China Resources Gas Group Limited in March 2022, responsible
for operational management, intelligence and digitisation, and
technological innovation. Mr. HAN Wenchen holds a Master's Degree
in economics from Dongbei University of Finance & Economics, and
holds certificates of accountant and certified public accountant. He
joined Shenzhen China Resources Petrochemical Investment and
Development Co., Ltd. (RYITEBA(IEEEREBRAF, a member
of China Resources Group) in 2001 and has been working for China
Resources Gas Limited (ZEM A AR A F]) since 2007.
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Mr. JIANG Hougui, aged 54, was appointed as a Vice President
of China Resources Gas Group Limited in March 2022, responsible
for the strategic investments. Mr. JIANG Hougui holds a bachelor’s
degree in engineering from Jiangsu Institute of Technology (JL# L
Eft) and holds a certificate of engineer. He joined Shenzhen China
Resources Petrochemical Investment and Development Co., Ltd. (&3]
MEBHALZEZREAR AR, a member of China Resources Group) in
2006 and has been working for China Resources Gas Group Limited
since 2007.

Mr. LU Bing, aged 48, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas Group Limited in September 2024, responsible for
marketing and gas source management. Mr. LU Bing holds a Master’s
Degree in Business Administration from Huazhong University of
Science and Technology (ZEFREHEEAE) and holds a certificate of
senior engineer. He joined Zhengzhou Gas Company Limited (5%
FM B AT, a member of China Resources Group) in 2009 and
has been working for China Resources Gas Group Limited since 2021.

Mr. GONG Zhirong, aged 47, was appointed as a Vice President of
China Resources Gas Group Limited in December 2024, responsible
for the safety management. Mr. GONG Zhirong holds a Bachelor's
Degree in Engineering from China University of Petroleum (Huadong)
(PEIAMAE (FR)) and a certificate of engineer. He joined Nanyang
Zhengran Gas Co., Ltd. (FBERKRBRARE, a member of China
Resources Group) in 2009 and has been working for China Resources
Gas Group Limited since 2013.
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The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to its shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code”) set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (‘Listing Rules”) as its own
corporate governance code. In line with the Code, the Company
adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook (the “Handbook”)
on 23rd December, 2005 and subsequently updated it from time
to time. The contents of the Handbook include, among others,
directors’ duties, model code for directors’ transactions in securities,
model code for securities transactions by relevant employees, the
functions and terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management,
Remuneration, Nomination and Environmental, Social and Governance
Committees of the Company (each “Audit and Risk Management
Committee”, “Remuneration Committee”, “Nomination Committee” and
“Environmental, Social and Governance Committee (“ESG Committee”,
formerly known as “Corporate Governance Committee”)”), disclosure
of information, communication with shareholders, procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as a director and
Board diversity policy. All the applicable provisions under the Code
have been adopted and reflected in the Handbook. The Company
has throughout the year complied with all applicable code provisions
except for the deviation from the code provision C.3.3 and temporary
deviation from code provision C.2.1 which are explained as follows:

Under the code provision C.3.3, the Company should have formal
letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and
conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have formal
letters of appointment for Directors. However, the Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance
with the Company’s Bye-Laws. In addition, the Directors are required
to refer to the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties”
issued by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors”
and “Guide for Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable)
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing their
duties and responsibilities as Directors. Besides, the Directors are
required to comply with the requirements under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.
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Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman of the Board
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. On 16th August, 2024, Mr. YANG Ping was
re-designated from the position of the Chief Executive Officer to the
chairman of the Board, the position of the Chief Executive Officer has
become vacant. The Company was deviated from the requirement
of code provision C.2.1 temporarily. On 17th December, 2024, Ms.
QIN Yan was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer. Following
such appointment of Ms. QIN, the Company has complied with Code
provision C.2.1.

Save as mentioned above and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has met the code provisions set out in the Code throughout
the year.

PURPOSE, VALUES, STRATEGY AND CULTURE

The core purpose of the Company is to create value for its
shareholders. It strives to become a world-class energy service
enterprise that is trusted and beloved by the public. Aiming to
satisfy customers’ needs and its social responsibilities, the Company
supports people’s livelihood, strengthens supply, emphasises safety,
and enhances services, fostering and contributing to the joint efforts
to create a better life. To not only lead in terms of size and profit, but
also become first-class in all aspects including strategy, organisation,
operation, innovation, and digital intelligence, all of us at CR Gas
must make persevering efforts. Customer-centric, the Company serves
a variety of energy needs and provides one-stop solutions to help
customers achieve the dual-reduction goal of reducing energy costs
and reducing carbon emissions.

The Company adheres to the corporate mission and value strategy
of promoting green development and creating a better life. With
shareholders and employees, it innovates development models,
achieves excellent results, realizes co-construction and sharing,
and continuously enhances the sense of gain; with customers and
partners, it upgrades products and services, taps the industry value,
achieves symbiosis and integration, and continuously improves the
sense of happiness; with society and the environment, it adheres
to a low-carbon cycle, promotes stability and harmony, achieves
co-management and co-governance, and continuously enhances
the sense of security. In this connection, it endeavours to maintain
accountability to its employees, consumers, shareholders, the society,
and the environment. These purpose and values shape the Company’s
strategy, which are geared towards becoming a world-class energy
service enterprise trusted and beloved by the public whereby
sustainable values for shareholders are created.
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The Company’s purpose, values and strategy form the foundations of
the Company’s corporate culture. Its corporate culture is centered on
adherence to high ethical standards and practices, and striving for
sustainable development.

THE BOARD

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of three
Executive Directors, five Non-executive Directors and four
Independent Non-executive Directors, one of whom namely Mr. YU
Hon To, David has the appropriate professional accounting experience
and expertise as required under the Listing Rules. The names and
biographical details of each Director are disclosed on pages 29 to 39
of this annual report.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has, pursuant to the
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed that
he is independent of the Company and the Company also considers
that they are independent. The term of office of each Non-executive
Director, including Independent Non-executive Director, is for a
period of three years subject to the requirement that one-third of all
the Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general
meeting pursuant to the Bye-Laws of the Company. The relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship), if any, among members of the Board are disclosed in
this annual report. There is no such relationship between the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. LI Weiwei, Mr. ZHANG Junzheng, Ms. QIN Yan and Mr. FANG Xin,
being Directors of the Company appointed in 2024 and as at the date
of this annual report, obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules on 31st October, 2024, 26th November,
2024, 16th December, 2024 and 27th December, 2024 respectively,
and each of them has confirmed he/she understood his/her obligations
as a Director of the Company.

FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and
the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the
strategy of the Group, yearly budget, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and removal
of Directors and senior management, remuneration policy and other
major operational, financial, risk management and internal control
matters. Day-to-day operations of the Group are the responsibility of
the Company’s management.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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In 2024, the Board passed three written resolutions by all members
of the Board dated 24th January, 2024, 11th June, 2024 and 25th
December, 2024, to review and approve eight management proposals.

The Board held eight meetings during 2024. Details of individual

HYSESNEREREER attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:
TESRE CRSRE CRSRE SRSRE e cgoms cgome Sgoms
A& ZB=tNB  EETEAR NAtxE NB=tA tARE  tAZtZR t-BZtAB  tZAttA
29th 17th
28th March, 14th May,  16th August, ~ 30th August, ~ 9th October, 22nd October, ~ November, ~ December,
Date 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024
#rEs Executive Directors
BERE Mr. YANG Ping | | i | | | i |
RELL(W=ZZMF  Ms. QIN Yan (Appointed on N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A |
TZATLBEER) 17th December, 2024)
Pg5E Mr. LI Xiaoshuang | 0 | | | 0 | |
FUTES Non-executive Directors
TEREL(M=F-ME  Mr. WANG Chuandong (Retired on | 0 | N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
NATRBEE) 16th August, 2024)
Truks Mr. WANG Gaogiang | | | | | | | |
Y44 (RoFoRE Mr. LIU Jian (Retired on | | | | | | | 0
—AZ+-BEf) 21st January, 2025)
E%at Ms. GE Lu | | | | | i | |
FEEEE(RZTZEE  Mr. LI Weiwei (Appointed on N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A | |
T-Az Jrnaiééf 29th November, 2024)
FERAL(R-Z-ME  Mr. ZHANG Junzheng NJA NJA NJA N/A N/A NJA | /
T-AZTNREZH) (Appointed on
29th November, 2024)
BOFEE(R=ZZRF  Mr. FANG Xin (Appointed on N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
—RZt-REEf) 215t January, 2025)
BUkuTES Independent Non-
executive Directors
B Mr. WONG Tak Shing | | | | 0 | | i
EREE Mr. YU Hon To, David | | | | 0 | | |
BEks Mr. YANG Yuchuan | | | | | | | V
TERRE Mr. LI Pok Yan | | | | 0 | 0 |
B (TFERR TXER) Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below)
V= HE \/ = attended
O = & O = didn't attend
N/A = TiE A N/A = not applicable

(FRRFERAERLS —S_NEER)
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The Company held one general meeting during 2024. Details of
individual attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—EmEF
=t EA=-+WA
Date 24th May, 2024
HITES Executive Directors
HBEEE Mr. YANG Ping N
Rzt (RZT-NE+=-RA+ERAEZE) Ms. QIN Yan (Appointed on 17th December, 2024) N/A
RNEFRAE Mr. LI Xiaoshuang v
FHITES Non-executive Directors
TERAEE (RZE-MFENATRBRE) Mr. WANG Chuandong (Retired on 16th August, 2024) V
FTa@EE Mr. WANG Gaogiang N
FREE (RZE-_AF—A=+—HREMN) Mr. LIU Jian (Retired on 21st January, 2025) V
BRrt Ms. GE Lu N
Tt (N_ZE-_WF+—A-+HLAEZT) Mr. LI Weiwei (Appointed on 29th November, 2024) N/A
KRB A Mr. ZHANG Junzheng (Appointed on 29th November, 2024) N/A
(RZZEZWF+—AZ+hBEZE)
Bt (RZE-_RAF—A=-+—BHEZM) Mr. FANG Xin (Appointed on 21st January, 2025) N/A
BIYFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
=HEBELE Mr. WONG Tak Shing v
AEE L Mr. YU Hon To, David N
BEEE Mr. YANG Yuchuan N
FHBRE Mr. LI Pok Yan 0
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In 2024, the chairman has held a meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on 23rd
August, 2013 and updated the Policy on 26th December, 2022. A
summary of this Policy, together with the measurable objectives set for
implementing this Policy, and the progress made towards achieving
those objectives are disclosed as below.

Summary of the Policy

The Company sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other qualities of the members
of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining
the optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be
balanced appropriately. All Board appointments are made on merit, in
the content of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires
to be effective.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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Measurable Objectives

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually all
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the
Board may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity
and measure progress accordingly. For the year under review, no
measurable objective was set by the Nomination Committee.

As at the end of 2024, the Company has 57,522 employees in total
comprising of approximately 19,190 females and 38,332 males
(a female-to-male ratio of 33.4:66.6), reflecting a gender equality
principle generally adhered to by the Company. The Company is
mindful of the objectives as set out in the diversity policy when
assessing the candidacy of the employees, and will ensure that the
Company shall continue to follow the policy.

The Board will annually review the implementation and effectiveness
of the Board diversity policy. The Board considers that the policy is
effective to achieve diversity at the Board.

Implementation

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarised as follows:

Lzl Female
Gender 2 2

EdiA
Ethnicity

Fie#aR

Age Group 40-49 )

PR 7% HA

Year of Service

EEIN 4

50-59 (5) 60-69 (3)

0-5 (10)

Number of 1 2 3
Directors

(zmpaersras —z-nEEH) D
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each
newly appointed Director would receive the guides covering the

LE R statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company.

The relevant updates on the latest developments regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements are also

provided to the Directors in order to ensure compliance and raise their
concerns on good corporate governance.

EENFALENKESEERBERLAT ¢ Participation of Directors in continuous professional development
during the year is as follows:
BEEEI - HE
Mg 23Kk /N HESHEEEM
wiE RHHEE - REEERAFTHH
2K BWERE EBHNER
Reading
Receiving training; regulatory
attending and/or updates or
giving talks at information
seminars, relevant to
conference the Company or
and/or forums its business
HITES Executive Directors
BFEE Mr. YANG Ping v v
FMZ+ (R -MF Ms. QIN Yan (Appointed on v V
+ZA+EHREZT) 17th December, 2024)
RNEE g Mr. LI Xiaoshuang N Ni
FHITES Non-executive Directors
FEREE (RZTZWF Mr. WANG Chuandong (Retired on v v
ANA+RBRME) 16th August, 2024)
FREEE Mr. WANG Gaogiang N v
BB EE (RN _hHF Mr. LIU Jian (Retired on \ N
—AZ+—HRME) 21st January, 2025)
BRzt Ms. GE Lu N v
THRELE(RZTZNF Mr. LI Weiwei (Appointed on v V
+—RAZThBEZT) 29th November, 2024)
REBSEE (R -WEF Mr. ZHANG Junzheng (Appointed on \ v
+T—AZThBEEE) 29th November, 2024)
EWELE (RZT_AF Mr. FANG Xin (Appointed on N N
—AZ+—BHEZHF) 21st January, 2025)
BIUFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
EEBLE Mr. WONG Tak Shing N V
EE LA Mr. YU Hon To, David N Ni
BEINEE Mr. YANG Yuchuan N Ni
FEBELEAE Mr. LI Pok Yan Ni v

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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The Board has adopted effective mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. Subject to approval of
the Chairman of the Board, Directors may seek, at the Company's
expense, independent legal, financial or other professional advices
from advisors independent from those advising the Company as and
when necessary in appropriate circumstances to enable them to
discharge their responsibilities effectively. The Board will review the
implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms on an annual
basis.

The Board considers that the above mechanisms are effective in
ensuring that independent views and input are provided to the Board.

CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board is
Mr. YANG Ping while Ms. QIN Yan is the Chief Executive Officer. The
Chairman provides leadership to the Board and formulate, together
with the Board, the business strategies and long-term objectives of the
Company whilst the Chief Executive Officer carries out the decisions
made by the Board and is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day
management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise,
as at the date of this annual report, there are four committees namely,
the Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration, Nomination and ESG
Committees under the Board, with each performing different functions.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman), Mr. WONG Tak Shing
and Mr. YANG Yuchuan and two Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. WANG Gaogiang and Mr. FANG Xin. The Committee’s role is to
provide an independent and objective review of the effectiveness of
the financial reporting process, internal control, risk management as
well as internal audit function of the Group. Its functions broadly fall
into the following three main areas:

o make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor
and any matters related to the resignation or dismissal of external
auditor;

o review the financial statements of the Company’s annual and
half-year reports and accounts;

(FRRFERAERLS —S_NEER)
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° oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, internal
controls and risk management systems.

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
have been uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

During 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit and
Risk Management Committee has reviewed the financial statements
and annual results announcement for 2023, and those for the
half-yearly results and annual results for 2024. These include the
review of the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices;
the review of the continuing connected transactions of the Company
conducted in 2023 and 2024; and the review of the internal audit
reports prepared by the Company’s Audit Division.

In 2024, the Audit and Risk Management Committee passed one
written resolution by all its members dated 19th January, 2024 to
review and approve one management proposal.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee held three meetings
during 2024. Details of individual attendance of its respective
members are set out in the table below:

£ 4 KB
Chairman Members
IREELE Bl &L B EE
(R=E2-mE (R=E2-2f (R-B-1f
t—A=thB —-B=+-H —-R=+-H
MEEXE EZ{E) EZE) RfE) EBBXE BIlgs
Mr. WANG
Gaogiang  Mr. FANG Xin Mr. LIU Jian
Mr. YU  (Appointed on  (Appointed on (Retired on
Hon To, 29th November,  21st January, 21st January, Mr. WONG Mr. YANG
=R Date David 2024) 2025) 2025) Tak Shing Yuchuan
—“ET-mE=R=+H 20th March, 2024 N N/A N/A N N 0
ZZZMENAZTH 20th August, 2024 N N/A N/A N N N
“ZT-MF+-FA+H  16th December, 2024 y V N/A y y y
FHEES Remuneration Committee

FNZEENIERERABEEMBRTNESNR
BARER A EHF IR ENEE - BFET
IRNTEALET S - BT S R A R 8 RD AT
2 URRBEERSREBAENIEASE
NEFreH#HE -

The role and main function of the Remuneration Committee is to
determine and review the compensation and benefit policy of Directors
and senior management, including but not limited to bonus plan,
Incentive Award Scheme and other long term incentive plan, as well
as bonus allocation and salary adjustment of each Director and senior
management.

D ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr.
WONG Tak Shing (Chairman), Mr. YU Hon To, David and Mr. LI Pok
Yan, and one Non-executive Director Mr. ZHANG Junzheng.

During 2024, the Remuneration Committee held four meetings
to review and determine related bonus and compensation of the
Executive Directors and senior management. Details of individual
attendance of its respective members are set out in the table below:

E j29-1
Chairman Members

REBLLE

(R=Z=-mF
BEBBEE T-A-ThBEZE) MEELE FHRAE

Mr. ZHANG Junzheng
Mr. WONG (Appointed on Mr. YU Mr. LI
= Date Tak Shing  29th November, 2024) Hon To, David Pok Yan
—E-MENATAA 16th August, 2024 v N/A Vv v

“Z-ME+—A-+AH  29th November, 2024 N N/A N 0
—ZoMFE+=A++tA 17th December, 2024 N N N N
“ECNE+=A=1H 30th December, 2024 N N N N

RBEZTE-NF+_A=1+—HBLLFE "
BREREABRBEE D ZFMESWT

For the year ended 31st December, 2024, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band is set out below:

A

FrfeEE (B n) Number of persons

07T % 1,000,000 7T

1,000,001/ 7C% 1,500,0007% 7T
1,500,00178 7L & 2,000,000 7T
2,000,001 % 2,500,000/ 7T
2,500,001 % 7T% 3,000,000 7T
3,000,001# 7T 3,500,000 7T
3,500,001 7T £ 4,000,000/ 7T
4,000,001#7T% 4,500,000/ 7T
4,500,001 7L % 5,000,000/ 7T

Remuneration band (HKD)

HKDO to HKD 1,000,000 2
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 -
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 -
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2
HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000 2
HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000 2
HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000 -
HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000 -
HKD4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000 -

FHEEHE R ERARSHFALTZESF
B B ETRAMED2ZHRE T IAK
B WHENR A WA -

Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the
five highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant
to Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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REZEE Nomination Committee

RELZEENTEBRRARIERFSRER The role and main function of the Nomination Committee is to review
A WHHRERRAATHEEEAE the structure and composition of the Board, to make recommendation
EREHBEER - HIERBERFESRAY to the Board on the selection of individual nominated for directorships,
FUWEERERMNERGIRNEBITER 2 to formulate and maintain a director nomination policy and propose
LEBFERN - REFEZTIBENERE amendments thereto to the Board when necessary, to review the
MM HRESSKE ML T LB KB R effectiveness of the implementation of the Board diversity policy at
MESERMHES - least annually, and to make recommendations to the Board on the

policy and objectives of gender diversity of Board members.

REZEEHROESE LHEWMAEA The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been
NSIFERAD uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

RAFRAH  REZEGHBWTES As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
BELEE(ER) —RIERTESTERL comprises of one Executive Director namely Mr. YANG Ping (Chairman),
TUAR=2EIIENITESEBELE & one Non-executive Director namely Ms. GE Lu and three Independent
EE ARG ENFEARK - Non-executive Directors namely Mr. WONG Tak Shing, Mr. YU Hon To,

David and Mr. YANG Yuchuan.

BEREANGEREAELAEH QAN The selection criteria for Directors is that the candidate(s) must have
MHEXR CEEBRIEBNTERES substantial experience in business relevant to the Company or in
BREE - RVBEBRENMAEBREKAA T corporate management, or in relevant profession and must be able to
B - RYBEEAEBUZENAESE contribute effectively to the objectives of the Company. In identifying
B REZEEHREHEHFERAE I suitable candidates for appointment to the Board, the Nomination
HERIESENE ST - EE Committee will consider candidates on merit against objective criteria
BEEgRENREEHEAE  THIEEES and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Any
ERmLkENR EREZEERERAGHE committee member may propose suitable candidates for directorship
% BOEZIBRE - BEBEAQRMARM for discussion and approval by the Nomination Committee, after which
A BENESFEANT ERRRGHT— the Board will consider and, if proper, approve such nomination.
[ERRFAF RS (WEA) AR ERE - Directors thus selected is subject to re-election by shareholders of the

Company in the next general meeting or next annual general meeting,
as appropriate, according to the Bye-Laws of the Company.

RELZEER T -NFRTMNREHE T During 2024, the Nomination Committee held four meetings. Details
REVIEKEMERLFEIER of individual attendance of its respective members are set out in the
table below:
Ed:3 RE
Chairman Members

BREE BRxt

IfEREE  (R-BomE (R-B-@E

(R=B=m%F NBtRB T-A=thH
NATARER) Ezft) Ezf) EGBLE MEELE BEgE

Mr. WANG  Mr. YANG Ping Ms. GE Lu

Chuandong  (Appointed on  (Appointed on
(Retired on  16th August, 29th November, Mr. WONG  Mr. YU Hon To, Mr. YANG
RE Date 16th August, 2024) 2024) 2024) Tak Shing David Yuchuan
ZECMFZAZTNA 28th March, 2024 | N/A N/A y J |
“ZCEENRTAA 16th August, 2024 | N/A N/A | | |
ZEIWEF-AZFTRAE  29th November, 2024 N/A | N/A | | |
ZE-MEFZATHE 17th December, 2024 N/A | | J i |

7)) ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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Nomination Policy

Nomination policy aims to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend
candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by giving due consideration
to criteria including but not limited to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(a) Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest;

(c) Accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in
which the Company’s business is involved and other professional
qualifications;

(d) Reputation for integrity;

(e) Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring to the
Board;

(f)  Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The above Criteria are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion
to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving due
consideration to the criteria including but not limited to:

(a) The overall contribution and service of the retiring Director(s)
to the Company, including but not limited to the attendance
of the meetings of the Board and/or its committees and
general meetings where applicable, in addition to the level
of participation and performance on the Board and/or its
committees;

(b) Whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to satisfy the Criteria.
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The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend candidate(s)
for the position(s) of the independent non-executive directors of the
Company by giving due consideration to the factors including but
not limited to those set out in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made from time to time,
in addition to the Criteria. Where any Independent Non-executive
Director has been in office for more than nine years, the Nomination
Committee shall consider the reason why such Director is still an
independent person and should be re-elected.

Procedures and Process for Nomination of Directors

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director in accordance with the following procedures
and process:

(a) The Nomination Committee may consult any source it deems
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates,
such as referrals from existing Directors, advertising,
recommendations from third-party agency firm and proposals
from shareholders of the Company with due consideration given
to the Criteria;

(b) The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such
as interviews, background checks, presentations and third party
reference checks;

(c) The proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information and biography for the Nomination
Committee’s consideration. The Nomination Committee may
request the candidate(s) to provide additional information and
documents, if considered necessary;

(d) Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of
written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation
to the Board for appointment;

(e) The Nomination Committee will provide the relevant information
of the selected candidate to the Remuneration Committee
for consideration of remuneration package of such selected
candidate;
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(f) The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment, and where a non-executive Director is considered,
the Remuneration Committee will make the recommendation to
the Board on the proposed remuneration package;

(g) The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board who are not members
of the Nomination Committee and the Board will thereafter
deliberate and decide the appointment as the case may be;

(h)  All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the
prescribed form with the Companies Registry of Hong Kong and
updating (and, if necessary, filing) of the Register of Directors of
the Company.

Environmental, Social and Governance Committee

On 28th March, 2025, the Corporate Governance Committee was
renamed as the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee (the
“ESG Committee”), and meanwhile its duties and responsibilities were
adjusted. The role and main function of the ESG Committee is to assist
the Board in providing guidance on and formulating the vision, goals,
strategies and framework of the Company in relation to environmental,
social and governance, and ensuring that they are in line with the
needs of the Company and comply with applicable laws, regulations,
regulatory requirements, and international standards; monitoring the
development and implementation of the Company’s environmental,
social and governance vision, strategies and framework; considering,
approving and authorizing the publication of the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report of CR Gas, the prioritization of material issues
and the disclosure of relevant information, and to make relevant
recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the ESG Committee have been uploaded to
the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the ESG Committee comprises
of one Executive Director namely Mr. YANG Ping (Chairman), one
Non-executive Director namely Mr. LI Weiwei, and three Independent
Non-executive Directors namely Mr. WONG Tak Shing, Mr. YANG
Yuchuan and Mr. LI Pok Yan.
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The ESG Committee held one meeting on 28th March, 2024, details
of individual attendance of its respective members are set out in the
table below:

Ed: HE
Chairman Members

TRALE FHEREE
(R=B=m&F+-A (R=B=m&E+-A
BEYEE ZthBEER) EBBAE BEl%E ZtNBEZER)
Mr. LI Weiwei Mr. LI Pok Yan
Mr. YANG (Appointed on Mr. WONG Mr. YANG (Appointed on
A Date Ping 29th November, 2024) Tak Shing Yuchuan 29th November, 2024)
ZZME=RAZF/\B  28th March, 2024 Y N/A y y N/A
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining an effective risk
management and internal control system to provide reasonable, though
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives. The above risks include, but are not limited to, material risks
related to ESG.

The Board, through the Audit and Risk Management Committee,
conducts annual review of the effectiveness of the Company’s systems
of risk management and internal control covering all material controls,
including financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee considers the major
investigation findings on risk management and internal control matter
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s
response to these findings.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee also considers the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the
Company’s accounting, financial reporting and internal audit functions
as well as those relating to the Company's ESG performance and
reporting, and their training programmes and budget. With respect
to procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination
of inside information, the Company has set out written policies and
procedures in relation to the handling of inside information, including
but not limited to measures to ensure compliance of disclosure
requirement.
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The Internal Audit Division assists the Audit and Risk Management
Committee to review the effectiveness of such risk management and
internal control system in operation. The Division regularly carries out
internal audit and other related audit reviews and reports its findings
and suggestions for improvement on better internal controls to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for their consideration. During
the year, the Internal Audit Division also conducted reviews of key risk
management system of the Company. Its findings were reported to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for consideration and would
form the basis for further improvement in the future. Inspections and
risk assessments were carried out in key risk areas such as operation
environment (concession rights availability and their protection,
pipeline infrastructure bottlenecks, strategy execution hurdles, etc);
financial management (cash custody and management, payment
approval process, receivables management, accounting policy
adherence, etc); safety management (pipeline infrastructure inspection
and maintenance process, safety system and related safety incident
reporting structure, etc); engineering and construction management
(tender process reviews, project management procedures and
practice); key materials procurement (vendor and materials
qualification process, tendering and quality control processes, etc).

In addition, Internal Audit Division also closely follows up on corrective
actions by all business units or their self-inspections of key risk areas.

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption and anti-bribery
policy to govern acceptance of advantages by employees and a
whistleblowing policy to provide guidance to employees and external
stakeholders to report concerns about any suspected or actual
improprieties relating to the Group.

Based on the results of the annual review, the Board is satisfied with
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control system
currently put in place for the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct in relation to Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The statement by the Auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 83
to 91.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company appointed KPMG as independent auditor during the
year. For the year ended 31st December, 2024, details of the fees
paid or payable to KPMG, in respect of audit and non-audit services
are set out in the table below:

—EWE
2024
FHET
RIS R Type of Services HK$’ 000
— BEr — Audit 14,221
— R EIER — Interim review 1,315
— FHERER S NEERE — Assurance service on continuing connected
transactions 329
—2FEBENEZATRER — Agreed upon procedures on annual results
announcement 110
— H b IERETARTE — Other non-audit services 350
16,325

DNEME

RARB 2 REMERBEEL L - Bt
AREBEETEBHIECERBEE (&
B)ERARMBILE - BESPLIAIAR
RANEZREES  FREESERT AR
MARRESNAERERFERESS
RHUER - ARREB AL H T BREA
RATEEREARMBERNELRE - B
LT HRBER T _NEMSHEEHME
15/ N B B R RIE -

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. CHENG Kwai Yuk.
Ms. CHENG currently serves as the Assistant Vice President of
SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited under China
Resources Group. Although Ms. CHENG is not a full time employee of
the Company, she reports to the Board and in capacity as company
secretary advises the Board on governance matters. The primary
contact person of the Company with Ms. CHENG is Mr. LI Xiaoshuang,
the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer. Ms. CHENG
confirmed that she had fulfilled the 15 hours of continuing professional
development training required in respect of 2024.

BEED) ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene special general meeting

In accordance with the Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”), the shareholders of the Company holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
such of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to convene
a special general meeting of the Company. If the directors do not
within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists representing
more than one half of the total voting rights may themselves convene
a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be lodged
at the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at Room 1901-02,
China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a general
meeting

Pursuant to the Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either
any number of the registered shareholders holding not less than
one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”),
or not less than 100 of such registered shareholders, can request
the Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and
(b) circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered Office
with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant
expenses, not less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a
requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week
before the meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided that if
an AGM is called for a date six weeks or less after the requisition has
been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the time
required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

(zmprersran —2-mE%8%) @GN
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director

Pursuant to bye-law 113 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect, or
authorize the Directors to elect or appoint, any person to be a Director
either to fill a vacancy or to act as an additional Director up to the
maximum number of Directors determined by the members in general
meeting.

Pursuant to bye-law 115 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director
at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to
propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by
that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been given to
the Company provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such notices are given, shall be at least seven days. The period
for lodgment of such notices will commence no earlier than the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting.

The detailed procedures regarding the election of directors are
published on the Company’s website under Corporate Governance
section.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31st December, 2024, there were no changes
in the Company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws. The
latest version of the Memorandum of Association and New Bye-Laws
of the Company is available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Investor Relations

The Board has adopted a Shareholder's Communication Policy on
30th December, 2022 which sets out the Group’s commitment of
maintaining an effective ongoing dialogue with shareholders. In
summary, the Company establishes different communication channels
with shareholders and stakeholders including: (i) provision of printed
copies of corporate communications; (ii) provision of timely corporate
information on the company website; (iii) holding of annual general
meetings to provide platform for shareholders to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board; and (iv) arrangement in serving the
shareholders in respect of all share registration matters. The Board,
through the ESG Committee, reviewed the validity of implementation of
the Shareholder’s Communication Policy during the year and considered
that it remained effective in enhancing timely, transparent, accurate and
open communication between the Company and the shareholders.

JTD) ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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The Company has always recognised the importance of investor
relations activities, as it believes that effective communication with
shareholders and investors is very important to help investors to gain a
better understanding about the Company’s business performance and
strategies.

In 2024, we hosted different types of activities through which
shareholders and investors have increased their understanding about
the Company. During the year, the Company met with more than 1,500
fund managers and analysts by means of investor seminars, advisory
meetings and telephone conferences to introduce the Company’s
operating results, development strategies and business updates.

The Company welcomes any suggestions and participation of
shareholders and investors. Any enquiries and suggestions may
be made by letter, telephone, fax or email to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company according to the contact information set
out below:

China Resources Gas Group Limited
Room 1901-02, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

E-mail: crgas_IR@crcgas.com

Tel: 852-2593-8200
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in note 46 and
note 47 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion
on the Group’s business prospects, the Group’s compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on
the Group, the relationships of the Group with its key stakeholders
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 2 to 11, Report
from the Chief Executive Officer on pages 12 to 21, Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 25 to 28, Corporate Governance
Report on pages 42 to 61 and Directors’ Report on pages 62 to 82
of this annual report. Description of key risk factors and uncertainties
that the Group is facing is provided in the Chairman’s Statement,
Report from the Chief Executive Officer and note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements while the financial risk management objectives
and policies of the Group are provided in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s performance during
the year using financial key performance indicators is provided in
Financial and Operational Highlights on pages 22 to 24 of this annual
report. The Group’s environmental policies and performance and
future prospects of the Group’s business are provided in the Report
from the Chief Executive Officer on pages 12 to 21 and the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 2 to 11 of this annual report respectively.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 92 to 93.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 96 to 98 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders at
31st December, 2024, amounted to HK$40,940,566,000.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of the 2024
Final Dividend of 70 HK cents per share. Together with the interim
dividend of 25 HK cents per share paid, total distribution for 2024
would thus be 95 HK cents per share (2023: 115.69 HK cents per
share).

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the 2024 Final Dividend will be payable on Friday,
18th July, 2025 to shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on Wednesday, 4th June, 2025.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In proposing any dividend payment, the Board shall also take into
account the following criteria, including:

° the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

o shareholders’ interests;

° general business conditions and strategies;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company

and each of the other members of the Group;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and financial covenants to which the Group is subject;

° any contractual restrictions on payment of dividends by the
Company to its shareholders or by the Company’s subsidiaries
to the Company;

(zmpeersran —2-mE55%) @EHR
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° the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

° liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;

° taxation considerations;

° possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions;

o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s

business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company; and

° other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board may from time to time pay to the shareholders such
interim dividends subject to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended from time to time) and the Bye-Laws of the Company.

Except in the case of interim dividend, any dividends declared by the
Company must be approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders
at an annual general meeting and must not exceed the amount
recommended by the Board.

Dividends may be distributed in the form of cash or shares subject to
and in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 (as amended from
time to time) of Bermuda and the Bye-Laws of the Company.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
23rd May, 2025 to Wednesday, 28th May, 2025, both days inclusive. In
order to determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend
and vote at the annual general meeting to be held on Wednesday,
28th May, 2025, completed transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Secretaries
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 22nd May, 2025.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company after the
close of business at 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 4th June, 2025 and the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 3rd
June, 2025 to Wednesday, 4th June, 2025, both days inclusive, during
which no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In
order to be entitled to the proposed final dividend, completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer
office, Tricor Secretaries Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 2nd
June, 2025.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at the end of the year, the authorised share capital of the Company
was HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10
each, of which 2,314,012,871 shares had been issued and fully paid,
and the reserves of the Group was HK$40,940,566,000. Details of the
movements in the issued share capital of the Company are set out
in the section of Management Discussion and Analysis in this annual
report and note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

During 2024, the Company continued to make new acquisitions and
invested or paid HK$0.22 billion in 11 city gas projects. Most of these
projects are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group.
As at 31st December, 2024, CR Gas portfolio included 276 city gas
projects and its footprint covered 25 Chinese provinces and included
15 provincial capitals and 76 prefecture level cities.

(zmpeersran —2-mE58%) @EHN
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GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available,
the Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation
for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis
continues to be adopted in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31st
December, 2024 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial periods is
set out on page 249 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in note
14 and note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movements in the goodwill and other intangible assets
of the Group during the year are set out in note 20 and note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2024, the aggregate turnover
attributable to the five largest customers accounted for less than 10%
of the Group’s total turnover.

For the year ended 31st December, 2024, the aggregate procurement
volume attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for around 20.15% of the Group’s total procurement
volume, of which that attributable to the largest supplier around 5.08%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital has any interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers or suppliers.

BT ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in various
forms of goods in the total amount of approximately HK$3,104,000
(2023: HK$3,695,000).

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Ping
Ms. QIN Yan (Appointed on 17th December, 2024)
Mr. LI Xiaoshuang

Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Retired on 16th August, 2024)
Mr. WANG Gaogiang

Mr. LIU Jian (Retired on 21st January, 2025)

Ms. GE Lu

Mr. LI Weiwei (Appointed on 29th November, 2024)

Mr. ZHANG Junzheng (Appointed on 29th November, 2024)

Mr. FANG Xin (Appointed on 21st January, 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. YU Hon To, David
Mr. YANG Yuchuan
Mr. LI Pok Yan

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each
Independent Non-executive Director with each confirming his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company still considers such Directors are independent of the
Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 101 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, Ms. QIN
Yan, Mr. LI Weiwei, Mr. ZHANG Junzheng and Mr. FANG Xin shall
retire from office at the Annual General Meeting, and they are eligible
and offer themselves for re-election.

(emprereRsn —s-nFen) QXN
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Pursuant to bye-law 110(A) of the Bye-Laws of the Company, Mr.
LI Xiaoshuang, Mr. WANG Gaogiang, Mr. WONG Tak Shing and
Mr. YANG Yuchuan shall retire from office by rotation at the Annual
General Meeting, and they are eligible and offer themselves for re-
election.

None of Directors, including Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director, including
Independent Non-executive Director, is for a period of three years
subject to requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the
Bye-Laws of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to which the Company or its subsidiary or its holding company or its
fellow subsidiary was a party subsisting during or at the end of the
financial year in which a Director of the Company or his/her connected
entity is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration payable to each Director is based on his relevant
qualifications, experience and expertise, his duties and responsibilities
and performance of the Group. The current market situation will also
be taken into account. Bonus and incentive awards may be granted
to individual Directors in recognition of their contribution to the Group.
All the aforesaid form the remuneration policy and long term incentive
for Directors of the Company.

The remuneration and benefits package of the executive Directors
shall include remuneration, bonuses, performance related incentive
payments, and retirement benefit schemes contributions, as well as
the Company’s share repurchase cash award scheme and other long-
term incentive schemes; non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors shall be entitled to director’s fees for services
rendered by them as Directors of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31st December, 2024, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQ”")) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are deemed
or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

(a) Interests in issued ordinary shares of the Company

FRrob R

wEES

HREEKRE BB EE Aggregate

EEHR Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest’

EHSB A 5=} 120,000 0.0052%
Mr. WONG Tak Shing? Long position

BRELE(RZE_RF—AZ+—HRE)S A 30,000 0.0013%
Mr. LIU Jian (Retired on 21st January, 2025)3 Long position

BsE Notes:
1. ARZZ-_NF+—A=+—HFH 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in

AR L BR KB N T A AR
EARA2HEHTRONBEDLL -

2. LXHRBHMARAREAERINE
BEBAFNEA °

3. N30,000kBMEF - BIRKER
RAMAERE 210,000 &%
WS o

ordinary shares and underlying shares of the Company to the total
issued shares of the Company as at 31st December 2024.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

3. Among 30,000 shares, Mr. Liu Jian was deemed to be interested in
10,000 shares through interests of his spouse.

(zmpeersran —2-m2%8%) @GR




EEEWRS

Directors’ Report

(b) RAELFAEBZIEERBRZRAR
AR (EHER) ECRITEERERM
R R

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited (“CR

Medical”), an associated corporation of the Company

Frik ez

wEES

HRIXE R EE Aggregate

EENA Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Directors position shares of interest’

BELE HE 80,000 0.0062%
Mr. YANG Ping Long position

BRA+ e 66,000 0.0051%
Ms. GE Lu Long position

B E - Notes:
1. WARZE-NE+-A=+—Bfk 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in

EHERT BB TR ARG
EHERZMCETRONBEILL

2. EXFAEEMNMERSRMEENE
HsHEAHNEE -

(c) RAAFMEBEEEREE (ZER)E
AR (TEHEE]) CRITEBERR
HERD R

ordinary shares and underlying shares of CR Medical to the total
issued shares of CR Medical as at 31st December, 2024.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his/

her capacity as beneficial owner.

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (“CR

Beer”), an associated corporation of the Company

Frik ez

wEES

HRRKRR BRBEE Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of percentage of

Name of Director position shares interest’

Bt HaE 2,000 0.000062%
Ms. GE Lu? Long position

BEE Notes:
1. WARZZ-_NF+-A=+—HFR 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in

FERSELBRIAMRNIFRLE
BEEHEE2RERTRONE D
L o

2. EXAEEMNMERSEMEENE
BEBAFDEA °

ordinary shares and underlying shares of CR Beer to the total issued

shares of CR Beer as at 31st December, 2024.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in her

capacity as beneficial owner.
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(d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares
of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (“CR
Power”), an associated corporation of the Company

FRrib s

wEES

HRIKE R EE Aggregate

EEnE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest'

SREBSEAE [SS=) 796,000 0.0154%
Mr. ZHANG Junzheng Long position

BiaE Notes:
1. WARZE-ZNF+-A=+—Bfk 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary shares

EHE LB BN TR ARG
FHENZMEBITRONBEIL ©

2. 796,000 ES - REBILALA
A A5 15576 700,000 8% 17 2
R M ARAR A3 A AL (B 2 96,000%
fefn 2 #ess o

R B E

RZZZNF+-A—HB  ARERH—
AR EER S EE S ([RBErE )
Bt ARBRBRERFNKHERE R
BREBEBSR2NEBETE - RER
ANEER-—RBARARERXEEER
5% WA LFEBERNAR ([RERF]) -
RAERBEEANLLTE  ERERQF
s ERGEMNA DL ARNAREEBE
MARFAZERNZETRABNED
b e

BB EERTETERENEMERE
WEERER  LREZBEHH A EE
ERERFBREHERBRERELTEEES(E
B UHEARFANENEEBERAEK
SRHEEELEMNE - BRIFREZSIRA
R BB ERMAAMETFRE
R o IRIFEE T EE LR B ) RN EE
EBEBIAER T REBE RS EZE R 2
HERD BIARR BB B BITRAE%
5.0.5% AR

and underlying shares of CR Power to the total issued shares of CR Power as
at 31st December, 2024.

2. Among 796,000 shares, Mr. ZHANG Junzheng held 700,000 shares in his
capacity as beneficial owner and was deemed to be interested in 96,000
shares through interests of his spouse.

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted a share repurchased
cash award scheme (the “Incentive Award Scheme”), pursuant to
which selected employees of the Group or investee companies (being
any company in which the Company directly or indirectly owns 5%
or more attributable equity interests (the “Investee Company”), and
in calculating the percentage interest so attributed, the percentage
interest held in the Investee Company shall be multiplied by the
percentage interest in each level of entity through which such interest
is held by the Group), are entitled to participate in the Incentive Award
Scheme pursuant to the scheme rules.

The purpose of the Incentive Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contribution of certain employees and to provide
incentives and to enable the Group and the Investee Company in
retaining their existing employees and recruiting additional employees
and to provide them with a direct economic interest in attaining
the long-term business objectives of the Company. Unless early
termination by the Board, the Incentive Award Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the adoption
date. The maximum aggregate numbers of award shares which can
be awarded under the Incentive Award Scheme and to a selected
employee throughout its duration are limited to 5% and 0.5% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time respectively.

(FRRFERAERLS —S_NEER)




EEEWRS

Directors’ Report

RIERETERE  ARABEEAPERR
SUBERMETBRARAZITA ([T
AL Bl FEABRTSE LUAEE
BRENRLEARARSG - WAEEER
RIEBEETERBFE  BEEXSKRHIE
BEEANKXEBZABCTEREEA
I ZRAARZZEZNFNA LB LEK
AN#)253,534,680/8 70 (BIEX HKA) iE
Eé,ﬂi\m,ooo,oooﬁﬁ%{ﬁ(fﬁﬁéuﬂzﬁﬁa,ﬁﬂ$

NEIBBITIRALAL.95%) AR A K5t
ZIFE B R BT EE T AR E AR o

RZZE-ZTF=A+RB  AREERIE

aJr%‘J : .Jﬂjﬁﬁ?ﬁ@]ﬁ%ﬁi%fﬁﬁﬁﬁ#
BRI ([%FHE]) - ARRKBBHBHE
REBRMHOMSRE  ZERBROHER
%A%%ﬁf’ﬁz%ﬁﬁéiafzﬂ?fdﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ %
ERMACARAFHEESGRHERE S
i%ﬁiﬂ%ﬁé%ﬁiﬁ%éﬁbﬁ,ﬂﬂ%ﬂmmﬁ%%m
[ IR IFRAEL -

RZZE-MENA-THB  ARFES
BREL RS -

ARRZZF ZIMF H £ 2,000,000 B 52 E)
B - STAMBSEBROOEBFIBD

Pursuant to the rules of the Incentive Award Scheme, the Company
has appointed BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited as trustee (the
“Trustee”), pursuant to which existing shares will be purchased by
the Trustee from the market out of cash contributed by the Group and
be held in trust for the relevant selected employees until such shares
are vested with the relevant selected employees in accordance with
the provisions of the Incentive Award Scheme. A total of 70,000,000
shares were purchased at an aggregate cost of approximately
HK$253,534,680 (including transaction costs) on 7th April, 2009,
representing approximately 4.95% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at date of acquisition. The Company does not intend to
purchase any further share under the Incentive Award Scheme.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive Award
Scheme such that cash instead of award shares will be awarded under
the Incentive Award Scheme (the “Scheme”). The Company will utilize
the proceeds generated from disposal of the award shares held by
the Trustee for the awards made under the Scheme. The awards will
be subject to the approval of the Company’s Remuneration Committee
and the cash under the award will only be given upon fulfillment of
relevant vesting conditions imposed on the date of grant of the award.

On 25th September, 2024, the Board of the Company has resolved to
terminate the Incentive Award Scheme.

During 2024, the Company disposed 2,000,000 award shares. Details
of the movement of the award shares held by the Trustee are as

T~ follows:
HERDEE
Number of
award shares
W-ZETAFENA+ARE Purchased on 7th April, 2009 70,000,000
RZT—EFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2010 (1,818,000)
RZTE——FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2011 (7,741,496)
RIE-——FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2012 (6,893,520)
RZE—=FRERLE Granted and disposed of during 2013 (2,268,500)
RZE—NFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2014 (1,905,100)
RIZ—RAFRHEREE Granted and disposed of during 2015 (1,310,000)
RZE—ANFEREREE Granted and disposed of during 2016 (2,266,000)
R-TZ—EFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2017 (0)
RZT—NFEREREE Granted and disposed of during 2018 (0)
RZT—NFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2019 (0)
RZTZZTFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2020 (0)
R —FERERHE Granted and disposed of during 2021 (0)
RZZEZZFRERNE Granted and disposed of during 2022 (0)
RIZTZ=FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2023 (0)
RZZTZNFEREREE Granted and disposed of during 2024 (2,000,000)
RZZZWNE+ZA=+—HO#HR Balance as at 31st December, 2024 43,797,384

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into certain connected transactions with a
number of connected persons, details of which are set out bellow:

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, members of the Group have entered into continuing
connected transactions with connected persons which are subject to
the reporting requirements under Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules,
details of which are summarised herein below. The Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group as below in accordance with Main Board
Listing Rule 14A.56. The Independent Non-executive Directors have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) according to the agreements governing them, and on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.

Details of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and

the actual amount incurred for the year ended 31st December, 2024
or the maximum daily amount are summarised as follows:

(FRRFERAERLS —S_NEER)
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For the year
ended

31st December,
2024

BEHE

(FE LR : AK¥2,300,000,0007T)
RRAZZMBRAELUARRRROBR
NAEN(—KRPEARLME ([FE )KL
WBEREFEAR » AARARMERR (B
REHEEMRRERAR) NEERRE) KE
AAR - BHISE - 2¥HaEN T =—
T A=T—HIIVYB=ZE = _F—A—
HBAR -

RZZ-ME+ZA=+—H  RAFANZ
EME R RS RE RIERRARELARA
RN BRDRIFI LI - SH=F

HE-_Z-_ME+_A=1+—HIFE

WNIE B ERIGE
(FE LR : AK¥25,000,0007T)

RZZEZ—FXAZ+=8 ARRAZ2EMN
BARMMERRRERABRAER=
NORMN) BEERAR (EHBESEAR
NAIMFEREMBAR) RELR - AR
BERRIDEN U EREAHES
B BEA3E o

RZZE-WNEXAZ+—H  ARFREFR
BEEGZ  BMERBZEEHEE_T=
HE+ZR=+—HAX -

HE_T-_MF+-_A=+—HLFE

Sale and Purchase Agreement
(Annual cap: RMB2,300,000,000)

Purchase of natural gas for 3 years by a number of
subsidiaries of the Company from Shanxi Natural
Gas Limited, a limited liability company established
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) which
is the substantial shareholder of the subsidiary of
the Company namely Hongdong China Resources
Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd. All agreements were entered
into on 31st December, 2021 and effective from 1st
January 2022.

On 31st December, 2024, these subsidiaries of the
Company entered into new agreements with Shanxi
Natural Gas Limited for the purchase and supply of
natural gas for a further term of 3 years.

For the year ended 31st December, 2024

Chenzhou Project Framework Agreement
(Annual cap: RMB25,000,000)

On 22nd June, 2021, Chenzhou China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an agreement in respect of
supplying energy for cooling and heating, steam
and part of electricity to China Resources Sanijiu
(Chenzhou) Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd, a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of China Resources Pharmaceutical
Group Limited for 3 years, effective from the date of
the agreement.

On 21st June, 2024, the Company renewed the existing

framework agreement, effective from the date of the
new framework agreement to 31st December, 2025.

For the year ended 31st December, 2024

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2024)
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IFENEBRRDEE
Maximum daily amount
during the year ended
31st December,

2024

BEEEmRE
(FE LR : AK%1,700,000,0007T)
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——F—A—BRERER AHS
F (BRIEEPRCE—FIER) o =
HRODERAR ([EHERGB])
BHEBRITERARGZERE
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ZS o
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RZFEZMF+=—A=+—H -
RARIBE A SR TR HEE
HIRTRIN — s - A=
Eo

HE_FT-HWNF+-_A=+—AH1t
FEITMETBHNETH
= {SYER I

b. BRTEZRBIN  KNRBEME
BT Z AR RITIRAG M Em

Strategic Cooperation Agreements
(Annual cap : RMB1,700,000,000)
(i)  Commercial banking services

a.

On 31st December, 2021, the Company
entered into an agreement in respect of
the use of commercial banking services
with China Resources Bank of Zhuhai
Co., Ltd., (“CR Bank”), a municipal bank
headquartered in Zhuhai for 3 years,
effective from 1st January, 2022 (unless
extended for a further period). China
Resources Co., Ltd (“CRC") has a
controlling interest in CR Bank and the
Company.

On 31st December, 2024, the Company
entered into a new agreement in respect
of the use of commercial banking
services with CR Bank for a further term
of 3 years.

Maximum daily outstanding balance on
any given day during the year ended
31st December, 2024

b.

Other than deposit services, the
Company utilised commercial banking
services and products provided by CR
Bank.

ARETT
RMB’000

1,540,173
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Maximum daily amount
during the year ended
31st December,

2024
AREFT
RMB’000
HE-_T-NF+-A=+—AH1t Maximum daily outstanding balance on
FEEMSERHNEHE any given day during the year ended
S ERER o 31st December, 2024 -
(i) EARESEERS (i) Trust and funds management services
R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H AR On 31st December, 2021, the Company
ARFEREARES EERGMEER entered into an agreement in respect of the
AR A AR AT (TFEBEE])E] use of trust and funds management services
J—hhE BT _—_F—H— EI with China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd
R - BHASE (FRIEHAR AL (“CR Trust”) for 3 years effective from 1st
ER) - **/Fﬁﬂxfﬁhﬁiﬂﬁa{&zﬁ January, 2022 (unless extended for a further
AR S o period). CRC has a controlling interest in CR
Trust and the Company.
RZZE-_WF+-_A=+—H &R On 31st December, 2024, the Company
AMERAGEERES EERGEER entered into a new agreement in respect
BRI — i - REI=4F - of the use of trust and funds management
services with CR Trust for a further term of
3 years.
AREF T
RMB’000
HE-Z-WF+-A=+—HIE Maximum daily outstanding balance on

ifﬁ&ﬂﬁi B8 EH
S E=RER b

any given day during the year ended
31st December, 2024

ERE R R

(FE LR : AR%2,000,000,0005T)

(i) E’\f%f:_i A=—+8 AQE

DA (R E AR AR (R B

WEE@EE?%??I\))E@%?E(%)%
RAR ([FEHEEAR]) - EAHEHS
B REBEEARNARLREER
BERE AR (REEBAEZHHM
BREABERETHAR) (RNAFE
S (TEHEB ETRR D) ARKSE
EAMBARARET  ARBIHE
TEFRHNEEABEERLHE B
TEC=F-ASTRBREN - BRH
3F (IR —FER) -

Framework Loan Agreements

(Annual cap: RMB2,000,000,000)
On 20th February, 2023, the Company entered into an agreement
in respect of the intra-group lending between the Company (and
any of its subsidiaries but exclude entity established in the PRC)
and China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”), any
company in the CRC, CRH and their respective subsidiaries, which
is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, other than the Company (“China Resources Group listed
company”) and any of their subsidiaries in respect of Hong Kong
dollars, RMB or, United States dollars loan for 3 years effective from
20th February, 2023 (unless extended for a further period).

(i)

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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(i)  On 20th February, 2023, the Company entered into an agreement

in respect of the intra-group lending between any PRC established

subsidiary of the Company and CRC (and any PRC established

subsidiary of CRC) or a China Resources Group listed company, but

excluding CR bank, CR Trust and any subsidiary of the Company in

respect of RMB loan for 3 years effective from 20th February, 2023

(unless extended for a further period).

ARET T
RMB’ 000

HE-Z-NF+_A=+—HBILFE
EEE B NGBS FRER

Maximum daily outstanding balance on
any given day during the year ended
31st December, 2024

1,900,000

BEESEERDGZR

(FE LR - AK¥135,000,0007T)
RZZEZNF+—AZ+NH - XRFEME
E2EMBARERIMRIRENERRYE
(FEDEEFRAG ([EHRE]) - EF
BB ER)ER AR ([ZHEGE]) KRR
] 5 5] ] 22 Bk % 25 AR B PR A &) ([ SR FAT Fa
B (ZRRNRARMEAR)F L EEE
EERGE Bt - 2EECRERER
FIESNBARIEHERE mMEBLE
EHEE RRMBE SRR EHEER
RIBEEBEHERS  c BRAA-ZT N
F+—A-t+hhBE-ZE-_R"FE+-A=
+—8-

BE_Z-_NME+_A=+—RHILFE

Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreements
(Annual cap: RMB135,000,000)

On 29th November, 2024, China Resources Gas
Investment, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the Strategic
Cooperation Framework Agreements with China
Resources Ng Fung (China) Investment Co.,
Ltd.(“CR Ng Fung”),
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CR Beer”) and

China Resources Beer

Dong-E County Dong-E-E-Jiao Tourism and
Health Co., Ltd (“Dong-E-E-Jiao”), the company’s
fellows subsidiaries, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to purchase, and each of CR Ng Fung,
CR Beer and Dong-E-E-Jiao agreed to supply
products and provided auxiliary marketing
services according to the terms and conditions
agreed therein. The term is effective from 29th
November, 2024 to 31st December, 2026.

For the year ended 31st December, 2024

AREETT
RMB'000
15,815
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BEALRS

ELEEBERPETHEABEALR
SHABEREAVBHBRERME41 - R
ERRAIEE  BORERHBREAER
2 BEAXZEIIWT

Related Party Transactions

Details of the material related party transactions in normal course

of business are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial

statements. Some of these transactions constitute connected

transactions as defined under the Listing Rules which are set out as

follows:

—E-mF
2024
FHET
HK$’ 000
HE THB AR IEZERRE Sales to non-controlling shareholders of 43,295
subsidiaries
INEESGY=YNSI e Gk RSN ON Interest income from deposits placed in 4,824
a fellow subsidiary
BIGE N =PNGIE3: )= € C SN PN Interest income from loan to a fellow 53,772
subsidiary
M R A AR B R S A Interest income from loan to an intermediate -
holding company
IE BB A AR IR AR AR B (P aE) Purchase from non-controlling shareholders of 1,131,504
subsidiaries (Note)

ERRRHBARNHESRAL Rental expenses paid to fellow subsidiaries 35,333
B R A R FI B RS Interest expenses paid to an intermediate 4,344
holding company
B E R B FEER IR AT B Interest expenses paid to non-controlling 1,329

M BEEBEUARARENERARARERA

KABHER  RBEE-_ZEZ-_NF+_-_/F=
+—RIFE  HEEFEMBRAE14AE
I EIE -

shareholders of subsidiaries

Note: Included purchases of natural gas from Shanxi Natural Gas Limited.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for

the year ended 31st December, 2024.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company are not aware that there was any party (other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company), who, as at 31st December, 2024
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which
were recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to

ZifHERSOAE - Section 336 of the SFO:
RAEQXFNERE Long Position in the Company
FritfEs
BEADL
HREERE B#HEE  Aggregate
RREH g% Long or short Number of percentage
Name of shareholders Capacity position shares of interest’
FHERE (RR) BRAR BEREAA HE 1,407,828,991 60.84%
(MEREEMRAD?
CRH (Gas) Limited (“CRH Gas”)? Beneficial owner Long position
8 (£EH) BRAR? EE VNG oL 5 TR 1,422,298,991 61.46%
China Resources (Holdings) Controlled company'’s interest Long position
Company Limited?
CRC Bluesky Limited (“CRC ZPEH A R KR S5 1,422,298,991 61.46%
Bluesky”)? Controlled company’s interest ~ Long position
FRROARQR (TFBRGH1)? SPElA R 8 R "R 1,422,298,991 61.46%
China Resources Inc. (formerly Controlled company’s interest Long position
known as China Resources Co.,
Limited) (“CRCL")?
MEEBBERAR ([HEFEM]):? SPEHlA R8RS TR 1,422,298,991 61.46%
China Resources Company Limited Controlled company’s interest Long position
(“CRNC")?
JPMorgan Chase & Co.3 EmfA A HE 9,455,226 0.41%
Beneficial owner Long position
) 5,416,599 0.23%
Short Position
REKE e 79,439,442 3.43%
Investment Manager Long Position
RROERBEFERAL TR 2,100 0.00%
Person having a security Long Position
interest in shares
EHERERRE e 95,892,310 4.14%

Approved lending agent

Long Position

(EMREERERAF

ST 1
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MEE

1. WARZZE-_ME+-_A=t+—HBMFE
BRERABRRODFRECEGARRZEE
BITRMEBE DL

2. EHEERRRAGEBERAFADINARD
51,407,828,991 B A% 1% & 14,470,000 5%
B hiEA EEER  ZMRRAFYAE
H(EE)ERATMNEZEWBEBAR -
bt EE(EE) ARRAABERIEREA
AJHY1,422,298,991 BRI 15 A AE -
M (£E) AR2ARARCRC BlueskyHy
2EMBRGF - #EMBEEBRNDE2ER
B EHRODDATEERNZENRBR
Al e Bt - EH(5£E)BRARF - CRC
Bluesky B (7 & B B RIER AR
AAIAI1,422,298,991 B %15 A HERS ©

3. IREFFRIEKROIEXVHBE2REINE
RERMAARBEBEOERET  ZERH
fiJPMorgan Chase & CoHZskMiZHEAE
100% G2 EBERSE - A - B
5,293,400 & {7 (472 ) }2608,100 B A7
(RB) DRSRZBMMIFELMITETIR &
572,096 kg (4FB) HE MR IE
METAETA -

ERBRERNEEBNERE

AEEONETERBZRE —BEMY
BIARRAIERBREN(EE) BRAA
BARIAREEESREESAAESR
TLORARABEETIRAMNS0% ([FE
BHEMT]) WEREMABETEROET
HRBRENSE  ERNEERTESMHE
WHEEBKR, XEHAEREERIEE
B8 B FE AT FI B K E b AR 1 7] FE 15 5K IE AP
BEESEA - RZT—mFE+=-A=+—
A BXREIREGHZ2ERRER
2,644,695,000/8 7T - ZEHABRERR
—ZE-FE=ANBER -

Notes:

1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
shares and underlying shares to the total issued shares of the Company
as at 31st December, 2024.

2. CRH Gas and Commotra Company Limited were directly interested in
1,407,828,991 shares and 14,470,000 shares in the Company respectively
and both companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited. China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited is therefore deemed to be interested in 1,422,298,991 shares of
the Company. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CRC Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by
CRCL. CRCL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRNC. So, China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited, CRC Bluesky, CRCL and CRNC are therefore
deemed to have interest in 1,422,298,991 shares of the Company.

3. According to the information disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of SFO, these shares were held by JPMorgan Chase &
Co. through corporations controlled directly or indirectly as to 100% by it.
Among which, 5,293,400 shares (long position) and 608,100 shares (short
position) are cash settled unlisted derivatives; and 572,096 shares (long
position) are physically settled unlisted derivatives.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Certain loan agreements of the Group include a condition that the
controlling shareholder of the Company, China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited is required, at all times, to hold an aggregate
beneficial ownership (directly or indirectly) of not less than 50% in
the issued share capital of the Company (the “Specific Performance
Obligation”). It will be an event of default if the Specific Performance
Obligation is breached; and in such case, the relevant banks
shall declare the commitments to be cancelled and/or declare all
outstanding amounts together with interests accrued thereon and
all other sums payable by the Company to be immediately due and
payable. As at 31st December, 2024, the aggregate reserved facility
subject to the above conditions were HK$2,644,695,000. Such
reserved facility will expire on no later than 6th March, 2024.

BT ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year was the
Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Save and except so far as the provisions of the Bye-law shall be
avoided by any provisions of the Statutes, the Board, President,
Vice-president, Managing Directors, alternate Directors, Secretary
and other officers for the time being of the Company and the trustees
(if any) for the time being acting in relation to any of the affairs of the
Company, and their respective executors or administrators, shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their executors
or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty
or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if
any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own wilful neglect or
default, fraud and dishonesty respectively.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities during the year ended 31st December, 2024. The Company
does not have any treasury shares (as defined under the Listing
Rules) as at 31st December 2024.

(empmzpeRss —z-nr+5) QNN
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws of Bermuda.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by KPMG
and a resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint KPMG as the auditor of the
Company.

Ernst & Young retired as the auditor of the Company with effect from
the close of the annual general meeting held on 25th May, 2023.
The appointment of KPMG as the new independent auditor of the
Company following the retirement of Ernst & Young was approved by
shareholders at the same meeting.

On behalf of the Board

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Chairman

YANG Ping

Hong Kong, 28 March, 2025

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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to the shareholders of China Resources Gas Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 92 to 248, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st December,
2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended and notes, comprising material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
December, 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements in Bermuda, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

(zmpeersran —z2-nz2%) @I




BB RS
Independent auditor’s report

BB BERERN G

Assessing potential impairment of goodwill

RS IS IRAN 204 R FE 115 BB HI 25K R

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 115

BERTEE
The Key Audit Matter

RANET A EEZEE
How the matter was addressed in our audit

RZZZME+—A=1+—08 ' HEREER4,7750230007%
T BB NEZEERAHTEE RS REPHZ RN
EHEEBEHNRSELESUL ([ReEESM AR - I
TETF R ERE -

As at 31st December, 2024, the carrying amount of
goodwill was HK$4,775,023,000. This represented
goodwill acquired in a number of business
combinations related to groups of cash-generating
units (“CGUs") that were expected to benefit from
respective business combination and was subject to
annual impairment assessment.

PEITRER G ERESEIERENERIELE
7 HAREE SR EE B T W e 58 (A AFER SR A K
FEABERENREE) EITHER - BT A EREREM
WEER - EFREELREBEMRRSMEEETHME 8
RReRSEANGERBFERTRE - RRWAERESE
HEARBKR LM - Tt REREEZTENTES - €12
BRI HEMAGEIE TRSEEEMA A WO $ R
BB o

In performing impairment assessments, management
compared the carrying value of each of the CGUs
to which the goodwill had been allocated with their
respective recoverable amounts, being the higher of
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, to
determine if any impairment loss should be recognised.
Value in use was assessed based on discounted
cash flow method. The preparation of discounted
cash flow forecasts required significant assumptions
and estimates with respect to the discount rates,
future revenue growth rates, taking into account
the management’s expectation for the industry. The
management engaged an external valuer to assist with
the impairment assessment of the recoverable amounts
of certain CGUs.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )

BB EEEREN AR EFRENTSE
Our procedures in relation to assessing potential
impairment of goodwill included the following:

TR EEREENHERENGIEFNERAEE
HEORFTRERER  REEBEHERRERER
BB RRIEBR

. Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating
the design and implementation of management’s
key internal controls over the goodwill impairment
assessment process, including management’s
preparation of the discounted cash flow forecasts;

o Z2ERTIHEUNRTERIEME SEEEHNT
o TEEEEHRIRSELEURNSHeEELSE
N REEMNER

o Assessing management’s identification of CGUs
and allocation of assets to each CGU with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards and our understanding of
the Group’s business;

e HAEBEMZEEININHEMNERE
M

. Evaluating the competence, capability and
objectivity of the external valuer engaged by the
management;

BEMEE

° H‘IJ: FEMNREREVANLAFERSEESMH
RARIVEITHE - U ER BRI FRREE
EEZT FEAKBEFEEAERERR
o Comparing the prior year’s cash flow forecasts
with the actual performance of the CGUs for the
current year, in order to assess the reliability of
historical accuracy of management’s forecasting
process and whether there is any indication of
management bias;
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Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 115

BERTEE
The Key Audit Matter

RANET A EEZEE
How the matter was addressed in our audit

HMEEHEEEREFERERBEREAFE  Aand
WERAENGREMEREMEBER - AEREMELD
PR E R P RER A MR - %% HE R RE&R

SEETEEN  YrRreXeEEEERANTZE -

We identified assessing potential impairment of
goodwill as a key audit matter because the carrying
amount of the goodwill was material to the consolidated
financial statements and impairment assessments
of goodwill performed by management involved
significant judgements and assumptions that are
inherently uncertain and could be subject to potential

management bias.

e AFRMYAMBEEZRBBHMSERTEHELN
EXRFEEREEMEANMGBEREZNES T - WBG
HIE] LA AV R ST IR 1T A L AT (R AT E B
PFIREMEEIE

o Involving our internal valuation specialists to assist
us in evaluating the appropriateness of valuation
methodology used by management with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards and assessing the reasonableness
of the discount rates applied by benchmarking
against those of comparable companies;

o Z2EFEMY BREEYK ELBZ RATEEH
RS EIRN T B EREBEHRRKAERENGE
M

. Challenging the reasonableness of the projected
future revenue growth rates, with reference to our
understanding of the Group's business, historical
trends, available industry information and
available market data;

o HMARRBMABREIRFTRIETHERESN - AEE
HUELHRAEFEOZEURRESFEEMAEREER
B R

o Performing sensitivity analysis in respect of the
future revenue growth rates and discount rates
and considering the resulting impact on the
impairment assessments and whether there is any
indication of management bias; and

o Z2ERTIIARNNMRTE  HEAEHERENGR
e VBMRAMMEREN GBI -

o Assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of the impairment assessments of goodwill with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.

(zmprersran —2-mE55%) N
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Refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 119 to 121
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The Key Audit Matter

RANET A EEZEE
How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEERNBE_E_MNF+_A=+—BLFEHENRT
BB A9,250,793,0007 7T ©

The Group recorded gas connection revenue
amounting to HK$9,250,793,000 for the year ended
31st December, 2024.

KEMRRETRESROBARSHER  T2RFAE
ERRABRRBEITE REFTRAGEA L OIRE AT E
EHRETHARARBNBER - EEEANTHNUATSER
ERBEARAE - BTRRERSRBHEBER KT
PR AR TRORI 0 Se B M R AR R -

Revenue from a construction contract for gas
connection was recognised over time, measured
based on the input method by reference to the costs
incurred during the year relative to the estimated total
costs for satisfaction of the contract, which required
the status of contracts to be assessed on a regular
basis. Management exercised significant judgements
in assessing the extent of progress in the satisfaction
of the performance obligations in gas connection
contracts and the completeness and accuracy of
forecast costs to complete.

YD ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )

HAAERRRBEBEEANBRAIZFEEATEIA
Our procedures in relation to the recognition of gas
connection revenue included the following:

o FHEMRERWARRNBERAGESNR - BT
1R NGET AL

o Assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over recognition of gas connection revenue;

e FBEMEMETMAERAR - THEEDNAEMRR
BERWARBANSTEE U2RBITETENNR
ERHE ARG HROEE T

o Obtaining an understanding with respect to the
accounting policies related to the recognition
and measurement of gas connection revenue
and inspecting the gas connection contracts on
a sample basis to assess the appropriateness
of revenue recognition accounting policies with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;
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Refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 119 to 121
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The Key Audit Matter

RANET A EEZEE
How the matter was addressed in our audit

BHMEBIAMAERRAREABREFETEH BRE
Y BEVBBERMEBERN  BEBRIRERANER
[BHE Rt - MEZFHEREA RS FETREN - I
ARERIBEEERERENTE -

We identified the recognition of gas connection revenue
as a key audit matter because they were significant
to the consolidated financial statements and their
recognition involve significant management judgements
and estimations that are inherently uncertain and could
be subject to potential management bias.

L]

HERE S AN A REMM KRR EANTERT
B E AR A E T IR LR

Comparing the total costs in construction

contracts and approved budgets for the material

costs with the estimated total costs used to

calculate the percentage of completion, on a

sample basis;

MR EMAMA R RERER REABEONRE -
THRENEENERRER  SFEMBXARALIK
PN

Inspecting purchase invoices for the materials
used and records with contractors on a sample
basis for the actual costs incurred during the year,
including material costs and labour costs;

RBBAFEE TR WASGRESNBERKAEER
PRA R TT AR LB - JPE EEBEEFETEY
EERNBEERT R

Evaluating the historical accuracy of the Group’s
estimates on the progress in the satisfaction of the
performance obligation by comparing the actual
costs incurred against total budgeted costs for
completed revenue contracts in current year on a

sample basis; and

EREEANERRAR MG R RNRBIR AR
EFFETTIAD L REERNEREA -
Recalculating the percentage of completion and
the corresponding revenue recognised, on a
sample basis, under the input method based on
the actual costs incurred and the estimated total
costs.

(FRRFERAERLS —S_NEER)
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MEEFEENBREL  RMAFTERS
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ESHRAMBRRARENEL

EFRBERBEESHMASHMNCE
BB HREER) REB(R RGN B HE
BERBHEEEMPENGEAMBERE - 21
HERBREEEMBHRENRE T FE
F 7 R FF BB AR T 8 B A0 BB K B ER R A
FHARENEE -

ERBERAVERRE  EF85F
fl BERERFELENESN  XEBERRT
RTIEERFELLERNEIR - U RE
ARHBEEEREFER KBRIEFAE
1 BEEEBBRFELEE  RBIEEM
BERONBRTE -

FHERSHPEFRALE EREM
S REBEHEE -

Information other than the consolidated financial statements and
auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

(zmpeersran —2-m2%8) @I
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the group financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

BETD ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Kong Wing Hung.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

28th March, 2025
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BZE-_ZEZ-—_mE+-_A=+—HILLEE

For the year ended 31st December, 2024

—EC-ME —T-=fF
2024 2023
{iFs3 FiEx FAT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 6 102,675,888 101,271,905
HEMA Cost of sales (84,417,510) (82,820,234)
EH Gross profit 18,258,378 18,451,671
HipdgA Other income 7 1,203,328 2,261,927
HERD R Selling and distribution expenses (7,068,728) (6,820,385)
THHAXZ Administrative expenses (4,578,990) (4,529,012)
SEEEMEEZRNEBEFSE  Impairment losses on financial and contract
assets, net (75,704) (158,547)
BT RY AR Finance costs 8 (740,391) (940,931)
RN E Share of results of joint ventures 412,002 277,682
NG Share of results of associates 336,319 366,640
B T8 Al g Profit before taxation 7,746,214 8,909,045
FiSHt Income tax 10 (1,997,920) (1,850,159)
F A% Tl Profit for the year 5,748,294 7,058,886
FREMEEKE Other comprehensive income for the year
BEITEEFEZEZHEL Item that may be subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss
BEEENERER Exchange differences arising on
translation (1,390,473) (1,602,022)
BETEEH A EZEmEE  Items that will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
EEAEAFEFAEMEER  Equity instruments designated at fair value
mEMERTA through other comprehensive income:
NTEEE (HkRTIE) Changes in fair value, net of tax 81,378 (19,634)
SN EREREMFTEEL Remeasurement of defined benefit plan
obligations (28,692) (8,986)
52,686 (28,620)
FREMEPEKE (FBRHBIE)  Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of tax (1,337,787) (1,630,642)
FREABZAE Total comprehensive income for the year 4,410,507 5,428,244
ATATEEFRRT - Profit for the year attributable to:
NSIE DN Owners of the Company 4,088,148 5,223,705
RS Non-controlling interests 1,660,146 1,835,181
5,748,294 7,058,886

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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BE-_Z-_NME+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

—ECMF —ECo=F
2024 2023
M &E FEx FET
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000

IWTALEEFRZ2EKELE : Total comprehensive income for the year

attributable to:
VN/NCTEZ =UN Owners of the Company 3,191,736 3,972,715
FEIE R Non-controlling interests 1,218,771 1,455,529
4,410,507 5,428,244
BT BT
HK$ HK$
FREF Earnings per share

AR Basic 13 1.80 2.30
F103E 2 F 248 F M T ANR A B 7 The notes on pages 103 to 248 form part of these consolidated

SR —ED o financial statements.
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At 31st December, 2024

—E-ME —EC=F
+=—A=+—-H +ZA=+—H
31st December, 31st December,
2024 2023
B s FBT FAET
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FEMBEE Non-current assets
W - BRERRE Property, plant and equipment 14 62,932,934 61,198,859
BB Investment properties 15 871,432 913,030
ERAEEE Right-of-use assets 16(a) 4,687,395 4,755,028
REERNAN R Interests in joint ventures 17 17,264,301 17,655,331
B E A R = Interests in associates 18 4,417,166 4,646,000
BEBEANFESAEME  Equity instruments designated at fair
EWmr R T A value through other comprehensive
income 19 463,567 382,644
[EES Goodwill 20 4,775,023 4,911,756
HEmEEEE Other intangible assets 21 4,815,215 5,022,879
BEBIREE Deferred tax assets 34 568,474 608,779
m—EEERARIREER Loans to a joint venture 22 1,869,043 1,909,907
WIEEEMIZS Deposits for acquisition of assets 350,287 413,073
EMENEELRE Total non-current assets 103,014,837 102,417,286
MENAE Current assets
& Inventories 23 1,403,794 1,493,608
EWE SEER R EMEMKF  Trade and other receivables 24 17,673,735 20,896,233
ARIIZABEE Assets related to contract works 25 2,720,247 2,727,615
EAEIRIRI TR Z R Pledged bank deposits and restricted
Be cash 26 139,498 357,875
RITHEMRNIRS Bank balances and cash 27 7,530,584 9,978,468
MENEEERE Total current assets 29,467,858 35,453,799
mEA A Current liabilities
B SRS RHEMERNIK  Trade and other payables 28 29,989,960 35,868,589
aRBE Contract liabilities 29 8,844,275 9,569,067
BS#EE Government grants 30 38,477 29,628
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 31 13,718,688 4,892,674
RS Medium-term notes 32 539,935 -
HEAE Lease liabilities 16(b) 132,771 144,160
FEIFHIR Taxation payable 572,884 604,816
mENBEERE Total current liabilities 53,836,990 51,108,934
MEEEFE Net current liabilities (24,369,132) (15,655,135)
REERTBAR Total assets less current liabilities 78,645,705 86,762,151

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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R-Z-_mME+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2024

—E-mE ZTZ=F
+=ZH=+—-8B +=ZA=+—H

31st December, 31st December,

2024 2023
B 5E FHET FHT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
Tz Equity
% Share capital 35 231,401 231,401
=] Reserves 40,940,566 40,540,830
NNEER AEIGER Equity attributable to owners of the
Company 41,171,967 40,772,231
FEPE AR R = Non-controlling interests 22,799,009 22,611,451
MBrE Total equity 63,970,976 63,383,682
IERBEE Non-current liabilities
BB & Government grants 30 774,279 819,489
RITREMEER Bank and other borrowings 31 8,742,236 17,279,384
HEAE Lease liabilities 16(b) 390,749 328,030
FHIZRE Medium-term notes 32 - 551,740
HiRBEE Other long-term liabilities 33 1,848,554 1,362,969
REFIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 34 2,918,911 3,036,857
IR A FERE Total non-current liabilities 14,674,729 23,378,469
78,645,705 86,762,151
BO2HR2IBE VIR AMBHRRIEHES The consolidated financial statements on pages 92 to 248 were
R _E-_RF=A -+ N\BHERERE approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28th
FIEE  WHTIATRRESSEE - March, 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:
B¥ £ ]
YANG PING QIN YAN
= =
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
FiE FF
CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
F103 8 £ 248 B WM sEE Rk ANem & B 15 3R The notes on pages 103 to 248 form part of these consolidated
RKE—E 5 o financial statements.
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BE-ZE-mNE+=-A=+—HLEE

For the year ended 31st December, 2024

KRR ARE
Attibutable to owners of the Company
o
BE BbEE  #ARR ERRR ERRE sEER AeER cREE  RER N AERER SRR
Shares
feld for &n
ncentive Non-
Share Share  Contriouted Capital ~ Translation award Qther Merger  Retained controling Tota
capial  premum’  suplis”  resee®  resene’ scheme”  resenves reserve’ pofs Subdofal  nterests equiy
e TR TR A T TR TR A TR TR TR T
HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKSO0D  HKSOO0  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSO0  HKSO00
(Ha)  (Hdo) () (Wia)
(Notea) — (Noteb) (Notec) — (Noted)
RIRTTE-R-R A anvar, 2028 BI40T 10038588 4507067 363150 (2748473 (166.250) 5196286 (8727518) 30612482 0307612 13287811 52545423
g Proft for the year - - - - - - - 528705 528705 183181 7098886
ROTETAZB2EAEY Change i fai value o equiy
BETARTERD(E  instuments et fr veue
i) {hrough other comprehensive
ncome, net of tax - - - - (11,268) - - (11,26) (8368 (19834)
B ERTENEEL  Romeasurement of dgined
benefitplan obligations - - - - - (4.902) - - (4.902) (4084) (89%6)
BERNSBEANELEE Dichnge diferences arsing on
{ranslaton of freign aperafion - - - - (128482 - - - - (1284822 (3672000 (1602022)
EmRENELE Tota comprehensive income for
ihe year - - - (1.234822) - (16168 - 58705 3omMs 1455509 54804
HERERTE Captalcontrbufon fom
non-controling interests - - - - - - - 37.3% 3733
WEMBAA (KGE3)  Acquisiion of subsidares
(Note 38) - - - (18400) - - - - (1e470) 9T 90u9M
BfRa (ki) Dividends paid (Note 12) - - (23816%) - - - - - [23816%) - (23816%)
EHEAFEAREERS Dividends paid to non-conroling
Interests of subsiciaries - - - - - - - - - (1290665 (1,290869)
BRZETEY Transte from retained prois - - - 548425 - (b8 - - -
WZFZ=E+2A=1-H At 3tst December, 2028 BIA0T 10038588 2126341 26600 (3063205  (166.250) 5728543 (877518) 36287782 A0T72281 22611451 63383682
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mEERBER
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE-_Z_WE+-—B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

RAAREARE
Attributable to owners of the Company

RERH
Br o BBEER AARR AR EXER AR BRR aRER RENR M RERER 48R

Shares

held for an

incentive Non-
Share Share  Contributed Capital ~ Translation award Other Merger  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium*  surplus®  reserve®  reseve'  scheme*  reserves'  reseve'  profits'  Subdotal  inferests equity
Tt AT TR TER TRR TR TER AR TER TR TR TR
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

(el (Kiho) (hike)  (Wikd)
(Notea) — (Noteb) (Notec) — (Noted)
e At tst January, 2024 11401 10,038,568 2,126,341 06080 (3963295  (166,250) 5728543 (8727 5M8) 3207702 40Tt 22611451 63,383,682
Engl Proftfor he year - - - - - - - - A08at48 4088148 1660146 5748204
ROTETAZB2EAEY Change i fai value o equiy
ATADNTEZD(E  inshumentsatfar vaue
i) {hrough other comprehensive

ncome, net of tax - - - - - - 20403 - - 20403 60975 81,378
B ERTENEEL  Romeasurement of defined

benefit plan obligations - - - - - - (1594) - - (1594) (fa7et)  (286%)
AERNERELHELZE Bichange diferences arsng on

{ranslaton of freign aperafion - - - - (oo08m4) - - - - (o00874)  (469599)  (1,390,473)
EmRENELE Tota comprehensive income for

the year - - - - (oo08m4) - 4,462 - 4008148 3191736 1218771 44M0507
HERERTE Captalcontrbufon fom

non-controlling inferests - - - - - - - - - - 54,142 54,142
WEMENA () Aoguistion of subsicares (Note 3) - - - - - - - - - - um 21,951
HERBHERENRE  Disposalof shares held for

incentive award scheme - - - - - 1260 - - 51,660 58,920 - 5,920
ERBE(EED  Diideds pad e 10 - - M) - - - - - Uy (%) - )
ERMERTEARERRE Dhidends paid o non-contoling

Interests of subsidieries - - - - - - - - - - (1,13306)  (1,113,30)
ARRATEL Trangler from retained pros - - - - - - e - (e - - -

HZBIMETZR=T-R AdtstDecember, 204 81400 10,038,588 26600 (A804169)  (1589%0) 6195162 (8727518 38240804  ALITISET 22799009 63970076

(Ezmpaersras —z-n=5H) N




BARREDE

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE-S-NFE+-A=+—HLEE

For the year ended 31st December, 2024

B 5E Notes:

a BEARTAR-_ZE——EFREA=1+HEHZBEH Pursuant to the approval of a special resolution at the special
MR RFRAE EHENFIRAZESR - & general meeting of the Company on 30th May, 2011, the amount of
%6 /47,388,600,000 7 7T 19 A% {0 & 8 # AR HK$7,388,600,000 standing to the credit of share premium has been
HOEBEHARS - BARBRAB/TSD transferred to the contributed surplus. The contributed surplus is a
RFEEHIEARIARERERE—NN distributable reserve and will be used for the payment of dividends
—FRAEBRTNEMAR -HE=-T and for such other purposes as allowed by the Companies Act 1981
—ME+ZRA=+—HLFE BEFHH of Bermuda. For the year ended 31st December, 2024, the amount
2,126,341,0008 T (BEZ T _=F+= of HK$2,126,341,000 (for the year ended 31st December, 2023:
A=+—HIEFE : 2,381,626,000/%7C) HK$2,381,626,000) has been used for the payment of dividends.

TARE ©

b, EBEARFEREHIEERERFHENSEER The capital reserve arose from the difference between the amount by
s HERHBEARINERSSN which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration
WRHREZERERE - paid/received for the acquisition/disposal of interests in subsidiaries.

c. HMBEHEEFERAPEARLME ([HE]) Other reserves comprise the changes in fair value of equity instruments
B SZ Y BT B R BBV B R A FEE A H A designated at fair value through other comprehensive income, general
2HKERETAEAFEZE  —KREH reserve, statutory surplus reserve, enterprise expansion fund, statutory
- EZTRHBEE CEERES AT public welfare fund and discretionary surplus reserve of subsidiaries
P RNERMEEARAEE A established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), and the
DR BT B A R R A R T T AN AR R (G changes in net assets attributable to the Group in relation to the increase
BEFEZEE - in ownership interests in subsidiaries through capital contribution.
—REENEFEETHEBRARNGRE%E The general reserve is appropriated each year on the basis of 5% to
AR5 % Z10%MEESE - WHESE 10% of the profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries as determined by
ENEFSRESWEBAREHERZMA their boards of directors in accordance with the articles of association of
BT ZREBEHBEHER BREXK the subsidiaries. This reserve should only be used for making up losses,
WREENEBKZA - capitalisation into capital and expansion of production and operation.

d.  AHFEEE(HENBE2RE BAEDIKE The merger reserve represented the difference between (i) the cash

R RME AT RARBPTETRN © 8(ii)
SEEATCAHER D BITRARE
BEeBEZRNER -

ERFERREGAVERREF VLS
###540,940,566,0008 T (Z T - =4 :
40,540,830,0005 7T) °

consideration paid, deemed distribution to a fellow subsidiary and shares
issued by the Company; and (ii) the amount of issued capital and premium
of the combined entities under group reorganisations.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$40,940,566,000 (2023: HK$40,540,830,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

F103BE 2 FE 248 B MM B AR A B 7%
WERH—BD -

The notes on pages 103 to 248 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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GEEHERER
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
BE-Z_NF+-_A=+—HLFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2024

—E_NUE —F=-=
2024 2023
ks FHET FAET
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
E OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B 58 A8 ) Profit before taxation 7,746,214 8,909,045
FE Adjustments for:
BA R AN Finance costs 8 740,391 940,931
FLEWA Interest income 7 (308,421) (381,019)
BAFESFAREMEEKZEDS  Dividend income from equity
Em T EHREWKA instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income 7 (256) (9,524)
EHERBT B & Government grants recognised (44,068) (80,321)
JEIREERR RE2AR¥E4E  Share of results of joint ventures and
associates (748,321) (644,322)
HE S MEmE - BE R Gain on disposal/write-off of property,

s plant and equipment 7 (44,384) (45,929)
HEFREEEN KR Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets 7 (38,212) (29,056)
RRHESERARKE Gain on deemed disposal of joint

ventures 7 (741) (882,127)
=Tk /N Iy Gain on deemed disposal of

associates 7 - (694,093)
FEUE 5 BR FOR B TR Impairment recognised on trade

receivables 9 72,714 143,496
HAb U FORE (B =), Impairment (reversed)/recognised on

R other receivables 9 (6,218) 21,115

ARIEERMERER (#E) Impairment recognised/(reversed) on
contract assets 9 9,208 (6,064)
M - BEREHTE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 9 3,101,647 3,205,192
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 9 317,232 423,929
REYEFRE Depreciation of investment properties 9 32,043 27,051
HEfb R EESH Amortisation of other intangible assets 9 203,306 404,945
EEASEEAINLE Operating cash flows before movements
BEmE in working capital 11,032,134 11,808,249
FERL Decrease in inventories 65,484 139,939
FEULE 5 BR 3R HL ) P WK Decrease/(increase) in trade and other
() receivables 2,419,484 (1,877,996)
ARIEAEEE (M), (Increase)/decrease in assets related to
e contract works (60,945) 520,586
FEAST B 5 BR 3 % B Ath B < 3R (Decrease)/increase in trade and other
CRA),/ payables (3,804,108) 2,700,953
aRE &R Decrease in contract liabilities (555,798) (1,064,060)
KEEBEENRS Cash generated from operations 9,096,251 12,222,671
AR MRS PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (2,094,425) (2,066,078)
S EETSIRE T NET CASH FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES 7,001,826 10,156,593
(EBREERERDE —2=

ne %) QEE



HERERER
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

BE-Z_MF+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31st December, 2024

—E_NUE —F=-=
2024 2023
ks FHERT FET
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
REED INVESTING ACTIVITIES
& Ol H fth ik & FT 1S I8 Proceeds from redemption of other
deposits 27,419,219 46,106,064
HEWZE - BE KR Proceeds from disposal of property,

538 plant and equipment 689,636 241,448
BREERFIRE Dividends received from joint ventures 484,817 24,372
A BN RRE WG Receipt from capital reduction of joint

ventures 260,579 -
2 F & Interest received 235,006 381,019
BE(1F5) BEMIRTTER Withdrawal/(placement) of pledged bank

KZR4IIRE deposits and restricted cash 213,797 (359,797)
B U E & AR E Dividends received from associates 211,034 95,341
*E—MERRMEB ARG Repayment from/(advance to) a fellow

B (A — R RNE subsidiary

NERGE BR) 139,501 (463,462)
HEEAREEMSHRIEA Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use

assets 72,925 57,917
XBE0 Business combinations 38 67,042 854,655
Bt N BRI WG Receipt from capital reduction of

associates 66,299 -
REBESNRINER Repayment from/(advance to) associates

(TR R AR A F0) 37,637 (12,2809)
HERANEETAEMEE Proceeds from disposal of financial

WM e R EEEHIE assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income 35,497 -
BEHEYZE MENMEREABS Receipt of government grants for

B e property, plant and equipment 25,609 161,680
KEALNAIHER Repayment from joint ventures 16,552 -
EREEERS Deposits for right-of-use assets 10,583 (306,149)
T BCEL A 7 3R Placement of other deposits (27,851,167) (44,436,458)
BEVE  BEMKEZENMNZ  Payments for acquisition of property,

plant and equipment (4,197,563) (5,148,990)
ERAEEENR Payments for right-of-use assets (146,199) (189,854)
REE N RINIRE Investments in associates (13,211) -
NEEREINERE Investments in joint venture (5,399) (1,565,819)
HEEATFEFAEBZD Proceeds from disposal of financial

S RLE EPTSHIA assets at fair value through profit or

loss - 34,657
KEZRS Deposits for investments - (4,915)
BEREMENNRK Payments for acquisition of investment

properties - (2,350)
WEEKTARESFE NET CASH USED IN INVESTING

ACTIVITIES (2,227,806) (4,532,930)

BT ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )




BE-S-NFE+=-A=+—HLEE

BERERER
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31st December, 2024

—E-NEF —E-=
2024 2023
Lk FHET FAET
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
MEEK FINANCING ACTIVITIES
IERIT R HEMEE New bank and other loans 25,153,935 26,120,879
EERRITREMEE Repayment of bank and other loans (24,379,530) (22,131,882)
B8 T LR A A Repayment to an intermediate holding
company (3,800,000) (2,500,000)
BETEEAR Repayment to joint ventures (11,683) (20,057)
BETRRHMBAF Repayment to fellow subsidiaries - (2,238,960)
IR AR EE Contribution from non-controlling
shareholders 54,142 37,335
A A AP RS AR A R Advance from an intermediate holding
company - 3,800,000
BT B IEERER Advance from non-controlling shareholders 168,151 29,739
ERRE Dividends paid (2,850,920) (2,381,626)
B IEERR AR R AR 2 Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders (902,493) (1,290,665)
ERFE Interest paid (724,264) (919,010)
EERBOHNERE Repayment of super short-term
commercial papers - (822,839)
HMHONREZED Principal portion of lease payments (194,243) (145,037)
& R R Bl B AR ) Proceeds from disposal of shares held
FriS 3518 for incentive award scheme 58,920 -
BEXEETARE FE NET CASH USED IN FINANCING
ACTIVITIES (7,427,985) (1,962,123)
ReRReEEYORd)/ NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH
184055 48 AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (2,653,965) 3,661,540
FYRERREEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 9,978,468 6,437,479
EREBNTE  FH Effect of exchange rate changes, net (225,867) (120,551)
FERIBe RIRESEEY - BI8R7T CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
HEHLIRE AT THE END OF THE YEAR,
REPRESENTED BY BANK BALANCES
AND CASH 7,098,636 9,978,468
(EBREERERAA —2=

=

RS 101



SEHSRER
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

BE-Z_MF+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31st December, 2024

—EmEF ZT=F
2024 2023
Lk FHET FAET
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
AR RARIRTITAS  Bank balances and cash in the
P& consolidated statement of financial
position 7,530,584 9,978,468
B FRERAE =@ AL LR Less: deposits with banks with more
RITIFIN than three months to maturity when
placed (431,948) -
GERERERTHNESR Cash and cash equivalents in the
BeEEY consolidated cash flow statement 7,098,636 9,978,468
E103E 2 E 248 B MR AR ERE BT 15 The notes on pages 103 to 248 form part of these consolidated
HEM—EHD o financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-Z_MNF+-A=+—HLFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2024

—REHR

ARBB RN AREEIMA LA
HemEmARRAR  ERONER
BaxsmARNA (TERP]) £
W AR ARRREBEMAIL
MER (RE) BRAR (TEBHEER
Al MEKKERARSTEER
BERAB(HEER])  ZRA/—
RN BRI H)RE] o AR E M
EFRETEEEMIH MU N AR FR
RRBER —EIHEE -

RAB—RXWEERAR KX 2
BRAR - AERRILBERRNE

D RIE K46 ~ 47 K248 ©

= M

mAalgmEAET (BT 27
RRARARAR/—KBOREBER
FrEmB LA MEKBIKE
ENEEE  AUARBEERRE
2IARRBREAMB AT (G A%
B ) S EEBERMBRRARERET
BERAME -

RBLEXE

REEARAMBEREE B R
FR—ZF-—mF+=-_A=+—H
AEBERNRBDAEEEOERBEE
24,369,132,0008 T R AN EE B ER
##E131,100,000/87C * KA FES
ERBEEREAEENRKRBESHA
MeRZE-NFEF+—_A=+—8 "
AEEMNRITREMEERRHE
4 #£23,000,859,0008 T » HeR
14,258,623,000 8 T DB ARB &

E -

KRREERA Kt RAEE KR
FArRTTREE 27,680,818,000/% 7T
EABELEES  AEEEAREE
BeumE—_E-_MNE+-_/A=+—
B AR+ ZEANBRREER -
b AERE B REAFECEE S
TR -

GENERAL

The Company is a listed public company incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The Company’s intermediate parent
company is China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
("CRH”"), a company incorporated in Hong Kong, and its ultimate
holding company is China Resources Company Limited (“CRCL"),
a company established in the PRC. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the Corporate Information of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set
out in notes 46, 47 and 48, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) as the Company is a public company with
its shares listed on the Stock Exchange in Hong Kong where
most of its investors are located, and therefore, the directors of
the Company consider that HK$ is preferable in presenting the
operating results and financial position of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”).

BASIS OF PREPARATION

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$24,369,132,000,
and the Group had capital commitments of HK$131,100,000
as at 31st December, 2024. As at 31st December, 2024, the
Group had bank and other borrowings and medium-term notes
totalling of HK$23,000,859,000, of which HK$14,258,623,000 was
classified as current liabilities.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account of the unutilised banking facilities of HK$27,680,818,000
and internally generated funds of the Group, the Group has
sufficient working capital for its present requirements for the
next twelve months from 31st December, 2024. Accordingly,
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis.

(zmpeersRan —2-mE%%) @IEN




RE IS IRRMIEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_Z_NE+-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

3.1 B REE 3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AEEDRAGHAENGESMBE®R The Group has applied the following amended Hong Kong
KERUTHAEBSETMASHEMD Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
KASET BB M IS ME LR - Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")

to these consolidated financial statements for the current
accounting period:

BERGHER  HBRENEZS - Amendments to Hong Kong  Presentation of financial
F1RMIBSE] BESERTEHK Accounting Standard statements — Classification of
FrBEE (=% (“HKAS") 1 liabilities as current or non-
ZEFEEIAR]D & current (“2020 amendments”)
BB ERIE 1 and amendments to HKAS
HIEET - B #R & 1, Presentation of financial
23l - fERE statements — Non-current
BIFEEEE & ([ = liabilities with covenants (2022
T DFEEIAR]D amendments”)
BEGTER HE: ML Amendments to HKAS 16 Leases — Lease liability in a sale
F16RNIEE] HEAE and leaseback
BERGHER HenEXREE Amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of cash flows and
BIRMIEE] HBHEERET HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
AT A:# disclosures — Supplier finance
FE-HREFHER arrangements
#
REE AR ERARAS S EIRM S RAE The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
R E R T ER SRR R o FRANAIERT that is not yet effective for the current accounting period. Impacts
BBV BRELERNFEFTH/OAT - of the adoption of the amended HKFRSs are discussed below:

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—E-NE+-A=t—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

3.1 Bt EREE (&)

EBETERE1HEET — HBEHR
EH2(—FE-FFR-F-C
EETA  EBREESTEREIHR
1EET )

ERGHEAEIREITATEAR
BREEGERB O - X —IEWE
A -

R CRFRFIATERATAE S
BRETASHENEBENDE - HAE
MIERA B S TEE  BAEAE
BeEanEa T BETAE A%
BERBERERT AR - AMEEIK
FArerEAENARPDIERD D
TR ERTANEREEKRA

BEHBELFENE -

ZERFREFIARE  HERAERS
EHEAETHERETEZEAENR
PHIERBAE - AT BREAXZ
SRR EABEERDAENE

B o

o

3.1 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements
(the 2020 and 2022 amendments, collectively the “HKAS 1
amendments”)

The HKAS 1 amendments impact the classification of a liability
as current or non-current, and have been applied retrospectively
as a package.

The 2020 amendments primarily clarify the classification of
a liability that can be settled in its own equity instruments. If
the terms of a liability could, at the option of the counterparty,
result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments and that conversion option is accounted for as an
equity instrument, these terms do not affect the classification of
the liability as current or non-current. Otherwise, the transfer of
equity instruments would constitute settlement of the liability and
impact classification.

The 2022 amendments specify that conditions with which an
entity must comply after the reporting date do not affect the
classification of a liability as current or non-current. However,
the entity is required to disclose information about non-current
liabilities subject to such conditions.

(EBRRERERDLA

ST 5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_Z_NE+-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

3.1 BT BEERE (&) 3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BB BHREERF16 519155 -
B EAMBCHERE

ZEER AR ERNARRZ S HH
BEERHACETEIERE - Z5E
RIAENRES - ABARREEARE
BEGIHN—RER  HFATHER
HLHE (R RO {5 AR AR B A (R AT I aR K
BiE - B — AEARBZEETA
BYPERANERERBMRITZINE
BREORZ S - HRAEE L RETE
MERERRS - FHihZFET AL
GEMEHMRLBEBEATE -

BEEETERETRIE - BER
BEAREEBUBHRELANETS £
BTA: RE-REBHBELH
HEERT ARSI AR RERTE - PR
SHERRELHNEREREYE
BHEE RensknBERR
FZ

ERERT AT G HAEBAFEE IS
EFENEE RV BART N HEE R
ZEREUBRRNEN T RNEKE
-7

o

JLi]

(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability in a sale
and leaseback

The amendments clarify how an entity accounts for a sale and
leaseback after the date of the transaction. The amendments
require the seller-lessee to apply the general requirements for
subsequent accounting of the lease liability in such a way that it
does not recognise any gain or loss relating to the right of use
it retains. A seller-lessee is required to apply the amendments
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into
after the date of initial application. The amendments do not have
a material impact on these financial statements as the Group has
not entered into any sale and leaseback transactions.

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and HKFRS
7, Financial instruments: disclosures — Supplier finance
arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure requirements to
enhance transparency of supplier finance arrangements and
their effects on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to
liquidity risk.

The above amendments have no material effect on how the
Group’s results and financial position for the current and prior
years have been prepared and presented in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z_WE+-—B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

3.2 CEMEMKRERNERHM
3 & 2 A
BEMGAMBRRFIBEH - 5%
EHMAREREBSERBE T
M+ = A=+ — B IEFE MR AR
ELES St e R
BIERTER - BB BTN T4
BAEEERENESR -

AT B
52 14 Bt
SEREly
s
EERILASE2R —ToHE
(f6874) — ShEE  —A—H
ERDOYE < B

Z AR

HEY RS ER ZTRF
Fo% - eMIA —A—H
REBMBRE

HRIE7S - 2/
T - % (7T
) —HESHMT

BENSBERFEZ
1&5]

EAUBREEN 2 ZTZRF
FEMNE - FN —A—H
i

BEMBREENE T _+F
185% - M¥Hkxz —A—H
25 R E

EEUBRELENE —T_+F
1958 JERAREIE  —A—H
BEEMBLR B

=

AATEERBRNZEETTAT
EUHRANBRRELEARE -

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended
standards, which are not yet effective for the year ended 31st
December, 2024 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These developments include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in 1st January, 2025
foreign exchange rates - Lack of exchangeability

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments 1st January, 2026
and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: disclosures
- Amendments to the classification and
measurement of financial instruments

Annual improvements to HKFRSs - Volume 11 1st January, 2026

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial 1st January, 2027
statements

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public 1st January, 2027

accountability: disclosures

The directors of the Company consider the adoption of these
amendments is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

(zmpaersras —z-n=EH) @R
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BE-Z_MF+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31st December, 2024

BEREFHHE
AREY

KA BRERDIIREMEERNE
BUBHEEARR  KARERE
BEIFMAGRARAGNMAEERNE
PEABYREER - BEGHER
RB2BARBERBGIORER
E o AR B WA BT ME
F LR E R E R - NEE
RAMERNSIBERBEENT o

REMBHRRNWEREE
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which collective
term includes all applicable individual HKFRS, HKAS and
Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange. Material accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December, 2024 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries and
the Group’s interest in associates and joint ventures.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
which are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based payment (“HKFRS 2”), leasing transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of assets (“HKAS 36”).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Company:

- has power over the investee;

- is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

- has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z_NE+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2024
4. EXEGFTBUR (&) MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
EHEE(F) Basis of consolidation (Continued)
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When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. Generally, there is
a presumption that the majority of voting rights results in control.
The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee
are sufficient to give it power, including:

- the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

- potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

- rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

- the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time
that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted after re-attribution of the relevant equity
component, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.
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4. BERETHE (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

EBE6t Business combinations
I IEE B £ R 2 i) 2 75 10 U B SE TS IR Acquisitions of businesses that are not combinations of business
RUWEEAR - XBE0H 283K under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
BIRATEE  MiERERAE method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
EFEEEE  AEEEHEEAR is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
MR 2 BE RSB R the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
BhzEGIEMET 2 REREES Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
Hz A FELE- - FRENE KRR of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
BRELERNIBETER - exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs

are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

EMREN—EEHREEREHH The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the

FEEEELENELEXRERBNEIR acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a

BAR—EEERE  KANEERRE substantive process that together significantly contribute to the

BB —THER - ability to create outputs.

RUEE B ER - FriiE 2 AT sk R & E & At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and

FrEdEz 8 E TR UE B Bk AT (E the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the

R - WA T B RBRIN acquisition date, except that:

- EEMBAENBEREESR - deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
ML BN EESBED IR related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
BRGFTERE125 [AT7FH ] and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome taxes
REBGTENEI1R[ESHE and HKAS 19 Employee benefits respectively;
FIIERKETE

—  BEWEH ARG BERAR - liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
R BESR B B U 7 8 DARR payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
D RERONRLZEEME] LR payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
SERNURG BEBRON KT share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
FHEMAaFENERZTA - IR measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition
EHBREREAMBRELERE?2 date; and
FEE &

- BREAEBMBEREENESHR -~ assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
[FFrEL Ery I m B B R B A for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current assets
UAEEZF I D ERBELEDN held for sale and discontinued operations are measured in
BE (S EHER) RIBEZER accordance with that standard.

e
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Merger accounting for business combinations involving
entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining entities or businesses in
which the common control combination occurs as if they had
been combined from the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the ultimate
controlling parties’ perspective. No amount is recognised in
respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair
value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost at the time of common control combination, to
the extent of the continuation of the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income includes
the results of each of the combining entities or businesses from
the earliest date presented or since the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the common control,
where this is a shorter period and up to the date of disposal, as
appropriate.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are restated as if the entities or businesses had been
combined at the previous reporting period or when they first
came under common control, whichever is shorter and up to the
date of disposal, as appropriate.
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BEASFEE (E) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
HmE Goodwill

WIREXBELRE  IEREBK
BRE(B2HLEXE IR B
B AR ER REDRERBE (BE) A
BE o

RREAATNS  BEEOEEEY
SlaHESHRM AN AEE LR
SELBEG (KREEESBMAR) -
i &% Bz sk B AL 4B R R SE AL E I B
MEFRENRIEKTETHBBEY

BoEEmEnReELEM (HRE
EXEMARN) EFRNEMHR
RED R ESREETRERR - 5
RBERAWBELNDE  BHE
BENRSELEN (FRTELSE
748 1) & 70 5% & B 48 SR AT 1T R
EAR - MEREELFEMMATKRD
SHEONEREE  AREBESE
FEDIAHR R EREE &
BRESHEEEMGEML (RRSEL
BAR) MEREELHDEEHM

REEEHREELENRK T
HERFREIESER G RSN
HMEHRE (AEEEEHENRE
ELBUANTHEMNREELSE

fi7) e

AEBHREBHE AR RAZE QT
EEHEENBERIIMT

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently whenever there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in
a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill, and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal (or any of the cash-generating
unit within group of cash-generating units in which the Group
monitors goodwill).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate or joint venture, the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.

BT ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (“HKFRS 9”)
are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise
any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s investment
in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use
and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value of
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the
relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included in
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate
or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be
required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
(“HKFRS 157).

(a) Sale of goods (including gas fuel, gas appliances and
related products)

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally when the gas fuel is used by the
customers and on delivery of the gas appliances and
related products, respectively.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(b) Gas connection/design and construction services

Revenue from the provision of gas connection and design
and construction services is recognised over time,
measured based on the input method by reference to the
costs incurred during the year relative to the estimated total
costs for satisfaction of the contract. When the outcome
of a construction contract for gas connection cannot be
estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent
of contract cost incurred that is probable to be recoverable.

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks to
collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs and
margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

(c) Integrated energy service

Revenue from integrated energy service is recognised
when control over a product or service is transferred to the
customer at the amount of promised consideration to which
the group is expected to be entitled.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from other sources

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due,
a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration
that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets. The contract assets
are disclosed under a separate financial statement line item
named “Assets related to contract works”.
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A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a
customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria
are met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services to which the asset
relates. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.
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4, EREFHE (&) MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
ME BERRE Property, plant and equipment
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Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress) are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less
any recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress
is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets commence when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasehold land and buildings under development for future
owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes, the
leasehold land component is classified as a right-of-use asset
and amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
During the construction period, the amortisation charge provided
for the leasehold land is included as part of costs of buildings
under construction. Buildings under construction are carried at
cost, less any identified impairment losses and are classified
as property, plant and equipment. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are
in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management).

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account their estimated residual values,
using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets include the Other intangible assets for city
pipeline network.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset is measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss in the
period when the asset is derecognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
for low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:
Leasehold land 2 to 50 years
Buildings 2 to 25 years
Plant, machinery and equipment 2 to 24 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included
in revenue in profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the
period in which they are earned.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company are recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
above.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive
income is recycled to the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity instruments as equity instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (Continued)

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of comprehensive income. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and
the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of
part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains
are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are
not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
instruments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity instruments classified as financial assets at
fair value profit or loss are also recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established,
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.
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4. EXEGFTBUR (&) MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
RERHMEMEE (&) Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
#ELE () Subsequent measurement (Continued)
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host;
a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms
of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial
asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required
to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

- the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification.
At each reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt
investments are considered to have low credit risk using all
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group
reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments.
Debt investments graded in the top investment categories by
the Credit Rating Agency are considered to be low credit risk
investments. It is the Group’s policy to measure ECLs on such
instruments on a 12-month basis. However, when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk of debt investments since
origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL.
The Group uses the ratings from the Credit Rating Agency both
to determine whether the debt instruments have significantly
increased in credit risk and to estimate ECLs.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive

income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to

impairment under the general approach and they are classified

within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and assets related to contract works which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables and assets related to contract works that
do not contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect
of a significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

For trade receivables and assets related to contract works
that contain a significant financing component and lease
receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
an amount due to the ultimate holding company, derivative
financial instruments and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out
in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the costs of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/state-
managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Other employee benefits
Defined benefit plan

The Group operates several defined benefit plans which require
payments to be made to each qualifying employee in the PRC.
The benefits are unfunded. The cost of providing benefits under
the defined benefit plans is determined using the projected unit
credit actuarial valuation method.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit pension plans,
comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset
ceiling (excluding amounts included in net interest on the
net defined benefit liability) and the return on plan assets
(excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined
benefit liability), are recognised immediately in the consolidated
statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or
credit to retained profits through other comprehensive income
in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Other employee benefits (Continued)
Defined benefit plan (Continued)

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier
of:

. the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and

o the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related
costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the
net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group recognises the
following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under
“cost of sales” and “administrative expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss by function:

° service costs comprising current service costs, past-service
costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine
settlements

o net interest expense or income

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
group entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in HK$, which is the Company’s functional currency
and the Group's presentation currency.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and are reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group’s interests in associates or joint ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.,
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currency of a group entity is changed only where
there is a change to the underlying transactions, events and
conditions relevant to the group entity. The group entity applies
the translation procedures applicable to the new functional
currency prospectively from the date of the change. At the date
of the change, the group entity translates all items into the new
functional currency using the prevailing exchange rate at that
date and the resulting translated amounts for non-monetary items
are treated as their historical cost.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the translation reserve.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash
— generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Government grants related to depreciable assets
are recognised as liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.
Other government grants are recognised as revenue over the
periods necessary to match them with the costs for which they
are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government
grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.

Long term award scheme

The cost of acquisition of the Company’s shares pursuant to the
long-term award scheme is recorded as shares held for incentive
award scheme. The shares held for incentive award scheme will
be disposed of for cash which will be distributed to the eligible
employees.

When the shares held for long term award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed
to the employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are
recognised as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between
the consideration received and the cost of the shares will be
credited to retained profits.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:

(M)

(if)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group's parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a Group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a Group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Control over EGE MR ERAL A and FILZEFHAHR L 7

EBEMRRAER AR is a subsidiary of the Group although the
Group has only a 50% ownership interest and voting rights in
EBEMRAABRRAF. The Group has had the 50% ownership
interest since June 2006 in ESEBMRAERAAE and the
remaining 50% of equity interest is owned by a shareholder that
is unrelated to the Group.

(EBRRERERDA
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Control over EBEZRMRERL A and FILEEHRERL &
(Continued)

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over ESEBMABRAF based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
ESEEMRE AR AR unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding
in BBEBMAAMRAA. The board of directors of =FBEEEI
RBBRZAA comprise 7 directors. The Group nominated and
appointed 4 directors in ESEBMR AR AR and the relevant
activities of B EBMRE AR A A require over 50% of directors’
approval. After assessment, the directors concluded that the
Group has sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the
relevant activities of B&HEEMEFMRAF, and therefore, the
Group has control over EBZEMRABRAF.

FILEERE AR AR is a subsidiary of the Group. The Group
has 55% ownership interests and voting rights in # IUEEBERTHE
fR A7) and the remaining 45% of equity interests are owned by a
shareholder that is unrelated to the Group.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over FILZEMEKAERAF based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
LB A AR A A unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding
in FILFEEMRERARF. The board of directors of A ILFEERR
[ABMRAF comprise 5 directors. The Group nominated and
appointed 3 directors in FILIEBRRBRAF and the relevant
activities of FILZEBRETAEMR A5 require over 50% of directors’
approval. After assessment, the directors concluded that the
Group has sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the
relevant activities of FILFEMEMRRERAF, and therefore, the
Group has control over BRI BR A A

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Control over HEZE HMRER L 7], BHEZFMREMR AL ], tHITE
BMRERL A and JSEZEFMTER L @(the “PRC Entities”)

The PRC Entities are subsidiaries of the Group although the
Group has only 49%, 50%, 51% and 51% ownership interests and
voting rights respectively in the PRC Entities and the remaining
equity interests of the PRC Entities are owned by shareholders
that are unrelated to the Group.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the
Group has control over the PRC Entities based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the PRC Entities unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding
in the PRC Entities. The shareholders of the PRC Entities signed
memorandums in which the other shareholders would agree the
Group’s decisions on operating, investing and financing activities
of the PRC Entities, and the other shareholders would agree
the appointment of the entire senior management of the PRC
Entities nominated by the Group. After assessment, the directors
concluded that the Group has sufficiently dominant voting
interest to direct the relevant activities of the PRC Entities, and
therefore, the Group has control over the PRC Entities.

(eanmzpeRss -—z-nz+%) QENN
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BE-_Z_NE+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2024
5. BEMSTHER A TH 5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
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AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next
financial year.

Impairment of gooadwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal. The value-in-use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or changes in
facts and circumstances result in downward revision of future
cash, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31st December,
2024, the carrying amount of goodwill was HK$4,775,023,000
(2023: HK$4,911,756,000).
calculation are disclosed in note 20.

Details of the recoverable amount

Recognition of gas connection revenue

Revenue from gas connection revenue is measured based on
the input method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Accordingly, any changes to
the actual costs incurred and the estimated budgeted costs
may have material impact on the revenue recognised in each
accounting period over the contract term. The management
of the Group is required to exercise significant judgments in
the assessment of the progress of satisfaction of performance
obligation, and the completion and accuracy of forecast costs to
complete.

JT® ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment based on the expected lifespan of those property,
plant and equipment. The useful lives of property, plant and
equipment could change significantly as a result of technical
innovation. When the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment are different from their estimated useful lives due to
the change of commercial and technological environment, such
difference will impact the depreciation charges and the amounts
of assets written down for future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
at 31st December, 2024 was HK$62,932,934,000 (2023:
HK$61,198,859,000).

(zmpsereran —z-ms+%) @I
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6. WEkaEER 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
ARERDERDBEETERAR Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
AMITES (X EZERKE) RS being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
ZER - BERARNEMSIRMEIRE resource allocation and assessment of segment performance,
HIREL o focuses on the types of goods or services delivered or provided.
LEREBMBMEERESH - K& The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:
ErEE 2 BOT -

(i) SHEERHEHIABEARHEEBRE (i) Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products —
m-HERREARRLER sale of natural gas and to a much lesser extent, liquefied
- FHEMIERRECABER petroleum gas for residential, commercial and industrial

use;

(i) MRER - BERRERER (i) Gas connection — construction of gas pipeline networks
ERMREN: under gas connection contracts;

(i) FER®B —HEMARE - 48 (iiiy Comprehensive services — sales of gas appliances, related
A G DA B ST (R AR A products and extended services;

(iv) REFTMEHRRY - B@ERAE (iv) Design and construction services — design, construction,
RIEE MR - BR - BERRE consultancy and management for gas connection projects;
%

(v) IR —RRATMRAEE (v) Gas stations — sale of gas fuel in natural gas filling stations.

RN -

REBAEE 2/ HER - WEE No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the
HeE o o reportable segments of the Group.

DHEEEES DB REVNBRB AT & Segment results represent the profit before taxation earned by
- BETREMRERA - FSKA - each segment, excluding sundry income, interest income, rental
HEWA - MBKRAE - REWEN income, finance costs, depreciation of investment properties,
E hRTBEKARESZH S - HE central administrative costs and directors’ salaries. This is the
REBMTARBAITEETHIERE S measure reported to the executive directors of the Company for
EEReHE DRI AR o the purpose of revenue allocation and assessment of segment

performance.

D) ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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WEko@EER (8) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

DR EREE

BaBENERNT

DEEERSD

BE-Z-NF+-A=+t-HILEFE

(CONTINUED)

The information of segment revenue, segment results, segment
assets and segment liabilities is as follows:

For the year ended 31st December, 2024

T HEMWa RFEE Segment revenue and results
HERAHRE
REREBER bt GERE RAREREE ity &t
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas Comprehensive  construction Gas
products connection services services stations Total
T T THR Tin Téx Tér
HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
W Revenue
NPEE External sales 85,565,630 9,250,793 4,205,793 418,694 3,234,978 102,675,888
£5 Results
LS Segment results 7,975,419 2,926,671 1,401,275 71,326 245,640 12,620,331
YNG4 Share of results of joint ventures 412,002
EtBEnTEE Share of results of associates 336,319
SEAA(REEEFEBI)  Finance costs (other than interest on lease
ibilfies) (719,344)
AARHRA Unallocated income 985,242
AOEFE Unallocated expenses (5,888,336)
Cxiail Profit before taxation 7,146,214

(gmpmrereres —z2-nz:5) EIE
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For the year ended 31st December, 2024

6.

WaERkosBEER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
BE-Z-_NFE+=ZA=+—HLHF For the year ended 31st December, 2024 (Continued)
E(#E)
PEEEREE Segment assets and liabilities
HERAHRR RitRE
RAREBER MRS GERE U JilEy fit
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas Comprehensive  construction Gas
products connection services services stations Total
TR TR FiEn TER iR iR
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
EE ASSETS
PHEE Segment assets 84,386,892 4,883,311 948,895 810,971 1,588,264 92,618,333
RAERRNER Interests in joint ventures 17,264,301
REEARANER Interests in associates 4,417,166
ERHEEE Deferred tax assets 568,474
FARLAEE (Mita) Unallocated corporate assets (Note ) 17,614,421
132,482,695
8E LIABILITIES
BEEEL Segment liabilities 15,171,877 13,076,154 355,152 2,722,050 131,586 31,456,819
fiRE Taxation payable 572,884
EiERERG Deferred tax liabilties 2,018,911
AARATAE (HEb) Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 33,563,105
68,511,719

JETTD) ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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WKk o EEFR (F) 6.

BE-Z-_NE+-A=+—HLHF

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31st December, 2024 (Continued)

E (&)
HE# Other information
FrESHEEMESBEAEMTAZR Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
18 assets:
BERAERE
HAREBER fais RORE  RARERER A AR a
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas Comprehensive construction Gas
products connection services services stations  Unallocated Total
Tin Tén Tén TR Tn TEn Tén
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
DEEBAE Additions to non-current asses 7,184,282 - - 2651 60,072 8,210 7,256,115
REREH Depreciafion and amortisation 3,591,661 - - 9,129 21,395 32,043 3,654,228
EUESE RS RRITE Impairment loss recognised on trade receivables,
net 63,578 5,399 2,052 179 1,306 - 4
HPEIGREEERSE Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables
e - - - - - 6219 (6219
AREERBERRDTE Impaiment loss recognised on coniract assefs, net - 9,208 - - - - 9,20
e /g  BERAENE  Gain on disposalwrie-off of property,
plant and equipment (44,384) - - - - - (44,384)
tERREERYR (Gain on disposal of right-of-use assels (38.212) - - - - - (38,212)
(EBRRERERLA —5=
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BE-Z-_WE+-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

6. WERDEEHR (&)

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2023
D EEW R FEE Segment revenue and results
HERAERE
I REEER IS GaRE  RAREREE g At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas  Comprehensive  construction Gas
products connection services services stations Total
Thr Fin T T FEn TiEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
Vi3 Revenue
e External sales 82,625,103 10,887,718 4,044,968 435,583 3,278,533 101,271,905
E Results
L Segment results 7,344 444 4,040,844 1,372,947 64,819 255,965 13,079,019
ElEAENAZE Share of results of joint ventures 277,682
EIEBELALE Share of results of associates 366,640
§HAA (MEREFISKI)  Finance costs (other than interest on lease
liabilities) (919,010)
AARHA Unallocated income 2,032,318
APEFZ Unallocated expenses (5,927,604)
BRAER Profit before taxation 8,909,045

((CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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BE-_Z-_NME+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

6. WERSEESN (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
BE-ZE-=H+ZHA=+—HLHF For the year ended 31st December, 2023 (Continued)
E (&)
PEEEREE Segment assets and liabilities
HERDHRE
e REEER hEES GeRE R REREE g B
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas  Comprehensive  construction Gas
products connection services services stations Total

ThR ThR TR TR TR ThL
HK§000 HK§000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000

AE ASSETS
PHEE Segment assets 85,649,753 5,342,116 789,748 766,891 1,780,576 94,329,084
REERTRER Interests in joint ventures 17,655,331
REEQAINER Interests in associates 4,646,000
ERfREE Deferred tax assets 608,779
FARLAEE (Wita) Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 20,631,891
137,871,085
=L LIABILITIES
HEEE Segment liabilties 20,429,836 13,692,011 395,132 2,471,982 156468 37,145,429
EMtE Taxation payable 604,816
ERfRAR Deferred tax liabiltties 3,036,857
AARATAE (Hb) Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 33,700,301
74,487 403

(zmpaereras —z-n=EH) TEIEE
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BE-Z_MF+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31st December, 2024

6. WakosEEH (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

BE-ZE-=H+ZHA=+—HLHF For the year ended 31st December, 2023 (Continued)

E (&)

HE# Other information

AENERENRDBEEMTAZR Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment

18 assets:

HERAHRE
MHRARER  RRER okl RERERRR g% AR aif
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas Comprehensive  construction Gas
products  connection services services stations  Unallocated Total
Thn TiEn Tin TEn TEn T TEn
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FEFRDAE Additions to non-current assets 6,117,561 - - 3,038 17,843 2350 6,141,692
ENEH Depreciation and amortisation 4,010,021 - - 2620 21,405 7,081 4061,117
ERESEFFESE  Impairment loss recognised on trade
BAEE receivables, net 120,250 16,010 3,005 150 4,081 - 143,49
AMENGEERE  Impaiment loss recognised on other
ERFE receivables, net - - - - - 21,115 21,115
AFEENEEEEE  Reversal of impairment loss on contract
#E assefs, net . (6,064) - - - - (6,064)
HE/HENE  BE  Gain on disposallwrite-off of property, plant
Rk and equipment (45,929) - - - - - (45,929)
HWEFFEEENS  Gainon disposal of right-of-use assets (29,06) - - - - - (29,056)

BiE Notes:

a. KOBATIEELE  REWE - a. Unallocated corporate assets represent goodwill, investment
EE IR AT A AL LA W E properties, equity instruments designated at fair value through other
HTH HAMCEMES  ZTRE comprehensive income, loans to a joint venture, certain trade and
W BEESAME b E W S - D KRR other receivables, pledged bank deposits and restricted cash and
TRHRRZRHR S ARIRITES R bank balances and cash.

b. KOBEATIBEEEMENS « BT b. Unallocated corporate liabilities represent other payables, bank
RHMES fmHEgE e TESREe and other borrowings, medium-term notes and certain long-term
& - liabilities.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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BE-_Z-_NME+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2024
WERkoEER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
HEE R Geographical information
BRAKBERDEE (TRESR Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding
BEMELIREEE)NEHREE financial assets and deferred tax assets) is presented based on
ERTEHmE7 the locations of the assets:
—E-F —EC=F
2024 2023
FERT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
s PRC 100,105,408 99,508,506
BB Hong Kong 8,345 7,450
100,113,753 99,515,956

NZMER - AEEHRAGREH
o

The Group’s revenue was derived in the PRC during both years.

Ly 25 T SR B P Timing of revenue recognition
a1 3 .

2024 2023
FERT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
RSB EER Goods transferred at a point in time 93,006,401 89,948,604
i Py ) 8 7 AR 755 Services transferred over time 9,669,487 11,323,301
KERFERKALLE Total revenue from contracts with customers 102,675,888 101,271,905

EBRXTEEFNER Information about major customers

REZMER - TEXAE-INBEP
52 2 B U i Ah AN SR 1B ER 10 % 3K0A
o

No single external customer contributed revenue from
transactions amounting to 10% or more of the revenue of the
Group during both years.

(EBRRERERDLA
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BE-_Z_NE+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2024
6. WEkoBEHR (E) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
REEFERMKA Revenue from contracts with customers

(i)  DIFURAEH

(i)

TRET AR E R AER A
BE ERE Tﬁﬂ#&iﬂﬂfﬁ]&ﬂ

EHEETROETMERD
R&fE:

Disaggregated revenue information

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

—E-IE ZEZ=F
2024 2023
FHET FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FriERHU A (GF AR RS Revenue recognised that was included in
HUMERAaRE) contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:
MRER Bt RER Gas connection/design and construction
AR % services 8,715,375 8,867,954
(i) BHEF (i) Performance obligations

BRAEEEOETNERB

m

HER D HR B R IGR E in

BHEERZNRRILERTT
MEBERRHE30AREH -

J& %) B AEBE = IRFS O BRI & ‘iﬁ
?EJETT MNRBERTRR
PERIETE - T’E*ﬁ%}f@%

Zﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%\ °

BHEER MR REA N HE

BRI
GREES- L

L1$ R 15 12 % JE
RIS RER AR

KHEEEE?Q&EEXL@HEF{&%

PERERH -

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of gas
and payment is generally due within 30 days from delivery.

Gas connection

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon
completion of installation and customer acceptance, except
for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required.

Comprehensive services

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of gas
appliances and related products and as extended services
are rendered. The payment is generally due upon delivery
of the gas appliances and related products and upon
completion of extended services and customer acceptance.
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BE-Z_MNF+-A=+—HLFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2024

6. WmkoBER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
REEFERMBA (&) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(i) BHIEME (&) (i)  Performance obligations (Continued)
At RiERRH Design and construction services

& %9 B (T B8 AR 75 By HiR {1 10 220 8
BT NHBEREREERE
FEXZREY  EHEFPABTEA
BRI o

bEp

BHRERZ RS ERETT
BERATR -

BRTEHN(RKBITRHD K
BIT)RZZT_M@F+ =
AZ+-—BHX5ER®RE
12,294,960,000/8 L (=T ==
£ 1 12,272,052,000/%7T) ° £
MRESEENBTROSEEE
TS TE— FNERILETT ©

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon
completion of installation and customer acceptance, except
for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required.

Gas stations

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of gas
and payment is generally in advance.

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at
31st December, 2024 were HK$12,294,960,000 (2023:
HK$12,272,052,000). The remaining performance
obligations related to gas connection are expected to be
recognised and satisfied within one year.

(zmpaereras —z-nE=H) @IE
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BE_Z_NE+-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

7. HtWA 7. OTHER INCOME
—E-IF —EC=F
2024 2023
FER FHIT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
KEAETHEAFEFAEME Dividend income from equity instruments
ElmmEm TAEMKR SN  designated at fair value through other
A comprehensive income 256 9,624
REH S E AR A Gain on deemed disposal of associates - 694,093
REHEEE A FMKE Gain on deemed disposal of joint ventures 741 382,127
HENE A R A Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 7,575 -
HE MY E  MENRZ  Gain on disposal/write-off of property, plant
& and equipment 44,384 45,929
HECAEEE S Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets 38,212 29,056
BT B & Government grants 218,086 229,609
iR B IR RS Integrated energy services 360,151 269,647
RITHERFBWA Interest income from bank deposits 88,623 62,108
E AT RF B (BFEE) Interest income from other deposits (Note) 96,031 211,032
RATNARZRME AR Interest income from deposits placed with a
FRF B U A fellow subsidiary 4,824 26,629
PN RSN Interest income from associates 2,104 2,366
REAEDRKFEUA Interest income from joint ventures 63,067 66,860
REBEZRMBAGIREET Interest income from loans to fellow
EOEYRSRION subsidiaries 53,772 12,024
RELEAONELIWA Rental income from operating leases 48,575 78,259
EHfh Others 176,927 142,664
1,203,328 2,261,927
Bt Note:
HE_Z-_MFR-_FT_=F+-A=+ For the years ended 31st December, 2024 and 2023, interest income
—BIEFE  REEMEXNANERAR from other deposits consisted of interest income from principal protected
FERBERLAR R E A RITE RN AARS T deposits and bank financing products denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
BERRATFREBRITHREEROFEWA - issued by banks in the PRC.
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8. BB 8. FINANCE COSTS
—E-IF —EC=F
2024 2023
FER FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
UTHIEZFE Interest on:
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 696,138 879,411
R EER Super short-term commercial papers - 4,544
FREAEE Medium-term notes 15,658 16,082
HEAGENE Interest on lease liabilities 21,047 21,921
e & & RRIFRIE Amounts due to joint ventures 1,720 1,869
JERS AR R AR A R RRIE Amounts due to intermediate holding

companies 4,344 14,430
FEAST R RO A AR Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries - 1,783

FERHB A RI3EE H%E Amounts due to non-controlling interests of
HIE subsidiaries 1,329 60
HEREEE Other long-term liabilities 155 831
740,391 940,931

(zmpreperas —z-nr+x) QN
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BE_Z_NE+-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

9. BRBLAIREF 9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
—E-IF —EC=F
2024 2023
B+ FBT FAT
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BREATDE M BNk Profit before taxation has been arrived
(5t A) = at after charging/(crediting):
B IR Staff costs
=W Directors’ emoluments 11 10,308 11,756
EMBET Other staff
— e MALA ~ Salaries and bonus 4,291,937 4,116,681
— HigH) — Other benefits 1,242,785 1,165,531
— R IRRE I ET B R - Retirement benefit scheme
contributions 1,097,511 1,044,893
B TR Total staff costs 6,642,541 6,338,861
ZEET N & Auditor’s remuneration 16,325 14,236
W BRERRETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 14 3,101,647 3,205,192
REMENE Depreciation of investment properties 15 32,043 27,051
FRREENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16(a) 317,232 423,929
Hipmp EE#S (257 Amortisation of other intangible
ATTHAX) assets (included in administrative
expenses) 21 203,306 404,945
SRREREERMBEFRE Impairment of financial and contract
assets, net
— EWE SERFURER - Impairment recognised on trade
RFEE receivables, net 24 72,714 143,496
— Hib ORI E — Impairment (reversed)/recognised
(#E),/ HRFHE on other receivables, net (6,218) 21,115
—AREEREBERR S - Impairment recognised/(reversed)
(fsm) 558 on contract assets, net 25 9,208 (6,064)
KT ATHEEBETEMH  Lease payments not included in the
FOKNE=N measurement of lease liabilities 16(c) 65,750 81,989

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )




R BB IRRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

E-E_NE+-A=1+—HILEEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

10. FrE 8

10. INCOME TAX

—BopE ZE=F
2024 2023
FER FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
RIEX HBE - The tax charge comprises:
BVERTIE Current taxation
FEMEMBHUNLERBS  PRC Enterprise Income Tax, withholding tax
Bl EE 9k R ER for distributable profits and intergroup
NEAKTEIF restructuring of investments in the PRC 2,055,797 1,876,618
BAFERETR Under-provision in prior years 19,360 18,330
2,075,157 1,894,948
IRIEFEIE (P15E34) Deferred taxation (Note 34) (77,237) (44,789)
1,997,920 1,850,159

FRNTEMNEHRIDRIBEREFTEN
AEHERTE MR E16.5% (—F =
=% 1 16.5%) iR E - ARFRHE
REBLENHBARNMEFEAN
WEERBERN - Bt - WENERE
MIEIWMRAHRBARNSTEE -

IR 08 o 2N R 2R £ 3 P 8 B
(TR EFBB4)) B2 EFE A
i bl o KR 2 AR B R A
25%  fEETEMEREHEEES
BRI -

BEMHRAREREBABBEAT
BERBA (BT ——FE15) -
SNEDEERFANIEREEDIKER
ZETNF— A — BRIREEY N B
TR PRI R S BN TR
7 5% B & AR 45 P EE A I T 20 IR B
BB BIZEREHBERERE 275
AR H A A E AR RIS 91 1RIZ5% =
10% KB F @M DR TS (i E
BRI -

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year. The Company and its subsidiaries
operating in Hong Kong did not have assessable profits,
accordingly no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made in the consolidated financial statements for both years.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% except for
certain group entities which are entitled to various concessionary
tax rates or tax exemptions and reliefs.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and the
State Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 2011 No. 1, only the
profits earned by foreign-investment enterprises prior to 1st
January, 2008, when distributed to foreign investors, can be
grandfathered and exempted from withholding tax. Whereas
dividend distributed out of the profits generated thereafter,
shall be subject to the Enterprise Income Tax at 5% or 10% and
withheld by the PRC entities, pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the
New Law and Article 91 of its Detailed Implementation Rules.

(ERRRERERAR —B_NEEH)




e B RRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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10. A8 %L (&) 10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
FARBEZHEGEERREMEES The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
a3k BT ADE MM B RN T ¢ taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

—E-F —EC=F
2024 2023
FHET FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
35 A A Profit before taxation 7,746,214 8,909,045
WEB TSI %25% (—ZZ = Tax at the applicable income tax rate of 25%
=1 1 25%) AT EMTIE (2023: 25%) 1,936,554 2,227,261
RIS AET AR B Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax
SR purposes 332,054 285,879
TSR EARRIARNT Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
BB purposes (54,771) (328,763)
EIEALRAREENTEFE Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (103,001) (69,421)
FEMLESE N R EBENBBFE Tax effect of share of results of associates (84,080) (91,660)
FERHIBEEEBNRETE  Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 78,621 102,883
B BT AREROFIEEIE Utilisation of tax losses previously not
recognised (59,067) (108,357)
REENEAENPAED Income tax at concessionary rates (134,706) (190,231)
BRI EIEE R DR FI &5 Withholding tax for distributable profits and
B N E AR TR intergroup restructuring of investments in
the PRC 76,591 10,084
BTFERETR Under-provision in prior years 19,360 18,330
Hit Others (9,635) (10,846)
FARIBEZ M Tax charge for the year 1,997,920 1,850,159
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M. EERTHEAZNESRAR 11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

BEeFES EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES
B Directors
ERgENESOHSOT ¢ The emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as follows:
a1 T5ZE
204 023
BERAR  RUGEN  BAEAR FeREM  BMAEH  RMENE
e ] 5 Bt & Bt Bl e £l ait
Performance Retirement Performance ~ Retirement
Salaries related benefit Salaries related Deneft
and other incentive schemes and other incentive schemes
EEE Name of directors Fees benefits ~ payments  contributions Total Fees benefits payments  contributions Total

T T T T T TiEn L L TEr TR
HKS' 000 HKS 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS 000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000  HKS000

#iTEE (Kifa) Executive directors

(Note a)
57 Yang Ping - 1,540 1450 103 3093 - 159 2170 16 3%
8 (M) Qin Yan (Note 2] - 91 1,950 104 3,005 - - - - -
F0% (Bita) Li Xiaoshuang (Note 2] - o4 1,956 106 3010 - 1114 1370 169 2653
Bl (Mita) Ge Bin (Note a) - - - - - - 1455 2360 157 3072

FHTEE(KiEd)  Non-executive directors

(Note d)
TR (i) Wang Chuandong (Note b) - - - - - B N B ) B
Te# Wang Gaogang - - - - - B} B B ) )
82 (1) Liu Jian (Note b) - - - - - - _ B} B B
B (Bsko) Ge Lu(Note'b) - - - - - - _ _ B B
X4 () Li Weinei (Note b) - - - - - , , , ) B
&5 (M) Zhang Junzheng (Note b) - - - - - - - _ B} B
53 (i) Liu Xiaogong (Note b) - - - - - B B - } B
i (Hitb) He Youdong (Note b) - - - - - B B} B B B

BuFanEs Independent non-

executive directors
EER Wong Tak Sing 30 - - - 300 30 _ _ B} k)
Az Yu Hon To, David 300 - - - 300 30 B B - 30
Laad] Yang Yuchuen 300 - - - 300 30 - - - 30
FE8 (k) Li Pok Yan (Note c) 30 - - - 300 m - _ B} 7
§RE (i) Hu Xiaoyong (Note ¢} - - - - - 3 _ _ _ 0

1,200 3439 5,356 3 10,308 1200 4164 5900 49 11,756

(gmmrereres —2-nz=5) QTN
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M. EERTREATMERESR
EeHESE (&)

BE(H)
Bzt -

(a) BFELEER-_ZE_mENA+KAE
BZAARDNRERFEERE - Bk
FERZZT_=F+_ALBEER
ARAMITESREERF - MB/N&Ex
AERZT_=F+_AtBEZT
BITES  RERFTBEENTIA
2EHEM - T L ITER-_T_MF
FTZA+EREZEAHTES &
ERATHER BB R 2 R

(b) MARREERBZIEBLAECHR T
ZENAZ+HBEEHIERITES
MEBRLZTER-_T-_=FhA=-1+
+tHEZTRINTES - THE R
AERZZZWFENA T RBERER
RRAFNITEZREZTEERE - T8
BROUCERREBRAECKR T _MF
+—AZ+hBEZTAARARE
TES - ZREAEENR TR F—
AZ+—BBEIFPITEE  TEN
SEBR-ZE-_RAF—A=-+—HE
ZERIERITES -

(c) MWEBXA4CHR-_TE-_=FhA-+
+tHEEBYINTES  MTHR
FEBR -_E-_=FAA-t++tHEE
ZHABULINTES -

(d) FEHTEER_ET_MER-_T_=
FHMEHER (£E) BRAQ A
PEk E D FHE o

A EMBRTESNME DT BHY
WEHRRB RAKEEREHIEM
HBRTE o A L& FEMITE R RIBIL
FERTEENME D EEHERSE
RARBEFREHARE -

TRAESERNESRERZMESF
EHEEMME

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

Directors (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Mr. Yang Ping has been appointed as the Chairman of the Board
of the Company on 16th August, 2024. Mr. Ge Bin has resigned as
an executive director and the vice chairman of the Company on
7th December, 2023 and Mr. Li Xiaoshuang has been appointed as
an executive director on 7th December, 2023 and the emolument
disclosed in above table represents compensation for the full year.
Ms. Qin Yan has been appointed as an executive director on 17th
December, 2024 and the emolument disclosed in above table
represents compensation for the full year.

(b) Mr. He Youdong and Mr. Liu Xiaoyong have resigned as non-
executive directors on 27th September, 2023 and Ms. Ge Lu has
been appointed as a non-executive director on 27th September
2023. Mr. Wang Chuandong has resigned as a non-executive
director and the Chairman of the Board of the Company on 16th
August, 2024. Mr. LI Weiwei and Mr. Zhang Junzheng have been
appointed as non-executive directors on 29th November, 2024. Mr.
Liu Jian has resigned as a non-executive director on 21st January,
2025 and Mr. Fang Xin has been appointed as a non-executive
director on 21st January, 2025.

(c) Mr. Hu Xiaoyong has resigned as an independent non-executive
director on 27th September, 2023 and Mr. Li Pok Yan has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director on 27th
September, 2023.

(d) The emoluments of the non-executive directors for 2024 and 2023
were borne or partially borne by China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The emoluments of the non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors
shown above were paid for their services as directors of the
Company.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any
emoluments in both years.
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M. EERTREATMERESR
EeHES (&)

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

== Employees

AEERAEEHFALEE=2(Z
To=FZR)TEE  HEN
HeFEHan X - HHmE (%
—ZE MABA)RHER (RELIFE
REBEEHITHRAE) WEEST

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included three
(2023: three) of the executive directors, details of whose
emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of the remaining
two (2023: two) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Group are as follows:

—E-UF —F-=
2024 2023
FHBT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
e REMBA Salaries and other benefits 2,304 2,678
WITER S Performance related incentive payments 3,590 4,097
RIREA T B Retirement benefit scheme contributions 209 339
6,103 7,114
LiiEENMEN FUTEHE : The emoluments of the above employees are within the following

bands:

—E-ME —E-=4F
2024 2023
EEAH EEAH
Number of Number of
employees employees
3,000,001/&7C23,500,000/%8 7T HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 2 1
3,500,0018 7L E 4,000,000/8 7T HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 - 1
4,000,001 7L E 4,500,000/8 7T HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 - -
4,500,001% 7L E5,000,000/8 7T HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 - -
5,000,001% 7L £ 5,500,000/8 7T HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 - -
5,500,001,% 75 26,000,000/8 7T HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 - -
2 2

(EBRRERERDLA
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12. RE 12. DIVIDENDS
—E-IF —E-=F
2024 2023
FBT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FRERADIKHRE : Dividends recognised as distribution during
the year:
ZE-FEFHRE — FMR25 2024 interim dividend - 25 HK cents per
B(ZF==F : 2T == share (2023: 2023 interim dividend - 15
FHREARE — SR 155810) HK cents per share) 567,054 340,232
—E_=F KK E — B 2023 final dividend - 100.69 HK cents per
100.69%81 Il (ZE==%F : —  share (2023: 2022 final dividend — 90 HK
T FRERKRE — TR0  cents per share)
(D) 2,283,866 2,041,394
2,850,920 2,381,626

EERFENBE_ZT_ME+=
A=Z+—BLEFEONRAKRESR
70.008Ml (ZZE==4% : 100.69/8
i) » #8%83%E1,587,770,000/8 7T (=
T = =4 : 2 283,866,000/87T) °

13. BREF 13.
SREREF T RA T BRI -

following data:

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
70.00 HK cents (2023: 100.69 HK cents) per share for the
year ended 31st December, 2024 in an aggregate amount of
HK$1,587,770,000 (2023: HK$2,283,866,000).

—EZWF —EC=F
2024 2023
FHET FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BA : Earnings:
AUETESEREARFINE  Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings
F(RRAEHE ANEIEE per share (profit for the year attributable to
A ) owners of the Company) 4,088,148 5,223,705
—Z-IEFE —E=F
2024 2023
BRBHE : Number of shares:
BB SREAZFIMI  Weighted average number of shares in issue
EFHEEITROEE R less shares held for incentive award scheme
BB ERFEMNRG for the purpose of basic earnings per share 2,268,243,405 2,268,215,487

HAMEFET D ETNEECLE
B 25 FRREER T o

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )

No diluted earnings per share is presented as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.
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14. Y5 - BERRE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

B HE BERRE  MREE  BARRE  EEMREE RE REIE &
Plant, machinery Furniture and Leasehold Motor ~ Construction
Buildings  and equipment  Gas pipelines fixtures  improvements vehicles in progress Total
i Tt Thn Thn T Thn Tt Tién Thn
Notes HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
A CosT
W52 =§-A-H At 1st January, 2023 7620343 5019402 43721710 1182401 504,526 836241 ANTI0 62807834
g Additions 1,066 1,162,003 52,581 9,285 3,48 312240 3974224 H34AN
#hatt Business combinations 1,509,080 %9173 8153730 123,884 18,985 97806 1265950 11418578
& /i Disposalsfurite-off (62,580) (160,480) (15,753) (32.220) (9.267) (75,013) (13,983) (459,256)
BRENFEL Transfer from investment
properties 15 1,743 - - - - - - 1743
b Reclassitication 417,660 163306 4821628 6,669 26,602 - (b43869) -
Eifg Exchange adjustments (98,269) (72510) (588,225) (14877) (6,018) (11761) (61,995) (853,675)
RIFZZEFZA=T-8 At 31st Decemoer, 2023 9,389,023 6370894 56,051,671 1,361,202 660,266 678497 3835482 7834708
HE Additions 9454 1,382,062 - 143,923 44,636 5% 4898298 6512929
hak Business comoinations % 05 o K % - 120 - A
e /i Disposalsfwrite-off (193649) (343,057) (599,892) (53,681) (7.984) (79.521) (67.706) (1,345,490
ERERANS Transfer o ivestment
properties 15 (8210) - - - - - - (8210)
i Reclassitication 153,681 138600 4208460 - 8497 - (5891,2%) -
Ei@E Exchange adjusiments (226.521) (1755%)  (874542) (378%) (10914) (18683)  (117.026)  (1.461057)
RIBZMETZA=T-8 At 31st Decemboer, 2024 10,506,283 7313209 58816013 1413703 694,501 615000 2657770 82,076,508
(EBRRERERLA —5=
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14. )% - BERRZE (&) 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)
82 BR BERRE HeEE  AAREE  EEVERS E ERIR fit
Plant, machinery Furniture and Leasehold Motor  Construction
Buildings  and equipment  Gas pipelines fixtures  improvements vehicles in progress Total

E3 Tin TR TiEn Tin TiEn Tin L TR
Notes HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK§ 000

biE] DEPRECIATION
W-52=E-5-1 At 1st January, 2023 1,664,306 2311368 9127720 620,332 369,136 340,198 - 14433060
31 Provided for the year 572,069 4131 1,946,230 145,69 40530 93340 - 3519
e /Mgl Eiminated on disposalfwrite-off (26,483) (120,105 (33643) (10,211) (2972) (70,323) - )
ERENZED Transfer from investment

properties 15 619 - - - - - - 619
S Exchange adjustments (23,660) (50,816) (130,160) (10,602) (3.597) (8,123) - (226,958)
WZFZ=F+ZA=1-B At 31t December, 2023 2,186,851 2541774 0910147 745215 403097 355,09 - 11148176
FEER Provided for the year 623051 570,053 1619935 163,171 46,091 88,746 - 3101647
e /HEniR Eliminated on disposalfwrite-off (100,674) (322,261) (161,550) (36,133) (5,316) (74,304) - (700238)
Y Transfer fo investment

properties 15 (3775) - - - - - - (3779)
Exfg Exchange adjustments (70513) (108,603) (181,249) (22,3%9) (6,345) (13.127) - (402,236)
WZFMETZA=T-B At 31t December, 2024 2,634,940 2686963 12,167,283 840,454 41507 356,407 - 19143574
L] CARRYING VALUES
WZEZMETZA=1-8 Attt December, 2024 7871343 4686206 46,628,730 573,49 26,974 %8602 2657710 62,932,934
WZFZZEFZA=T-B At it December, 2023 1200172 3623120 4514152 616,987 27,169 33406 3835482 61,198,859

((CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )




BE

—ECENE+ZA=t+-BLEFE

e R RMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2024

14. Y% - BMERRE ()

BRAEEEFREH A4 43,131,000%8
T~ 5,645,000/5 7T & 7,327,000 7T
WETASEEEF WE - #ERE
HUARRREBENR _T_=F+=H
=+ AWEELAAE@IRITT A
HEE114,873,000/8 7T (B R AFEE
B)EEMIN R -mWE+—A
=+—8 SEHECEERDE - &’

Lt BENEREBEE (EET
T2RRON) b ET AT 6 F A AT K
HETFRIBEERUESETFUITEND
T

BF

Buildings

M - #es MR E

Plant, machinery and equipment
MeEE

Gas pipelines

B EE

Furniture and fixtures
HEMEEE

Leasehold improvements
AE

Motor vehicles

REENEFARAE L F o

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

Except for certain of the Group’s buildings, plant, machinery
and equipment and gas pipelines with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$3,131,000, HK$5,645,000 and HK$7,327,000
respectively were pledged to secure bank and other borrowings
of HK$114,873,000 at 31st December, 2023, which were repaid
in this year, there was no other pledged property, plant and
equipment as at 31st December, 2024.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual
values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

25405

25 to 40 years
5Z20F

5 to 20 years
20E 404

20 to 40 years
3E12%F

31to 12 years
CEES

3 to 5 years
3',E10%F
3'/s to 10 years

The Group’s buildings are situated on the land in the PRC.

(zeprereran —2-nF5%) EEEE
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BE-_Z_NE+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2024
15. REWE 15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

i FAET

Notes HK$'000
AR COST
RZZE—=F—H—H At 1st January, 2023 138,112
NE Addition 2,350
ES it Business combinations 858,314
EEYX - HELRE Transfer to property, plant and equipment 14 (1,743)
M 34, 3 B Exchange adjustments (3,470)
WZEB-=F+-R=+—H At 31st December, 2023 993,563
HREEYE  BEIR Transfer from property, plant and equipment 14 8,210
P& 5 A % Exchange adjustments (19,031)
RZTZWFE+=A=+—H At 31st December, 2024 982,742
e DEPRECIATION
R-ZE-_=F—H—H At 1st January, 2023 54,606
FERME Provided for the year 27,051
HEYE - HEREE Transfer to property, plant and equipment 14 (619)
ME 5, Exchange adjustments (505)
RZBZ=F+=ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2023 80,533
FERME Provided for the year 32,043
EEAWE  BERH Transfer from property, plant and equipment 14 3,775
M 3, 38 B Exchange adjustments (5,041)
WZZE-MFE+=-R=+—H At 31st December, 2024 111,310
BREE CARRYING VALUES
RZZZWFE+=A=+—H At 31st December, 2024 871,432
RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2023 913,030

AEBEMERARBESHNYERES
BUAKRFERE - XD EREKREY
EAR - FEDRIKTHEEFHUER
BOEMIH IR B MR ARETIR

RIB-WMER-ZE-_=F+-A=
T—B AEENMAREMESL
R E -

All of the Group’s property interests to earn rentals are measured

using the cost model and are classified and accounted for as

investment properties. Depreciation is provided to write off the

cost of investment properties using the straight-line method over

the remaining terms of the leases.

At 31st December, 2024 and 2023, all of the Group’s investment

properties were situated in the PRC.

JEEDD ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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BE-Z_MNF+-A=+—HLFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2024

16. HE 16. LEASES
AEBEREAA The Group as a lessee
AEEGRAREXBEENET K The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings,
B HBELXEBELZEBEENHHES plant, machinery and equipment used in its operations. Lump
49 o MEEIRATEL — IR MR A sum payments were generally made upfront to acquire the leased
MEFWERE LT HEA2250 land from the owners with lease periods of 2 to 50 years, and no
FmMBEZELHHEENKRK - & ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land
TERES NEMKIE - EF a7 H leases. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between
BER2E2F  MEE - #EZNE 2 and 25 years, and leases of plant, machinery and equipment
HEHHBBE N F22244F © have lease terms between 2 and 24 years.
(a) RZABEE (a) Right-of-use assets
AEEFAEAEEENREE The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
KEBHT the movements during the year are as follows:
BE - BER
HELH gF R At
Plant,
machinery
Leasehold and
land Buildings equipment Total
=3 TEL FHEL THEL TEL
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZ-=%—F—H As at 1st January, 2023 2,941,475 275,536 57,279 3,274,290
RE Additions 171,030 200,291 13,137 384,458
*BaM Business combinations 1,595,007 - - 1,595,007
HeE Disposals (28,861) - - (28,861)
WERX Depreciation charge (294,665) (120,575) (8,689) (423,929)
Rk Exchange adjustments (40,663) (5,016) (258) (45,937)
RZZ-=F+-F=1+—H As at 31st December, 2023 4,343,323 350,236 61,469 4,755,028
wNE Additions 138,144 223,933 22,612 384,689
¥Batt Business combinations 38 201 355 - 556
HeE Disposals (29,913) (699) (4,101) (34,713)
HERX Depreciation charge (160,148) (142,929) (14,155) (317,232)
EaEEEd Exchange adjustments (74,125) (22,115) (4,693) (100,933)
RZZZMEFTZA=1+—H Asat31st December, 2024 4,217,482 408,781 61,132 4,687,395
RZE-_MFEF+=_A=+— At 31st December, 2024, certain of the right-of-use assets
H - BREFEEL /A3,549,000% with a net carrying amount of approximately HK$3,549,000
JT(ZE =% :3,800,000/% (2023: HK$3,800,000) were pledged to secure bank and
TOMETEAREED HE other borrowings of HK$2,159,000 (2023: HK$114,873,000)
WU AREBMBRITREMEE of the Group.

2,159,000 L (=T == :
114,873,000 7t ) {EIK I -

(zmpeersran —2-mE42%) @EIN
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16. HE (&) 16. LEASES (CONTINUED)
REBEREBA (F) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) HEEE (b) Lease liabilities
—E-ME —Eo=F
2024 2023
Bt BT FHT
Note HK$’ 000 HK$'000
R—A—HKEEE Carrying amount at 1st January 472,190 407,395
e New leases 238,490 194,604
a0 Business combinations 38 381 11,171
FREHRTSILIE Accretion of interest recognised during
the year 21,047 21,921
& H AR Exchange adjustments (14,345) (17,864)
A Payments (194,243) (145,037)
W+ZA=+—HmWIRAME Carrying amount at 31st December
(P5E) (Note) 523,520 472,190
DA Analysed into:
mENE S Current portion 132,771 144,160
FEREE D Non-current portion 390,749 328,030
Mz :FHE B E87,379,000/8 T (= Note: Lease liability of HK$87,379,000 (2023: HK$50,672,000) is
T =4 :50,672,000/%7T) related to fellow subsidiaries.
HE R B BB -
(c) RIEz HHER R BB B0 (c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases
T are as follows:
—EWNEFE —EI=F
2024 2023
FERT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
HEAEFR Interest on lease liabilities 21,047 21,921
FREEEFERS Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets 317,232 423,929
IS HATE MIKEEEEME Expense relating to short-term leases
BN GrATTEAX and leases of low-value assets
ARSHERDHEAS) (included in administrative expenses
and selling and distribution expenses) 65,750 81,989
Bam P ERFIELRTE Total amount recognised in profit or loss 404,029 527,839

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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BE-Z_MNF+-A=+—HLFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2024

16. HE (&) 16. LEASES (CONTINUED)
REBERHBEA The Group as a lessor
RIE-_NER T -_=F+-/F= At 31st December, 2024 and 2023, the undiscounted lease
+—H - BEARSEREREMERFZ payments receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
TR AHCEHENEYCRANIREES cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:
I ¢
—EZWNF —E-=F
2024 2023
Fix FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
—FR Within one year 42,436 14,697
F_FEERT (BREEEWMT) In the second to fifth years inclusive 104,876 24,778
RFUE After five years 1,259 4,298
148,571 43,773
17. REERARINER 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
—EZME —TE=F
2024 2023
FBT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
(I FEE Share of net assets 15,462,961 15,814,607
WREEERNEE Goodwill on acquisition 1,801,340 1,840,724
17,264,301 17,655,331
RBERR  AEENETESE QA Details of the Group’s principal joint ventures at the end of the
FBEHAHITEAT reporting period are set out in note 47.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_NME+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

17. REE AR ER () 17.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)
EEMEUYHFBEANSELTMNE Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not
ER individually material:
—g-mE —B-=%
2024 2023
FERT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
AEBE(DERN K2 The Group’s share of profit and total
1azE comprehensive income 180,893 199,404
REBMRZEEERAIN Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
ERREELRE interests in these joint ventures 4,884,048 4,484,206
18. REEE N 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—ZE-ImE ZEZ=F
2024 2023
FHERT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BIFEE Share of net assets 4,415,702 4,644,504
WS E £ MR Goodwill on acquisition 1,464 1,496
4,417,166 4,646,000
REEER - NREBMEZEHE QA Details of the Group’s principal associates at the end of the
B M 48 - reporting period are set out in note 48.
FEBRENTNREERRE : Summarised financial information of material associates:
REZEEAVBRET  BELQTR The associates are accounted for using the equity method in
FREZRIEANRR © these consolidated financial statements.

(zmpaereras —z-mEEH) @R
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BE-—T-—_ME+=-A=t+—HLEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

18. REFE N AR (&) 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
FTERENTNMBERBE : (&) Summarised financial information of material associates:
(Continued)
AEBMNEZEHRE AN BRIEER Summarised financial information in respect of A #¥AR & B
BOBRAR ([REAMRR]) R=_ZF= ARATE (“BEAR”), the Group’s material associate, as at 31st
NWERZZFE_=F+ZA=+—HH December, 2024 and 2023, is set out below.

PHERRESINMNT -

RERR

—E-WmEF —ECZF

2024 2023

FET FHT

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

MENEE Current assets 4,161,955 3,890,518

ERBEE Non-current assets 4,848,865 5,126,932

mENEE Current liabilities (3,465,396) (3,534,423)

FERBRIE Non-current liabilities (212,624) (254,432)

e M Non-controlling interests (289,776) (299,562)

RERR

—E-NE —E-=F

2024 2023

FBT FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

A Revenue 5,744,730 5,708,107
FREFNRE2ERZBTE Profit and total comprehensive income

for the year 563,509 614,520
FRNABEATTIKMALE  Dividends declared from the associate

during the year 94,663 95,341

((CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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—ME+=—HA=+—HLEFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2024

TEBEQRNUBERBE : (&)

B AR E RN A BB RE
PO R B B 4 ) ) 25 10 R T L
mT -

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material associates:
(Continued)

A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the interests in the associate recognised
in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

RERR
—E-IEFE —E-=F
2024 2023
FER FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
A ANERBEABFEE  Net assets of the associate attributable to
owners 5,043,024 4,929,033
NEENBE R RIMHEF#EE Proportion of the Group’s ownership
7 Eb A5 interests in associates 32.40% 32.40%
REBE(NFEE The Group’s share of net assets 1,633,940 1,597,007
[EES Goodwill 1,464 1,496
RUEERAFERAENFE  Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition 41,163 130,366
REBREE R RERD Carrying amount of the Group's interests in
BREE associates 1,676,567 1,728,869
EWERENATE (M) Fair value of listed investments (Note) 3,119,395 3,254,336

M EmRON A FESE (E-RAT
EFt8) TR EERTIGNTHERE -

Note: The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value
measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.

BREBIR RS E 2 = BN SR E AR RO
mE o HAKEHERARLREA
B ERMRERARETHMRE
B AREMREBOARWRE - 2
o B R B A KRR A RN R
HERBMHARRKES - EX 2
EEMEIN P o

K EBA S is principally engaged in similar activities to the
Group and are strategic to the Group’s activities of the sale of
natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas, the construction of gas
pipeline networks under gas connection contracts, the design,
construction, consultancy and management for gas connection
projects and the sale of gas fuel in natural gas filling stations. Its
principal place of business is the PRC.

(zmpaerarsn —2-nzeR) @
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BE-—T-—_ME+=-A=t+—HLEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

18. REFE N AR (&) 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
FTEBHEQNRANTBERBRE : (&) Summarised financial information of material associates:
(Continued)

BEMEWIHFBEANBE QNG Aggregate information of associates that are not individually
FHER material:

—E-IF —EC=F

2024 2023

FET FET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

NEFRMEME2EYZE  The Group’s share of profit and total

1BEE comprehensive income 153,742 194,662
NEBNZESH SN FHEZEDN Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
BREEAA%E interests in these associates 2,740,599 2,917,131

19. EERDFEHFARMEZE 19. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR

W ERTAE VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

—BomE =%

2024 2023

FTHET FET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

Fi#ERTA  BAFE Listed equity instruments, at fair value 61,832 66,761

FLETEETE  BAFE Unlisted equity instruments, at fair value (Note)

(Bi3E) 401,735 315,883

463,567 382,644

BisE « bitias TEANAIBEMIEE XA Note: The above equity instruments were irrevocably designated at fair

FEFARMZERS - AANEKE value through other comprehensive income as the Group considers
RRZSREMBURILE - these investments to be strategic in nature.
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BE-Z_MNF+-A=+—HLFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2024

20. & 20. GOODWILL
i FAET
Note HK$'000
BREME CARRYING VALUE
R-ZE-_=F—HF—H At 1st January, 2023 2,154,360
¥BE0 Business combinations 2,879,586
ME 5, 3R 8 Exchange adjustments (122,190)
R-ZE-_=F+-A=+—H” At 31st December, 2023 4,911,756
EBE0 Business combinations 38 17,402
bE 5 % Exchange adjustments (154,135)
RZZZWFE+=A=+—H At 31st December, 2024 4,775,023
HEBEHMRENEMEEHEEETE Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to
HBIBRZEREHZRACELSE cash-generating units (“CGUs") that are expected to benefit
L ([REEEEL]) - EERER from that business combination. Management considers that
AmMs  BRERSMBARAB L each subsidiary represents a separate CGU for the purpose of
IR ESEEEN - goodwill impairment testing.

(gmmmereraes —z2-nz=5) QEEE
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BE-Z_MF+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31st December, 2024

20. HE& (&)

RmEMER  BENREEEEEER
WA THIE A RIMELMEE

20. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of
goodwill mainly represented goodwill arising from the acquisition
of subsidiaries as follows:

—E-mE B

2024 2023

Fax FHT

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

EEMRREBRMNBRAA (MiEb) EEMRAEBERHD BRR2AF(Note b) 2,310,957 2,389,165
mlEBERAREREEAR (Mikb)  IIEBRAREREFELQF(Note b) 654,810 676,970
RRAER (EE)ERERAF (MiZb) RAKR(EE)ZERARZATF(Note b) 261,050 269,885
ZINERRRER AR (HiFa) ZNEERRBR AT (Note a) 200,584 207,372
BAIRER D BR AR (FIEEDb) #R AR SRR 1D B BR A Al (Note b) 204,557 204,557
EFEERRER AT (MiEb) EPI=E B R AR AR (Note b) 155,873 161,148
ZREERABRAR (MiEb) ZRE MR R BBRAE(Note b) 117,208 121,175
RzZEHREER AT (zEa) RzZEHMRAER 2T (Note a) 111,351 115,119
EHRR (L8 BRAA (HiFa) = HMA(LEE)BR2AE(Note a) 107,732 111,378
mREBRRERAF (FEa) R E R RAR AR (Note a) 93,817 96,992
REFERRRER AT (HiEb) REZE BT AR AR (Note b) 68,590 70,911
ERERGSEERBMR AR (MiEc) E[GE RS ERBMR AT (Note ¢) 65,580 67,799
BMARRERLAF (Kidka) BINRE AR A A (Note a) 62,059 64,159
BRELZEBRRAR AR (HiEa) R REERR AR 2A R (Note a) 47,017 48,608
SHR=ZSRARBREALT (Hita) "HE=RRXARBREELF(Note a) 43,714 45,193
HETHRRAARERAF (fEb) FHEMMEEXARERATFR(Note b) 39,337 40,668
ZiHERBRRBR AR (HzEa) Z5E B K AR AR (Note a) 28,554 29,520
CEZEERRAERAR (HiEa) CHESEEMRRER2AF(Note a) 25,890 26,766
BN E R RN AR A F (Fidka) BN R R D B R 2 & (Note a) 25,615 26,482
XILERARARERAF (Kizka) LB R AR BBR A F(Note a) 20,746 21,448
ARZEBRRERAF (FizEa) AR R RAR A7 (Note a) 19,583 20,246
HAb (Kizxa) Others (Note a) 110,399 96,195
4,775,023 4,911,756

BEE -

ZERTELBUMPREED R
() HE R SRR MR E
s (IR R (& A R -

ZERSELEEUMPIREED
A () HE RO HRERE B E
@ (VRREER (hVEERE &
(iv) ISR

ReEEBURFHA LR (REE
) -

Notes:

a. These CGUs are engaged in the operating segments of (i) the sale

and distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection;

and (iii) comprehensive services.

b. These CGUs are engaged in the operating segments of (i) the sale
and distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection;
(iii) comprehensive services; and (iv) gas stations.

c. The CGU is engaged in the sale of integrated energy including

electricity.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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—ME+=—HA=+—HLEFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2024

20. HE (&)

iﬁ%éﬁzﬁfﬁﬁ@‘]ﬂ&@é“ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁl
EEs /fr"gﬂ& REBEFE L
ﬁ%ﬁfﬁﬁﬂibﬁ: AEETHESELE
fi7 e .:Jrﬁﬁﬁﬁf“@ﬁﬁ’lixfﬁ““éﬁiﬂi
RPN RERETREER - €HEE
DEANRREEEERERRESE
EEMFAMRRNIRITH SN
BRI M RAEFT TR K - 5152514517\15
RIRFAIERBAAREREEBEE
PIRIEEMIS R AR B MEE -

REERESREBREH EGBAAR
AF (HERELAAMEEREBLD
—MEER) ORCHTREERE
BenefEl  MZEeRAFENMETR
T A R ER0%-20% RIZH T FE
MR RBARER2% (Z T ==
F EBERFASRRFBFER2%)
REHEHEHEABNESRE - 18
BRESEABENNRESREAMAN
FRAT IR A8 1%-10.1% (ZZ =
=F:83%)  BEERE RWMEH
R MREBOHELRFRE(E
KBEEIE -

MR-ZZE-WME+-—A=+—H EF
RREI AT YR Bl £ %8 417,411,198,000
BT REKREER784,684,000/8
7TE o

WR-F-mE+=A=+—8 M
R HEEMAR S EL B ER
B AR R ERERE S
B1E4.5% » AEEMTEFEHAE
T EFEEBAESS, -

20. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value-in-use calculations. The Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist with the calculation for certain CGUs.
The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations are those
regarding the future revenue growth rates and discount rates.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The future revenue growth
rates are based on industry growth forecasts and management’s
past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by senior management for
the next 5 years, which is the general development period for
the sale of liquefied gas and the gas connection business and
extrapolates cash flows for the period beyond the budget period
based on the estimated future revenue growth rates of 0%-20%
for the first 5 years and 2% for the remaining years (2023: 5% for
the first 5 years and 2% for the remaining years). The pre-tax rate
used to discount the forecast cash flows for the CGUs is 8.1%-
10.1% (20283: 8.3%). In the opinion of the directors, no material
impairment loss on goodwill on gas operation was identified at
the end of the reporting period.

As at 31st December, 2024, the recoverable amount of EE A
& was HK$17,411,198,000, which was higher than its carrying
amount by HK$784,684,000.

If the estimated future growth rates used in the value in use
calculation for the CGU of EEWMR had been decreased by
4.5% from management’s estimates at 31st December, 2024,
the headroom in EEME would be reduced to nil but would not
result in an impairment charge.

(zmpeersRan —2-mE%5%) @EEN
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BE-_Z_NE+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

20. BE (&)
RN ZBE R AR S EE BB

20. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

If the discount rate applied to the cash flow projections of

B TR M AL IR REE IR E b 5

this CGU of EEME had been increased by 4.5% from

m4.5%  RIEBKRENFEHRE management’s estimates, the headroom in EEIR would be
T ETEEYRAEIL - reduced to nil but would not result in an impairment charge.
HREMBeELEN  BEER For other CGUs, management believes that any reasonably

B REIZBRNEMSEREE
PregyReELENNRAER
HHEAZEFReELBEMNITRE S

B -

1. H B EE

21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

recoverable amount of the CGUs.

possible changes in any of these key assumptions that would not
cause the aggregate carrying amount of the CGUs to exceed the

KeE =37 @t
Operating
rights Patents Total

Bzt TR THT THL

NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR COST
R-ZZ-_=%—-F—H At 1st January, 2023 3,326,966 - 3,326,966
B3 ey Business combinations 2,745,549 36,626 2,782,175
fE AR Exchange adjustments (49,073) (835) (49,908)
RZZE-=%+-RA=+—H At 31st December, 2023 6,023,442 35,791 6,059,233
E£BAH Business combinations 38 - 33 33
[& 5 R Exchange adjustments (46,181) (784) (46,965)
R-ZE-m&+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2024 5,977,261 35,040 6,012,301
37 AMORTISATION
W-Z-=%—HF—H At 1st January, 2023 660,260 - 660,260
FEEE Provided for the year 403,114 1,831 404,945
i R Exchange adjustments (28,809) (42) (28,851)
RZE-=%+-A=+-H At 31st December, 2023 1,034,565 1,789 1,036,354
FHEER Provided for the year 201,494 1,812 203,306
i R Exchange adjustments (42,556) (18) (42,574)
RZZZm&+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2024 1,193,503 3,583 1,197,086
BRAEE CARRYING VALUES
RZZZME+-A=1—H At 31st December, 2024 4,783,758 31,457 4,815,215
RZZEZ=%+-RA=+—H At 31st December, 2023 4,988,877 34,002 5,022,879

P EERRARERTIAEGER
fhETATAFE10 250 F B - HF
TIABARER S A BEH10230%F

The operating rights for the city pipeline network are amortised
over the estimated useful lives ranging from 10 to 50 years on
a straight-line basis, Patents are amortised over the estimated
useful lives ranging from 10 to 30 years on a straight-line basis.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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For the year ended 31st December, 2024

22. B —EEERFRHKERK
M—RIAEARIREERARIER
5 FHERTISRENE ([HRS
SBHRIFFIE |) H20% KL B EHF A

FATB(ZFZ=9  20%) ¢

22. LOANS TO A JOINT VENTURE

The loans to a joint venture are unsecured, bearing interest

at a floating loan rate of the 5-year Loan Prime Rate (‘LPR”")
downward 20% (2023: 20%) per annum.

23. & 23. INVENTORIES
TECWEFE ZEC=F
2024 2023
FBT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EEME Construction materials 440,444 382,855
2K Finished goods 963,350 1,110,753
1,403,794 1,493,608

24. EWWE ZIRA R EMEWF 24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
—E-ME —E-=4F
2024 2023
FHET FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
JEWE 5 R Trade receivables 10,192,959 11,847,395
RE Impairment (375,811) (411,468)
9,817,148 11,435,927
FEW A &R RIRIE (MiEa) Amounts due from joint ventures (Note a) 338,813 433,893
FEU s A m1FRIE (MisEb)  Amounts due from associates (Note b) 163,838 150,100
FEUSEFEAR AR BRI (MisEc)  Amounts due from non-controlling

shareholders (Note c) 73,566 186,740

R EENEPNGIE S Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
(PR3Ed) (Note d) 691,043 824,312
GE (Mizke) Deposits (Note e) 845,489 830,866
TEATFRIE (BFED) Prepayments (Note f) 5,211,375 6,690,904
H el (FiisEg) Other receivables (Note g) 621,285 424,138
EEE (Mig) Impairment allowance (Note g) (88,822) (80,647)
17,673,735 20,896,233

(EBRRERERDLA

“e=nxr%) QI
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BE-_Z_NE+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

24. EWE 5 R K H AWK
(#&)
Bz

B

a. BRZZEZ=F+-A=t+—BHNE
W& &N EIFIE16,552,000/8 7T
BEEERIR48EEFRE - B
ERAFEEN RTEBRERES
M -

b.  BREEWE: N RIFKIET77,583,0008
T (ZZ==% : 105,937,000/ 7C)
BEEE - R435B (2T -=4F:
4.35F) MEFIEF BN - AT
BESME -

c. RUCHEREBERFABESILE -

d. BEWE RN EBAQR323,961,000/48
TL(ZZ = =4 : 463,462,000/87T)
AEEE - \:§:E¢+—ﬂ =t
—H#E3.20EE32BE (2T ==
& :320BE3.25E) WEFRFE

RBER—FREEN ATEBREE
%Ii%ﬁ °

e. REIFBBEXNTHRAMERNE
& HERERWARRS -

f. BN FEE 2 AR E R R
RAE RAITARAK o

9. SEPRERAEETAAGEEK
EURSAS A RS E T AR UK
FHRERESN - BLE R B VIS HER AR
155 [\ R X 8 K 432 om0 L A R KR
FHRRERE -

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

a. Except for amount due from joint ventures of HK$16,552,000
which were unsecured, bearing interest at 4.28% per annum as at
31st December, 2023 and were repaid in this year, the remaining
balances are in trade-nature.

b. Except for the amounts due from associates of HK$77,583,000
(2023: HK$105,937,000) which were unsecured, bearing interest at
a rate of 4.35% (2023: 4.35%) per annum, the remaining balances
are in trade-nature.

C. Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders are in trade-nature.

d. Except for the amount due from a fellow subsidiary of
HK$323,961,000 (2023: HK$463,462,000) which is unsecured,
bearing interest at rates ranging from 3.20% to 3.25% (2023: 3.20%
to 3.25%) per annum as at 31st December, 2024 and is repayable
within one year, the remaining balances are in trade-nature.

e. Deposits mainly include deposits paid to gas suppliers, rental
deposits and deposits of taxes.

f. Prepayments mainly include prepayments for purchase of gas fuel
and related goods.

g. Except for the impairment provided for certain other receivables
which indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full, no impairment allowance is provided for
other receivables for which credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition.

JEEZD) ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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BE-_Z_WE+-—B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

24. EWE Z R K EMEWR 24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(%)
AEBETREFHEES—MRA30
REOK - BINBERR BN EKE
PIRREN R B H s R E
MERE A IT 25T :

(CONTINUED)

The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90
days to its customers. The aging analysis of trade receivables,
net of loss allowance, is presented based on the invoice dates or
the revenue recognition dates as follows:

—E-ME T =F

2024 2023

FET FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

0E90K 0 to 90 days 6,151,140 7,599,525
91E 180K 91 to 180 days 257,865 258,442
181%E 365K 181 to 365 days 1,378,626 1,436,956
365K+ Over 365 days 2,029,517 2,141,004
9,817,148 11,435,927

FEWE 5 R BEBREAHEHH
SR -

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

B = “EWNE =

Note 2024 2023

THER FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

REA At beginning of year 411,468 315,212
SEE B Impairment loss 9 72,714 143,496
B ORE Reversal of impairment (51,725) (391)
i SH R A Write-off of impairment (1,755) (934)
B 34, 5 28 Exchange adjustments (54,891) (45,915)
RER At end of year 375,811 411,468

K& HE B RABEEEEITR
EDH - UFBRHBEEEE - &iE
RNENEARUBBREXNNTRE
Foidn (ZE - ERER -
BB RFRARERESE M
AEERRHNEZRESI D) WiaH
B#GE - ZAtERREA R NELS
R EERERRBEARAUSNE
BB EIR - & AT BOR A 1
AN AIE LA SEER -

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geographical region, product type, customer type and rating, and
coverage by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

(zmprereran —2-nF+%) @
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BE_Z_NE+-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

24. EWE Z R K EMEWR 24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(#&) (CONTINUED)

TREDERBBEERE T AEE
B E SRR EERBEER

R-Z2-NE+=-A=+—H

As at 31st December, 2024

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

0—90kX 91—180X 181—365Kk 365KU L st
0-90 91 -180 181 -365 Over 365
days days days days Total
JEEAZE BB R (%)  Expected credit loss
rate (%) 0.01 2.63 4.62 12.93 3.69
HAREE (TET) Gross carrying amount
(HK$'000) 6,151,795 264,839 1,445,357 2,330,968 10,192,959
TEREEEE Expected credit losses
(F#T) (HK$'000) 655 6,974 66,731 301,451 375,811
R-EBE-_=%+—-A=+—8H As at 31st December, 2023
0—90X 91—180K 181—365~k 365K E RET
0-90 91 -180 181 — 365 Over 365
days days days days Total
JEEIEEEIER (%)  Expected credit loss
rate (%) 0.01 2.12 5.97 12.79 3.47
REREE (T8 Gross carrying amount
(HK$'000) 7,600,285 264,034 1,628,192 2,454,884 11,847,395
FEEEEER Expected credit losses
(F#&T) (HK$’000) 760 5,592 91,236 313,880 411,468

REE YRR B ATIREE - A%
BEREBANERRIAREERD
RHAMERT A EAAFEHKE
BHEEEEETEAR - Bt - ARF
EERRREEGABHRERTIES
FRRBES  BASTERERR

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group
considers whether there has been an adverse change in the
credit standing of the debtor from the date on which the credit
was initially granted and whether there was any concentration
of credit risk. Accordingly, the directors of the Company believe
that there is no further credit provision required in excess of

1 - the allowance for doubtful debts already provided for in the

consolidated financial statements.

WEETD) ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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—ME+=—HA=+—HLEFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2024

25. AR IIREEEE

25. ASSETS RELATED TO CONTRACT WORKS

—EIME T =F

2024 2023

FBT FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

ARIIEABEEE Assets related to contract works 2,743,220 2,741,681
A Impairment (22,973) (14,066)
2,720,247 2,727,615

ERIEAREEVGERRAHEE
1) KR A B R BOE B P IRER
B ER » Uk TY R R ER R B ZR AR D)
TRERBGSE - SFARERBHNAE
RTREEREERFEREIRES - &
TRERREPERRE  BA/AER
TRRAMEENSBENDENDERE
WE RN -

REBEZE-ZE-_MF+=A=+—8H

L4 E 22,973,000 T (2 ==

114,066,000 L) ERAEGRTL

RIEEEEMEBREEBERER - £

Eléﬁi%}fm SHERREEBRERT
RERE IS IRR M G241 58 -

W+=—R=+—H &RIEEHEE
EMFRAH R GER RN

Assets related to contract works are initially recognised for
revenue earned from the sale of goods and the provision of
related gas connection activities as the receipt of consideration
is conditional on successful completion of construction. Included
in assets related to contract works for construction services
are retention receivables. Upon completion of construction and
acceptance by the customer, the amounts recognised as assets
related to contract works are reclassified to trade receivables.

During the year ended 31st December, 2024, HK$22,973,000
(2023: HK$14,066,000) was recognised as an allowance for
expected credit losses on assets related to contract works.
The Group's trading terms and credit policy with customers are
disclosed in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for assets related
to contract works as at 31st December is as follows:

—E-IEFE ZEZ=F

2024 2023

THERT FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year 1,623,367 1,506,869

(Emprereraes —z2-nr+%) QN
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25. BRI IRRMEEEE (&) 25. ASSETS RELATED TO CONTRACT WORKS
(CONTINUED)
AREEMNREBEREEZSHI M The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract
o assets are as follows:
B sE ZEZWE T
Note 2024 2023
FHT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
REA] At beginning of year 14,066 20,422
BIEEEER (BB Impairment loss recognised/(reversed) 9 9,208 (6,064)
L Exchange adjustments (301) (292)
RER At end of year 22,973 14,066
PERE BB RBRBEREETR An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
BRI UFEEREEEE -8 using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
EREERSEEEENBEEERIE The provision rates for the measurement of the expected credit
REWE SERNEREEBERE losses for the contract assets are based on those for the trade
% REARGREEREKRE KX receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables
HRER—FFH - cRAERER are from the same customer bases. The provision rates for
DEREEEUEBREXNTRER contract assets are based on days past due of trade receivables
SERAER (AMiEmle - ERER - & for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
PR RFT AR RERBESEMER patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer
FEERBHNEBEEHEZH) HEKE type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms
SIRF BB HATE - LT HE R of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-
RENEER  EEFELRNRSEA weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
MRS EBBESEE - BRI K supportable information that is available at the reporting date
RREBIGH TR G IR R AT SEE R about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future

economic conditions.
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BE-_Z-_NME+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2024
25. BRI IRMEBEE (&) 25. ASSETS RELATED TO CONTRACT WORKS
(CONTINUED)
TXHNEHEARBERTENAER Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
EREENEERBRER the Group’s contract assets using a provision matrix:
—E-IF —E=F
2024 2023
FHET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FEEEEBEE(%) Expected credit loss rate (%) 0.84 0.51
WREREE (TET) Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) 2,743,220 2,741,681
TEEMEEEE (TET) Expected credit losses (HK$'000) 22,973 14,066
26. CEARITERRZRFIR 26.PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND
& RESTRICTED CASH
RZZE-_WMF+=—A=+—H - 77 At 31st December, 2024, bank deposits of HK$139,498,000
F5£139,498,0008 L (Z T =4 : (2023: HK$357,875,000) are pledged as security for trade
357,875,000/ 0 ) DK IB{E B FENS payables to suppliers of natural gas and franchise performance
KARMIERE R ENE 5 BRE R M A to the government. The pledged bank deposits are denominated
PR S ER - DEBRITER in RMB and carry interest at market rates ranging from 0.10% to
TIAARBESHE - IWHFHAZE0.10 3.38% (2023: 0.20% to 3.38%) per annum.
EZE338E(ZZE-_=F:020B%
3.38E)FHE °
27. RITHBRRES 27. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

RITREIL TS FME0.10EE3.55
B(Z2==%:020E%3402)&t
8 o

oy

The bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from
0.10% to 3.55% (2023: 0.20% to 3.40%) per annum.

(zmprereran —2-nF+%) @I
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28. BN EZ R KR EMENK

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

—E-IF —EC=F

2024 2023

FHT FHT

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

ERB SRR Trade payables 11,981,863 14,435,105

& &R BFIE (HiEa) Amounts due to joint ventures (Note a) 91,831 99,912

P A B 5RIE (M sEb) Amounts due to associates (Note b) 148,586 53,259
FERTIEIERR IR R 08 (KMisEc)  Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders

(Note c) 791,038 537,503

FER 2B B A RIFIE (MisEd) Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (Note d) 86,933 16,346

&S — ] R R IR A R KIE Amounts due to an intermediate holding

(PfifzEe) company (Note e) - 3,804,920

TEWGK Receipts in advance 9,794,863 10,134,560

HEmENRRESER Other payables and accruals 7,094,846 6,786,984

29,989,960 35,868,589

M pER A& & A RIFKIE83,566,000 4
TL(ZET =4 : 95,249,000 7T)
AEE 1 15EE165E (ZF
— =% :1.15E%E1.65F) MEFX
AERAR—ERNEEN BT ER
BESME -

NSRRI FIRBE S IE -

% JE - FE 43 AR AR SR 018 197,809,000
BT (ZZ =4 : 29,739,000
) AERR AT _NFE+_—A
=T+ —BREMNENTF4.28EF4.75
E(ZZT-=F:428E)tB8KRA
RE S BRI ESREEIN - R T4
HBEZEE -

RNRAAMBARNEBESILE -

BREMN B BERARRE
3,800,000,000# 7T A 3K 48 J I&
HIBORMFEF|EQ55EEE » BE
RAFEEIN  FEHRBES N
& o

Notes:

Except for the amounts due to joint ventures of HK$83,566,000
(2023: HK$95,249,000) which are unsecured, bearing interest at
rates ranging from 1.15% to 1.65% (2023: from 1.15% to 1.65%) per
annum and are repayable within one year, the remaining balances
are in trade-nature.

Amounts due to associates are in trade-nature.

Except for amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of
HK$197,809,000 (2023: HK$29,739,000) which are unsecured,
bearing interest at rates ranging from 4.28% to 4.75% (2023: a rate
of 4.28%) per annum as at 31st December, 2024 and are repayable
on demand with maturity of two years, the remaining balances are in
trade-nature.

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries are in trade-nature.

Except for amount due to an intermediate holding company of
HK$3,800,000,000 which are unsecured, bearing interest at a rate
of HIBOR plus 0.55% per annum and were repaid in this year, the
remaining balance are in trade-nature.
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28. ENEZRAREMESRK 28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

(#&) (CONTINUED)
ENEZERERNBEHRENEEH The aging analysis of trade payables is presented based on the
HRERRS 25T - invoice date at the end of the reporting period as follows:
—EZWNF =5
2024 2023
FBx FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
0—90K 0 - 90 days 9,155,151 10,939,344
91—180K 91 - 180 days 1,147,085 893,948
181—365K 181 — 365 days 343,421 1,020,617
365K E Over 365 days 1,336,206 1,581,196
11,981,863 14,435,105
BENEEBRAR7TRAEI80K - The credit periods on purchases of goods range from 7 to 180
days.
29. GEAE 29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
S E: —E==F
2024 2023
FET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
ERBE Contract liabilities 8,844,275 9,569,067
RZBE-_MFER_FE-_=F+=-A= Details of contract liabilities as at 31st December, 2024 and 2023
+—HENARBENFEBOT - are as follows:
—E-NE —FT-=
2024 2023
Fix FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BEFWE R EEMAFUASR Short-term advances received from customers
EREE Gas connection activities 8,844,275 9,569,067
ARABEEREARBAREREDM Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to

BB R BT R - provide gas connection activities.

(zmpaereras —z-nEEH) @EEIE
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30. A MBI &

RZZEZMF+ZA=+—0H ' BT
#Bh4812,756,0008 L (=T ==
F 1 849,117,000 7T) FEiEF B
NEBERREOER  AERWE
ME BMERIEARESKRREE

RHEES -

31. RITRHEMEE

30. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

At 31st December, 2024, government grants of HK$812,756,000
(2023: HK$849,117,000) mainly represent subsidies granted by
the PRC government authorities for the purpose of financing the

of gas pipelines.

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

acquisition of property, plant and equipment and the construction

—E-IF —EC=F
2024 2023
FBT FAT
HK$000 HK$000
IRITER — EIER Bank loans — unsecured 21,703,634 22,082,504
BITEMR — AR (Mita) Bank loans - secured (Note a) 734,785 66,971
HEmEZH — A8 (M:Fb)  Other loans — secured (Note b) 22,505 22583
22,460,924 22,172,058
REERRITREMEEZER The Group’s bank and other borrowings are
AT BRI EE (Miskce) - repayable as follows (Note c):
—FR Within one year 13,718,688 4,892,674
ZR—FETBBAME More than one year, but not exceeding two
years 4,978,438 7,693,823
ZRMEETHBBRF More than two years, but not exceeding five
years 2,320,333 8,873,101
LHRF More than five years 1,443,465 712,460
22,460,924 22,172,058
BB AER IR —FAE| Less: amount due within one year shown
HRM B under current liabilities (13,718,688) (4,892,674)
ERBBREMRN—F%EIE Amount due after one year shown under
EOF7 o) non-current liabilities 8,742,236 17,279,384
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31. |RITRHEMEE (&)

a. RITZWF+ZA=+—RH K&
ER1T1EE 734,785,000 7T (=%
Z =% :66,971,000/57C) A& TH
B AR REER R B RARTSRIEE
AR - H2,159,0005% 7T 7R A 2
EEEEER - AEBRITEEN =
TZoNF+-A=+—HBRZZE==
FH_A=+—BFHHA -

—ET-_NFF+—A=+—HB ' &
B H A £ & 22,505,000/ TTHE
ERSWAEERER RZT=_=F
+ZA=+—8 " KAEBEEMBER
22,583,000/ TR EKREEBELD
22,583,000/ THE T - BE
MEEEEERR  CREE-_T-_0F
+ZA=t+—HILEEEE-

b. R
ES

c.  BIEFCORTIRBEE R AMENE
HEHEE -

REERRITREMEENERFF
ENTEHF0.65EE535EB (=T =
Z4F 0.65EE535F) R-_T—
ME+=—A=+—8 - BITREME
ERMETHERFANERB2 452
TE-=4F:259E) -

31.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

a. On 31st December, 2024, the Groups’' bank borrowings of
HK$734,785,000 (2023: HK$66,971,000) were guaranteed by certain
subsidiaries and secured by the proceeds from the revenue, of
which HK$2,159,000 was also secured by the right-of-use assets.
The Groups’ bank borrowings were fully utilised on 31st December,
2024 and 31st December, 2023.

b. On 31st December, 2024, the Group's other borrowings of
HK$22,505,000 were secured by pipeline rental income. On 31st
December, 2023, the Group’s other borrowings of HK$22,583,000
were secured by the Group’s certain property, plant and equipment
with carrying amount of approximately HK$22,583,000, which was
repaid during the year ended 31st December, 2024.

C. The amounts due are based on the repayment schedule set out in
the loan agreements.

The effective annual interest rates on the Group’s bank and other
borrowings range from 0.65% to 5.35% (2023: 0.65% to 5.35%)
per annum. The weighted average effective interest rate on bank
and other borrowing is 2.45% (2023: 2.59%) per annum as at
31st December, 2024.
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31. |RITRHEMEE (&)

RE B IRTT R EA EE W IRREFE

31.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Details of the terms of the Group’s

bank and other borrowings

wm are set out below:
BIRFN = —E-MF ke St 3
Effective
interest rates
per annum 2024 2023
FTHER FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
TEEE: Fixed rate borrowings:
BERARERITER Secured RMB bank loans 2.50% ~ 3.36% 59,285 18,729
ERRARERITER Unsecured RMB bank loans 2.25% - 3.70% 3,769,683 14,944,670
EEMETRITER Unsecured HK$ bank loans 1.85% 2,700,000 2,850,000
EEAET([E])ETER Unsecured US dollars (“‘USD”)
bank loans 1.85% — 4.50% 2,031,886 1,743,764
EHFEE(THE])EITER  Unsecured Japanese Yen (“JPY")
bank loan 0.65-0.75% 252,404 138,037
TEEERE Total fixed rate borrowings 8,813,258 19,695,200
EEEE: Floating rate borrowings:
BEFARKRITES  BEZEM  Secured RMB bank loans at
HEIARRITERAE S margin plus the People’s Bank
of China Base Rate 2.30% - 5.05% 675,500 48,242
BEFRAREEMES - REZEM  Secured RMB other loans at
HEARBITEERRE margin plus People's Bank of
China Base Rate 5.35% 22,505 22,583
EERBETRITER - REEM Unsecured HK$ bank loans at
HIBOR&T & margin plus HIBOR 0.61% - 3.34% - 300,000
EIARARBIEITEN - IREZEM  Unsecured RMB bank loans at
HEARBITERRRE margin plus the People’s Bank
of China Base Rate 1.00% — 4.26% 12,949,661 2,106,033
FEEEBE Total floating rate borrowings 13,647,666 2,476,858
EEAE Total borrowings 22,460,924 22,172,058
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32. FHAEE
RZE—_—F+—F=H0 EEMR
RETAREFEAARYK500,000,000
7T (1A% 539,935,000 7T ) My &
HZE HTEATHEEEMEN
100% - ZEFHERREZREF
2.90EsTE - REIER RIZFME -
TR —ZZE_RAF+—A=AFH -
ZEBEABER BERFENXRA
2.90E o

33. HbRHAEE

HRAEETEBERERHEH
REENENTIE  REBNEBR
Hitb AR -

RZZ-_WF  AEEHEEZEE
HERTEAE  ERKEFMAH
EgteERXEEHEDNT1625
JLES8,138B TN R (=T ==
FNF2758LE59,30787L) °
ZETEIEZ TR AR KBRABKTE
HEGBLEAR RATETERMNEBHR
f6319,350,0008 0 (ZE =4 :
311,581,000/87C) * R =T =Y
F+-A=+—HAEWillis Towers
WatsonfR BRI BB A E BB E HEE
AT o

RIS HRAEANEEBERED
T

32.

33.

MEDIUM-TERM NOTES

On 3rd November, 2022, EEMER issued medium-term notes
with principal amount of RMB500,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$539,935,000) at an offer price of 100% of the face values of
the medium-term notes. The medium-term notes bear coupon
interest at 2.90% per annum, payable at maturity and annually
in arrears and would be due on 3rd November, 2025. These
borrowings were unsecured and carried effective interest rate of
2.90% per annum.

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

The other long-term liabilities mainly consist of payables for
acquisition of operating rights for the city pipeline network,
defined benefit obligations and other payables.

In 2024, the Group operates several unfunded defined benefit
plans which require payments ranging from HK$162 to
HK$58,138 (2023: HK$275 to HK$59,307) per year to be made
to each qualifying employee in the PRC. The plan is exposed to
interest rate risk and the risk of changes in the life expectancy
for pensioners. The defined benefit obligations with a present
value of HK$319,350,000 were carried out on 31st December,
2024 (2023: HK$311,581,000) by Willis Towers Watson using the
projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

—ENE —E-=F
2024 2023
1E BRRBRIITIRE (%) Discount rate of post-
employment benefits (%) 2.00 2.75
BHRABFITIR (%) Discount rate of termination
benefits (%) 1.00 2.50
ame Mortality rate TEABRRECER  FEABRBIECEX

(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6
China Life Insurance

Mortality Table
(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6

(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6
China Life Insurance

Mortality Table
(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6

(EMREERERAF
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34, EIERLIE
AT AREE T EORRELEHER

34. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

E/(AfE) REES : recognised and the movements thereon during the year:
[ W 8
WEARmELE R EEF
NATEREZ HEKEE MENE HeERES At
Fair value
adjustments Withholding
arising from Other tax on Other
acquisition of intangible  undistributed temporary
subsidiaries assets profits differences Total
TET TET FET TET T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZZ=%F—F—H At 1st January, 2023 (561,538) (450,245) (343,403) 137,366 (1,217,820)
i %R Exchange adjustments 8,745 5,711 4,907 (1,963) 17,400
FRER /(ZH) Credit/(charge) for the year
(MEE10) (Note 10) 103,603 54,892 9,296 (123,002) 44,789
WM B AR Acquisition of subsidiaries (849,007) (692,357) - 269,007 (1,272,447)
R-Z-=fF At 31st December, 2023
+=A=+-H (1,298,287) (1,081,999) (329,200) 281,408 (2,428,078)
L Exchange adjustments 27,778 23,150 7,044 (57,568) 404
FRER /(ZE) Credit/(charge) for the year
GEIN) (Note 10) 69,584 54,423 (83,635) 36,865 77,237
it muifed At 31st December, 2024
+=-A=1+—H (1,200,925) (1,004,426) (405,791) 260,705 (2,350,437)
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34. IEREBIH (&)

34. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

PLERE MM STAOT ¢ Analysed for reporting purposes as:
TEC-WEFE ZEC=F
2024 2023
FBT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
R IEE = Deferred tax assets 568,474 608,779
BEEBIBAE Deferred tax liabilities (2,918,911) (3,036,857)
(2,350,437) (2,428,078)

RZZEZWF+=ZA=+—H ' &
FEBRE AT IEEIEI84,712,000
BT (T =4 :1,026,080,000
L) AT AR ETF o AR KK
EAARBUARE W ER B
BIERRAELCHBEELEE - BRHESB
869,551,000 L (Z T =% :
69,551,000/ 7T ) o] fE[R AR5 &5 ) -
BEEAABFERRAFANIE -

RZZEZMF+—A=+—H ' &
REBANBRARKRDIREF 2 &
#%023,911,040,0008 T (ZE ==
F 1 24,998,470,00058 7T ) FER IR
MEEE AR AEEEEHYEE
BHEIRREE A ZSEBEN RKR
AIRET GO - AR RS =

RafmE-

At 31st December, 2024, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$984,712,000 (2023: HK$1,026,080,000) available to offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Except for the tax loss of HK$69,551,000 (2023:
HK$69,551,000) which may be carried forward indefinitely, the
losses will expire within 5 years from the year of origination.

At 31st December, 2024, no deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised for the temporary differences relating to undistributed
earnings of subsidiaries amounting to HK$23,911,040,000 (2023:
HK$24,998,470,000). No liability has been recognised in respect
of these differences because the Group is in a position to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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35. lg& 35. SHARE CAPITAL
RHEE R EE
Number of Nominal value
shares of shares
FHET
HK$'000
BREEC.10BTHGD Shares of HK$0.10 each
JEIE ¢ Authorised:
RZZT_=F—HA—H" At 1st January, 2023, 31st December,
ZE=F+ZA=+—HEK 2023 and 31st December, 2024
—E-NF+=—A=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BETRAR Issued and fully paid:
RZZTE-_=F—HF—H " At 1st January, 2023, 31st December,
—E_=F+ZA=t+—HEK 2023 and 31st December, 2024
—E-NFE+—A=+—H 2,314,012,871 231,401

REMER - RRAMEE - BT
R R RA RS -

REREETE
RZZENE+=A—R  ARTK
MR BRI BB ([ 2Rt
8)) EARBLHEETHEE -
NERFEBFEELRERE -

36.

RIBEEE - ARFRBRMD A
XRANAREEFMIANREHET
SEE  YAEEITARKERER
B EERNBEBEREEERERL -
fisd 51 8175 BCHR PO A8 LH IR 61 1 A A 48
FURBA R BN BRAEHE BT
WA 2 5% » RIS B8 H IR 61 ik
- REZBAETRTHEREDN
REIMERODHNRAHE ASEBAR
AN EEITRAZ0.5% °

RZZE-—FF=ZA+XH AREY
HEEEELEET - SRARSIRRR
PR BB {0 1F R 2208 - RABRRIZER
BIFFEEL IR RENS - BEAHE
B FEAR A SR 6 A0 2 A H PR

/8

BHRIE -

36.

There were no changes in the Company’s authorised, issued and
fully paid share capital during both years.

LONG-TERM AWARD SCHEME

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted the share
repurchased cash award scheme (“Incentive Award Scheme”)
as an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the
continual operation and development of the Group.

Pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme, existing shares of
the Company will be purchased by the trustee from the market
out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for
the selected employees until such shares are vested with the
selected employees. No restricted shares will be granted if the
aggregate number of restricted shares awarded throughout
the duration of the scheme is to be in excess of 5% of the
issued share capital of the Company at the adoption date of the
scheme. The maximum number of restricted shares which may
be awarded to a selected employee under the Incentive Award
Scheme shall not exceed 0.5% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive
Award Scheme such that cash instead of restricted shares will be
awarded. The Company will utilise the proceeds generated from
disposal of the restricted shares held by the trustee for making
cash awards under the Incentive Award Scheme.

BT ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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36.

37.

'Eﬁsﬂim—l_ij (lnﬂ)

REBE-_T—X HF+=-_A=+—H1t
FE X AUFEHEFR23.08%
AT EEE2 266,000 87  H
Aﬁﬂﬁfﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁlé?%z 302,000
B TERERNWAELAEE
%?%%&@;E@ﬁ@ﬁﬁb © HE
%”Iﬁﬁ’\\?v?/m\%ﬁé&ﬁi\@,ﬁu?é%léﬁ
BRAZHERAY FEABE=-T—
F+-_A=+-BLFEENEERE
F)) o B ANEFT S 2 R =58
44,095,0008 7Tat AMRE @ F o

%:?:Eiﬂﬁ*+£ﬁ'$ﬁﬂ
EEgRBRIEERS -

REBEE-_T-_WF+-_A=+—AH1t
FE ZTEANUFHEGR29.468
JLIE T35 % 2,000,000 A5 » &
& 255 /AT 15 5/ 18 /558,920,000
PEIT o MDA ARERATSRIB Z M=
#151,660,00078 At AMRBE T

ZHEARREHRFHF 43,797,384
ZE =4 : 45,797,384) IRARD ©

BEREZBDAIASERRERS
PR IR AR -

RIKFRIFE
&

A EE R 2 IR BB R INRIE S
BROI B RHRIREF 8 ([BER
Mﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁiu) : LA&*E?F%\;%%@%‘ Ii{
NIEEETEEPIR L B R B E R

e ([BESFE ) - SZ%qugU
EEBAKENEENFHITA @ LA
REABRHNESEE - WEENS
B ET BRI AT B BB R IRIRR
[EEtEmRE - BIF B REEZERR
SRR B E M2 MR E S
g MR-ZETEF+_A—RA"Z
BINBAREEN A HEEHEAESN
a1

36.

37.

LONG-TERM AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31st December, 2016, 2,266,000 shares
were disposed of by the trustee to the market at an average
price of HK$23.08 per share. The proceeds from disposal of
those shares amounted to HK$52,302,000. The whole amount
of the proceeds was awarded in cash to certain directors and
employees of the Group, with an equivalent expense recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as employee benefits during the year
ended 31st December, 2016. The difference of HK$44,095,000
between the cost of the shares and the proceeds were credited
to retained profits.

On 25th September, 2024, the board of the directors of the
Company resolved to terminate the Incentive Award Scheme.

During the year ended 31st December, 2024, 2,000,000 shares
were disposed of by the trustee to the market at an average
price of HK$29.46 per share. The proceeds from disposal of
those shares amounted to HK$58,920,000. The difference of
HK$51,660,000 between the cost of the shares and the proceeds
were credited to retained profits.

There are 43,797,384 (2023: 45,797,384) shares held by the
trustee at the end of the reporting period.

No restricted shares were granted to eligible employees pursuant
to the Incentive Award Scheme.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group participates in both a retirement benefit scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the "ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Employees who
were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment
of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying within the
ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new
employees joining the Group on or after 1st December, 2000 are
required to join the MPF Scheme.

(ERRRERERAR —B_NEEH)
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37. BRREBHTE (E) 37.RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

B8 (#)
BEERAREABFAKHER RAE
EzEEEAFENFEAES L (R
FEREERASEN RS M
) BAEHER - fWiEEERTRE
HARATR BB R INREET 8] - B3
&wm HRE BEIRAN S BN
R - RMEFEAN - HERIETT N
BRBOLUA -

ERBERTEKEFE  AEEE
RBRREHEKNENS%HTATA
&= R 1,500/8 LA AT 8I7E H #
oo MBHEESNERNEDSEM
Koo

RIB-NER-ZE-_=F+-A=
T— A8 - AR R R R A
REPRRPRSBEL TERX -

RE]

AREER R EES BT E M BT E
EMEREREREFTENKE -
REBERFSRANEBEE D LA
RREFET IR R - 1 ARK
BRRHES - REBURZFRIK
BREEOE—ET2ELIEEHEH
e

AEBBELZEEMRE R TERMG
g EXEFRTEEEERERE
BN F1628TE58,138B T (= F
Z=%F 27580 E 59,3078 70) B
R

(CONTINUED)

Hong Kong (Continued)

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group based on a specified percentage of
the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service
with the Group. Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
Scheme prior to vesting, the contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited
contributions were utilised in this manner for both years.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs or at a monthly maximum cap of HK$1,500
for each person to the scheme, where contribution is matched by
the employees.

At 31st December, 2024 and 2023, the amount of forfeited
contributions available to reduce contributions payable in the
future years was insignificant.

PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the local
government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of the payroll costs to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
specified contributions.

The Group operates several unfunded defined benefit plans
which require payments ranging from HK$162 to HK$58,138
(2023: HK$275 to HK$59,307) per year to be made to each
qualifying employee in the PRC.
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38. ¥ 56t

(a)

A ([EMEEER] WZZT=
=F+ZA=t+—HB#iAEE
NAE) BAEERES1% KEE
VE=ZFRBHRTA9% - R_F
ZHFEEA+TAHE  AEEEE
NE=ZFEBLEIINEMSE
BERARMEZTZMA - FETHR - A
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

(a)

EFEETRESERERARCEMEZMIR") was 51%
held by the Group and remaining 49% by an independent
third-party, which was accounted for as joint venture as at
31st December, 2023. On 16th July, 2024, the Group and
the independent third-party signed the amended Articles of
Association of EFIEEEEIR. Upon the signing, the Group
held the majority voting rights in the general meeting of
the shareholders and the meeting of the board of directors
of EFIEEZE4EJR. Accordingly, the Group took the control
over operating activities of EFIE 28R, which became a
subsidiary of the Group since then.

EFIEEEER is engaged in contract energy management,
providing energy-saving technology promotion services,
and sales of electricity supply and heat production and
supply. The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy to expand its market share in the downstream city
gas industry.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &
FIEE4E)R as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

A LB B
BRH D FE
Fair values
recognised on

acquisition
FAET
HK$'000
Mm% - BE MEE Property, plant and equipment 45
EREERE Right-of-use assets 355
HinmEEE Other intangible assets 33
T8 Inventories 6,782
FEUE 5 B 3K N H i FE MR Trade and other receivables 19,725
RITHEBRRS Bank balances and cash 81,348
FET 8 5 BR 3% EAth FE A 51 Trade and other payables (23,554)
aRAaE Contract liabilities (27,311)
HERaE Lease liabilities (381)
AR EEFELTE (A FERT)  Total identifiable net assets at fair value 57,042
FEERR A Non-controlling interests (27,951)
29,091

LARA &R RN KRB EATHE Previously held interest, represented by interest in
B (A FERD) the joint venture, at fair value 29,091
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(Continued)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
EFIEZ4ER is as follows:

FAET

HK$'000

BUIEIR ¢ RIRITHE® Cash and bank balances acquired 81,348
FAREEBFAREREN Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents,
Re MR EBMRNFE included in cash flows used in investing

activities 81,348

BUEEEIEAR - EFIEEER
AAEEHE T -_ME+ - A
=+ BLEFENEETHRE
AR 80,769,000/8 7T K&
11,158,000 7T ©

& GFRFELE - RNEEFER
W 4% 501169,804,00078 7T I
34 |42 23,676,000 7T °

RZEZMF+—A=+AH ' K
SEEBYE - FEMNERER
BREBRLAA ([EMNER]) I
BHEERDHEREMRH RABE
W MERERREEEAEMAE
%o ZWEFHEARNEEFERE
KRR —ED - BEEKA T
WM RITENTISEEES -
ZEBEEENRERENRS
SF - ERARYA13,212,000
7T (HHE 714,306,000 7T)
ER-ZT-_WELINFRHET
AR#31,135,0007T (MER
33,713,000 7)) ER=—Z =
F+- A=+ At AE RN

e
A °

o

(b)

Since the acquisition, EFIEZELJR contributed revenue of
HK$80,769,000 and profit of HK$11,158,000 to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December, 2024.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have been
increased by HK$169,804,000 and the profit of the Group
for the year would have been increased by HK$23,576,000.

On 30th November, 2024, the Group acquired the business
of the sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products
and gas connection and a related asset group from #E/JI|
SREREEERAF (“BMER"), an independent third
party. The acquisition is part of the on-going expansion
strategy of the Group with the aim of becoming the market
leader in the downstream city gas industry. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash,
with RMB13,212,000 (equivalent of HK$14,306,000) paid
in 2024, and the remaining amount of RMB31,135,000
(equivalent of HK$33,713,000) included in other payable at
31st December, 2024.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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38. XS 6 (&) 38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) (&) (b) (Continued)
EINERRWEA R BREE The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &
FaEmAFERT JNER as at the date of acquisition were as follows:
R B
BRHATE
Fair values
recognised on
acquisition
FHET
HK$'000
ME - BE REE Property, plant and equipment 31,256
EREERE Right-of-use assets 201
aREAE Contract liabilities (840)
A RE EFEMATE (R A FERT)  Total identifiable net assets at fair value 30,617
WHEE AR Goodwill on acquisition 17,402
AR Satisfied by
Be Cash 14,306
H fth FET R Other payables 33,713
EXERNEEETZEEINE The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the
REREBEBSHEENTELD expected synergies from combining the operations of /!
R RIZE - HR with the Group.
RUBENBER 2B REDNT An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
LUl EHMNER is as follows:
FHT
HK$'000
ReRE Cash consideration (14,306)
B IEIR & RIRITHERR Cash and bank balances acquired -
FAREEBFBRESREN Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
RekReEERLIFE included in cash flows from investing
activities (14,306)
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38. ¥K &6 (&) 38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) (#&) (b) (Continued)

EUREETE SR - BN ER A Since the acquisition, #/IZEK contributed revenue of
AEFBHRE T -NE+— A HK$643,000 and a loss of HK$558,000 to the Group's
T+ BUIEENGATER consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
5 B B IR 25643,00078 7T R 518 December, 2024.

558,000/ T,

MAHREREE  AEFEER Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
W 2% ¥ 18 6,923,000 7T [ year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have been
PR32 1) 45 48 01256, 00058 7T © increased by HK$6,923,000 and the profit of the Group for

the year would have been increased by HK$256,000.

39. A&k 39. COMMITMENTS

REFBRREHREAR LT E A& The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
& the reporting period:

=

—E-NEF —F-=
2024 2023
FHET THET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
RATEEEFTHOERR Capital commitments contracted for but not
REMBHRERPRESN provided in the consolidated financial
B A EYE statements in respect of:
BE Investments 95,359 142,790
WHEME - BB &EBIAKL  Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
EREEE and right-of-use assets 35,741 293,985
131,100 436,775
40. & K 49 40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
R-_Z-—mE+—-_F=+—H A& At 31st December, 2024, the Group pledged the following assets
BB T EEEAEMNTRAR as security for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas and
HENHENEZIEZX RS BNNE franchise performance to the government:
PR ERBAER
ZECWE —ZT=-=
2024 2023
FHERT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EHEIRRITER Pledged bank deposits 139,498 357,875
BEON o AR T A R In addition, certain loans of the Group are pledged by the
EIRR . SERASA MR EN T Group’s assets, details of which are set out in notes 14 and 16 to

14516 ° the consolidated financial statements.

AT ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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41. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Transactions/balances with related parties

In addition to the related party transactions set out in the
respective notes, the Group entered into the following material

RS transactions with related parties during the year:
—EZWF —EC=F
2024 2023
B = FBT FAT
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
HE AN FNR S Transactions with associates:
HEE® Sale of goods a 347,639 194,042
EEEM Purchase of goods b 132,362 134,623
B B A Interest income from loans d 2,104 2,366
HEZBNENRS Transactions with joint ventures:
HEE® Sale of goods a 4,869,919 823,979
BEEM Purchase of goods b 107,256 123,268
BHFERA Interest income from loans d 63,067 66,860
FI BRI Interest expenses d 1,720 1,869
HEZRMBARMNKZS :  Transactions with fellow subsidiaries:
HEE® Sale of goods a 453,011 278,192
BEEM Purchase of goods b 63,267 -
FRFERA Interest income from deposits c 4,824 26,629
BHFERA Interest income from loans d 53,772 12,024
FEMX Interest expenses d - 1,783
e Rental expenses e 35,333 31,522
BB ARZEEAAE  Transactions with non-controlling
H3Z 5 shareholders of subsidiaries:
HEEM Sale of goods a 43,295 291,188
BEEMR Purchase of goods b 1,131,504 1,259,622
FMERXZ Interest expenses d 1,329 60
MR ARIMNR S © Transactions with intermediate holding
companies:
FEMX Interest expenses d 4,344 14,430

(EBRRERERDA
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4. EEATIEE (&) 41.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(CONTINUED)

HEEALNRS & (E) Transactions/balances with related parties (Continued)

BsE Notes:

a. REE AT - AEAF - BEMBAR a.  The sales to associates, joint ventures, fellow subsidiaries, and the
AR AR RAEITH S non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries were made according to
BEAAEEFZEFIRMHMNDEM the published prices and conditions offered to the major customers
EAS RARIFER © of the Group.

b. MBERT A8 QR)  BEHEB b.  The purchases from associates, joint ventures, fellow subsidiaries,
a&ﬁﬁ%@ﬂ#ﬁ%ﬂxiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ and the non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries were made
REBERF a2 A RMER according to the published prices and conditions offered by
FERBREREFZEFREHE E’]E?é associates, joint ventures and non-controlling shareholders of
B RAGHED - subsidiaries to their major customers.

c. RITZWF+ZA=+—RH K& c. At 31st December, 2024, the Group placed bank and other
1y NS ENE ]S INGIE2 SisEapie ki deposits of HK$1,155,597,000 (2023: HK$1,469,909,000) with China
TG B R R RIFARIT REAMMTFR Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary of the
1,155,597,0008 L (Z 2= =F : Company, and these deposits were included in bank balances and
1,469,909,000/87T) * ZEFHETA cash.

RITHEHBERE -

d. XEW%’/}T &R BRM d.  The interest income and expenses from loans from associates,
B B BB 2 A FE 1R AR AR R &k joint ventures, fellow subsidiaries, non-controlling shareholders
Fs'ﬁ?ﬁﬁ A ERF B A RFAX of subsidiaries and intermediate holding companies were made
Thiz B A RERITET A 5% 48 R according to the benchmark interest rate for RMB loans over the
HEMARBERELENEREE same period announced by the People’s bank of China and Hong
RITRZEHR 2 X ([HIBORJ) 5115 - Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”), except for amounts due
MELATR IR A - EEH&H&MATTA from associates of HK$77,583,000 (2023: HK$105,937,000) which
IH77,583,0008 L (ZE =% : bear interest at rate of 4.35% (2023: 4.35%), amount due from
105,937,000 L) # F|%E 4.35% a fellow subsidiary of HK$323,961,000 (2023: HK$463,462,000)
(ZZ-=%F :4.35%) 58 ' B which bears interest at rates ranging from 3.20% to 3.25% (2023:
A Z M /&~ A5/ I8 323,961,000/ 3.20% to 3.25%) per annum, amounts due to joint ventures of
T (ZE =4 :463,462,000/8 HK$83,566,000 (2023: HK$95,249,000) which bearing interest at
TC)IREFEZ 20%£E3.25% (=F rates ranging from 1.15% to 1.65% (2023: 1.15% to 1.65%), amounts
Z=F :320%%3.25%)5 8 due to non-controlling shareholders of HK$197,809,000 (2023:
FEfTA % AR FKIE83,566,0007 7T HK$29,739,000) which bearing interest at a rate of 4.28% to 4.75%

—ET =4 : 95,249, ooo;"éy‘z) i (2023: 4.28%), loans to a joint venture of HK$1,869,043,000 (2023:
FFEAA5%E1.65% (2T =4 : HK$1,909,907,000) which bears interest at a floating loan rate of the
1.15%%1.65%) 5T B+ BT IELE 5-year LPR downward 20% per annum. Details of the transaction is
Hxﬁxﬁ %18197,809,000%8 7T (= set out in notes 22, 24 and 28.

T~ =4 : 29,739,000/ L) &
r4 28% £ 4.75% (Z T ==

4.28%)F B MAEEARRERN

BE31,869,043,0008 L (=T ==
£ :1,909,907,00078 7T) IZ5F HE
RS REFHNER20%MEZHE
HAEF S - BAR S EEHNAH =

22~ 24 )28 ©
e. XNTRRWMERTRIFZERKRRS e. The rental expenses to fellow subsidiaries and non-controlling
HeRX HRETSHESIEL - shareholders were made according to the market rents.

JFAED) ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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4. BEALTIRE (&)

HEAEALTNRS R (E)

AREEEBF /T EEFES R EHE
HETERAEERRN M - MA
B B R AR BBUTES] - AR
BIKEMEAFENNER A IE

BRESARIEMBEARTNRZS (B
KA M B|ER E’]E@Fﬁ??&sﬁ)

s AEE ﬁﬁ¢@ﬁﬁ§&&ﬁ&
- KRESISENERTZE S
;%EE%%%@&@&T%%'@
BERBARITERRAAENB K
BT RAT R A B A R AR R B
BRA ~ REf DR R &b D MR &
R - RAREFERREZSFIF
ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁi%’%%Eﬁﬁ%%
B WIRETISIRFUETT - AEE TR
Bl B E R %#%%IK
EREFHEEABFHEMELE -

41. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(CONTINUED)
Transactions/balances with related parties (Continued)

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under
CRCL which is controlled by the government of the PRC and
the Group operates in an economic environment currently
predominated by entities controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by the PRC government.

Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
businesses with entities directly or indirectly controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government in
the ordinary course of business, including businesses regarding
the majority of its bank deposits and the corresponding
interest income, certain bank and other borrowings and the
corresponding finance costs, a large portion of purchases and
part of the sales of gas. The directors of the Company consider
the transactions with these government-related entities are within
normal business operations and are carried out on market terms.
The Group has established its pricing strategies and these
strategies do not depend on whether or not the counterparties
are government-related entities.

TEETEEEAEME Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
—E-mE —Eo=F
2024 2023
FHERT FET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EHREH Short-term benefits 16,629 29,404
& BRIKEFI Post-employment benefits 602 1,822
17,231 31,226

BH Litb RcHEMNBEEA LR HINE
X ETARBIE1AAT R EORIER
HAFEEERS -

The related party transactions in respect of items b and ¢ above
also constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(zmprereran —2-nF5%) QAR
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42. EXxE R EE 42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AEBEBERBERAMRREEH
SRERENFEEREARITRE
MEEEEE 2 FE - REBETT
EHERRBLERRDESFT LK
HEERRmw  UWRRABRANE
BESRARNAGEREREMNE
RBEEHFR - AEERISBEFE
ZEREBALE

FEENEARBERFAE (BER
TREMER) RPHRE - T8%F
RITHERRARDHEEABEES
(REHTER  REEM R HEMREE
HRK)

FAEBERETHRITERRE - &
B ERRE AR K ARR R 5 AT
NEW—&D  XRECEETHRHE
REBEMEARE  BREIKRMEE -
BITH - BITHESREFREE

The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance between
continuity of cash flows from operating activities and the flexibility
through the use of bank and other borrowings. The Group also
monitors the current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants regularly to ensure that
sufficient working capital and adequate committed lines of
funding are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
include bank and other borrowings, medium-term notes, net of
bank balances and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued capital, retained profits and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, management considers the
cost of capital and the associated risks, and takes appropriate
actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of
new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

JFZLD) ( CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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43. €T A

(a)

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

SRTEER (a) Categories of financial instruments
—EZmFE 2024
THEE Financial assets
BATEFAREMEZE
hENEmERE
Financial assets
at fair value through
other comprehensive income
BB A
BERERE BRERE JFIRHNEMERE k-]
Financial
Debt Equity assets at
investments investments amortised cost Total
TER THER THER FTHER
HKS$’ 000 HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
BATE AEM Equity investments at fair
2ENENRAEE value through other
comprehensive income - 463,567 - 463,567
O =ING| Loans to a joint venture
REMHER - - 1,869,043 1,869,043
FEWE F R Trade receivables 127,018 - 9,690,130 9,817,148
FEAE LR Financial assets included
TREE in other receivables - - 1,818,295 1,818,295
BERBITERAR Pledged bank deposits
XREH 2 and restricted cash - - 139,498 139,498
RITEBREEAS Bank balances and cash - - 7,530,584 7,530,584
127,018 463,567 21,047,550 21,638,135
eHEE Financial liabilities
REEAR A
JERMEeMBE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FET
HK$’ 000
BB SRR Trade payables 11,981,863
RITREMES Bank and other borrowings 22,460,924
IR Medium-term notes 539,935
FTAE AL E R R R Financial liabilities included in other payables
EmeENemAasE and other liabilities 2,046,529
37,029,251

(EMREERERAF

EEETE 21
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43. €@ T A (&) 43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) &WMIAEER (&) (a) Categories of financial instruments (Continued)
—E== 2023
THEE Financial assets
BRVEFAREMEE
WHNEHEE

Financial assets
at fair value through
other comprehensive income

bizd: 35D
BRIRE BARE JIRNemEE B
Financial
Debt Equity assets at
investments investments amortised cost Total
FET FET TET THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRATEFAEM Equity investments at fair
2EBENRAEE value through other
comprehensive income - 382,644 - 382,644
m—fEE&E QA Loans to a joint venture
REFEHEN - - 1,909,907 1,909,907
FEW R 5 B Trade receivables 155,681 - 11,280,246 11,435,927
FPAE KA Financial assets included
EREE in other receivables - - 1,938,536 1,938,536
BEERRTERR Pledged bank deposits
XBEIRE and restricted cash - - 357,875 357,875
RITEARRE S Bank balances and cash - - 9,978,468 9,978,468
155,681 382,644 25,465,032 26,003,357
eHEE Financial liabilities
b8 33D TN
JIENERmBE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FET
HK$'000
FERTE 5 BRK Trade payables 14,435,105
RITREAMEE Bank and other borrowings 22,172,058
HhHZ IR Medium-term notes 551,740
FFAEMENREAEMEBENSRIEE Financial liabilities included in other payables
and other liabilities 5,750,845
42,909,748

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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43. €T A (&)

(b)

BREBEEREREE

AEENTIZSRTABRERER
FEFARBEEKEAOER T
B BB SRR H W
K BEBRITEREZREIR
T RTEHRERES  EBNE
SRR B EAMMEMAR - |RITRE
EE  FHREREOERE
B ZEeMIANFBERER
HEXaoMfE - BZEemTA
2 BE B K A (AR R 5% 5 L B
HIBER BN T - AREEER
ER%TRAR - MRERERE
BERBUE E 6

S

VAT 85178 5= B 30 3 5 H3 R A
SN (IR REERZ R
PN E ) SIEN G EE R
EWBE (E2RBITHKLR

& RITEREMEERPHRE
%) MBRE(E

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, trade and other receivables, pledged bank
deposits and restricted cash, bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables, bank and other borrowings,
medium-term notes and other long-term liabilities. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The Group manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure that appropriate measures are implemented in a
timely and effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies,
i.e. currencies other than the functional currency of the
respective group entities, which are mainly bank balances
and cash, bank and other borrowings and medium-term
notes, at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

—E-NE —ZF=-=
2024 2023
FBT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BE Assets

ETHARKE US$ against RMB 62,758 69,252
E N US$ against HK$ 3,475 3,251
BITH AR HK$ against RMB 2,625 1,666
ARBHETT RMB against HK$ 7,003 1,485

=N Liabilities
ETHBTT US$ against HK$ 2,031,886 1,743,764
AERARE JPY against RMB 252,404 138,037

REEEBE BT IMNE E R
By ARSI ESMNE R - AR B
W S TS INE R B A R 4
RONE R o B E A 6 RS
EREIRINERR -

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange
rates. The Group currently has not entered into any foreign
currency forward contracts to hedge against foreign
currency risk. Management will consider hedging foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

(#mprErERLn —s-nEesn) QN
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43. €T A (&)

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) HKEREBEEZREE(Z) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
IR (4E) Foreign currency risk (Continued)
SNE B E T Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

TRAMBI A EEGEEERE
WA A E S KR TSN
EARTHER (ZE_=F :
5%) FBREE - 5% (ZF ==
F5%) RBRER - BER
[E Y HNSTE R 1] B H IR E B R T
) EE - GURE S TERIER
REEHAINE BB EHEE
B WAFRIRINEERS% (=
T=F 1 5%) ML ABERE
H oo ARAEITEBITEN - Bt
FREIMABE—XEE (B
BITIERENGEER) AETR
BRI o MEBEEEBHOHEA
ThEE &M HRBAINE EF5% (=
T-=F :5%) AIEEERTRF
WEADEF I WEEEEN
A EE L EEINET K
5% (ZZT==%:5%) B|FR
FATEF AT S B MBS E R M
FEATIEHREAEEE -

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2023: 5%) increase and decrease in the relevant functional
currencies of the group entities, against the following
foreign currencies. 5% (2023: 5%) is the sensitivity rate
which represents management’s assessment of the possible
change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies and adjusts their translation at the year
end for the 5% (2023: 5%) change in foreign currency
rates. The sensitivity analysis excludes balances which are
denominated in US$ for an entity with HK$ as its functional
currency since US$ is pegged to HK$. A positive number
indicates an increase in pre-tax profit for the year when
the relevant functional currencies of the group entities
strengthen by 5% (2023: 5%) against the relevant foreign
currencies. For a 5% (2023: 5%) weakening of the relevant
functional currencies of the group entities against the
relevant foreign currencies, there would be an equal but
opposite impact on the pre-tax profit for the year and the
balances below would be negative.

—EmE =

2024 2023

FBT FHT

HK$’ 000 HK$'000
E uss

FRBANRF Pre-tax profit for the year 3,138 3,463
BT HK$

FRBRNRF Pre-tax profit for the year 131 83
AE JPY

FRBANRF Pre-tax profit for the year (12,620) (6,902)
AR RMB

FRBANRF Pre-tax profit for the year 350 74

ERERS  ARNEFRERN
[E B I T R 2 R - Ft
BURE AT T e &R BB B SME
[\

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during
the year.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to prevailing market interest rates on bank
balances and pledged bank deposits and restricted cash
(see notes 27 and 26 for details of these balances) and
floating-rate amounts due from/to joint ventures, amounts
due to intermediate holding companies and bank and
other borrowings (see notes 28 and 31 for details of these
borrowings). Management continuously monitors interest
rate fluctuation and will consider further hedging interest
rate risk should the need arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, amounts
due from intermediate holding companies, amounts due
from fellow subsidiaries and medium-term notes (see notes
24 and 32 for details). Management continuously monitors
interest rate exposure.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for interest-bearing bank
balances, pledged bank deposits, amounts due from/to joint
ventures, amounts due to intermediate holding companies
and bank and other borrowings. The analysis is prepared
assuming that those balances outstanding at the end of
each reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 10 or 50 basis points increase or decrease which
represents management's assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates is used.
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43. €T A

(b)
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RIEB ()
HESBED T ()
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MRTERRZIRGEE - @
—HAEZEARRENERRE
W A &R R RIE S I E

E# TRI0EER AR AR
MEHEETE  ABE—T =
ME+-—A=+—BHLEFENRK
Aila R 00 % 229,472,000
BT (—ZF =4 : 12,033,000
EIT) o MIZBRITREMBEE
LA B JE A< AR R AR AR A R FRIB Y
AR L TIZ501EE2E B AT
*ﬁﬁfﬁ“%ﬁ%%?@ CBlEE
—ToWF+ZA=+—A1
FERB AR AR 18m
68,238,000 L (ZE==4F :

33,644,000 7T) - EXERH
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If the interest rate on bank balances, pledged bank deposits
and restricted cash, loans to a joint venture and amounts
due from/to joint ventures carried at variable rates had been
10 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the pre-tax profit for the year ended 31st
December, 2024 would increase/decrease by HK$9,472,000
(2023: HK$12,033,000). If the interest rate on floating-rate
bank and other borrowings and amounts due to intermediate
holding companies had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the pre-tax profit
for the year ended 31st December, 2024 would decrease/
increase by HK$68,238,000 (2023: HK$33,644,000). This
is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest
rates benchmarked to HIBOR on its floating-rate bank and
other borrowings and amounts due to intermediate holding
companies.

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of the People’s Bank
of China Base Rate and the HIBOR.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in place for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is

taken to recover overdue debts.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries
out searches on the creditability of the new customer and
assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are

reviewed once a year.

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of each
individual trade debt on a regular basis to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the Group considers that the credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are financial institutions with high credit
standing.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31st
December, 2024

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31st December, 2024.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets.
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43. €I A (&) 43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) HKEREBEEZREE(Z) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

EEERE (&)
R-FZpFE+=—A=+—HH
By A R g R F AR (A2

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31st
December, 2024 (Continued)

12f8RRH
REEE BEFENRNEERE
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
K& B&2 K83 il &g
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
TER T TiEn TER AR
HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
A-AAEAARMER Loans to a joint venture 1,869,043 - - - 1,869,043
ERAENEZA Amounts due from joint ventures 338,813 - - - 338,813
iGN P Amounts due from associates 163,838 - - - 163,838
EUIERRRZE Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders 73,566 - - - 73,566
ERRZMBARTE Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 691,043 - - - 691,043
U % Trade receivables* - - - 10,192,959 10,192,959
At Other receivables™ 621,285 - - - 621,285
BERETETRIBHASE  Pledged bank deposits and
restricted cash 139,498 - - - 139,498
REBRES Bank balances and cash 7,530,584 - - - 7,530,584
11,427,670 - - 10,192,959 21,620,629
* AR EBRA GO ELRE * For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified

WEKRE ZERME + BEEK
HEBNERBEEN GRS
mRMizE24 o

T ERAHRMEBERANSREE
Ao BEEHBETERE
ENFEERR BV EIEH
REREN  BEGEEEER
BRIER]-

approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

i The credit quality of the financial assets included in other
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are
not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31st
December, 2023

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31st December, 2023.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets.

12[EAEH
FEER PEGEHEEREEE
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
BB K2 &3 it et
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
AL TER TER TAL AL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A-HAERARMEER Loans 10  joint venture 1,909,907 - - - 1,909,907
ERAERTZE Amounts due from joint ventures 433,893 - - - 433,893
R R EFE Amounts due from associates 150,100 - - - 150,100
ElERE RN E Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders 186,740 - - - 186,740
ERRAZRBARTE Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 824,312 - - - 824,312
[ etl= Trade receivables” - - - 11,847,395 11,847,395
Efp Rl Other receivables™ 424,138 - - - 424,138
BERRAEARTRAES  Pledged bank deposits and
restricted cash 357,875 - - - 357,875
FEBRES Bank balances and cash 9,978,468 - - - 9,978 468
14,265,433 - - 11,847,395 26,112,828
* HAEE A CEELRE . For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified

MEWE SRR E - ARE
BEENANBEENGAMB
HRMIEE24 ©

o EBERAHRMBERNEBERE
Ao BEENBETERE
ENEERRB VS HEREH
REXEN  AEERERER
BRIER]-

approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

i The credit quality of the financial assets included in other
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are
not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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43. €T A (&)

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) HKEREBEEZREE(Z) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
REE LA Liquidity risk

ERRBHESRARE  AEEE
RYHFERERRRABNAAR
SEEBNRE LB FEYK
FoOREERDERERENT
2  EREREFERITEEND
A BERETERRE (A) -

RZEZWOF+=ZA=+—
H A"EERBBEEFER
24,369,132,000/87C &5t A
REBMHAREDAIRTERERAZE
27,680,818,0007 T « WELE
EHE S K2 AT 89 H b A
= AEEBEERRNEEES
AREEE T -_ME+=-A=
T—HRBRRTZEANRER

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. Management also monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants, if
any.

At 31st December, 2024, the Group had net current
liabilities of HK$24,369,132,000. Taking into account of
the unutilised banking facilities of HK$27,680,818,000
and internally generated funds of the Group and the other
factors described in note 2, the Group has sufficient
working capital for its present requirements for the next
twelve months from 31st December, 2024.
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43. €T A (&) 43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) HHEEREBEEZRBE(Z) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
TEBELEE (&) Liquidity risk (Continued)
TRAHSIIAEEEREBER The following table details the Group’s remaining
HEABENFKREGRFH - %X contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and lease
RERAEREAHERKE R liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
FHAEANKRBRERSRERE - undiscounted cash flows based on the earliest date on
ZERBENBRAEHR ST which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes
g o both interest and principal cash flows.
i BREXY BEIE AEE
TRE - BFEESE BESE  ReNESE HEE
Over 1 year
Weighted Ondemand  but not more Total
average  or less than than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 5years  Over 5 years cash flows amounts

TER TEL TER TER TEn
% HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000

RZB-ME+-F=1-H At 31st December, 2024

EREHEFRAMERT Trade and other payables
-%8 - interest-free - 13,712,836 - - 13,712,836 13,712,836
-i8 - interest-bearing 2.33 287,917 - - 287,917 281,375
BAREREE Bank and other borrowings 245 14054796 TATISO1 1478830 23011217 22,460,924
hARE Medium-term notes 290 555,593 - - 555,593 539,935
HEBR Lease liabilities 422 138,374 150,244 256,995 545,613 523,520
EhEHaRE Other ong-ter liabiltes 395 6,342 14,032 15,157 35,531 34,181

28,755,858 7,641,867 1,750,982 38,148,707 37,952,171

RZB-Z1tZA=1-A At 31st December, 2023

ERB AT RE MR Trade and other payables
-%8 - interest-free - 15,981,757 - - 15,981,757 15,981,757
-#E - interest-bearing 565 4,146,854 - - 4,146,854 3,924,988
ROREMEE Bank and other borrowings 259 5,019,394 16,996,007 730913 22,746,314 22,172,058
hHEZE Medium-term notes 2.90 - 567,740 - 567,740 551,740
HERE Lease liabilities 4.22 150,244 44,695 297,178 492,117 472,190
EpREEE Other long-term labltes 395 - 57477 250,940 310417 279,205
25,298,249 17,665,919 1,281,031 44,245,199 43,381,938
1t )5 B 1) 2 ) B4 B B 0 S 45 HAOR The amounts included above for variable interest rate
EEMF MR - B a3k instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
PTELRBBENFIEITASEN to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
ZIEEEE) o estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the

reporting period.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and
financial liabilities.

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent that it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
establishes the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to perform the valuation.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of certain types of financial instruments. The
valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in
the determination of the fair value of various assets and
liabilities are stated below.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

(c)

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation

ERBAE) -

technique(s) and inputs used).

fEERER TUEEEA
SHEE RTZRzt-BHATE AVESR  IERAEE EXTUBREARE  EEHOTEMBE  HEE
Valuation Relationship of
Fairvalue  technique(s) Significant unobservable inputs to
Financial assets Fair value as at 31t December, hierarchy ~ and key input(s)  unobservable input(s) fair value Sensitivity
Z3IpE ks
2024 2023
Tén TER i
HKS 000 HK§ 000 HKS 000
EEARLTENAEMAE  LWBRAEE- s - R0 ERTAFEEAE  AER 1 ¥l
KRtERIA 61,8327 66,7617
Equity instruments designated  Listed equity Listed equity Level 1) Quoted bid pricesin ~ NIA N/A N/A
at fair value through other securities - securities - an active merket
comprehensive income HKS61,832 HK$66,761
EEARLTEIAANAE  FLARARE-  ELTREER- ESHG)  MERE FETHTEE PG T GEAR ATEDR  GBEN/BISHTERAY
YEHEATA 2381857 315,883 7 F5(pp) RREE/ £11/ 55954087
MIRAS RE-AE (ZBZ=Ersfzr-B:
TREHA(EVIERITAJ 14,6867
8
Equiy instruments designated ~ Non-listed equity ~ Non-listed equity Level 3(ii)  Valuation multiples  Average PIE, PIS, PIB,  The higher 5% increase/decrease in
atfair value through other securities - securities - EV/EBITA mutiples the muliples, multiples would resultin
comprehensive income HKS253,818 HK$315,683 of peers the higher increase/decrease in
the fair value falr value by HK$9,540
(31st December, 2023;
HK$14,686)
EraiEitit! s ATEMRE TSN/ H)snTERATE
D/ 062k
(CRI=Efzr-8:
6,106%7)

Discount for lack of
marketabilty

The higher the discount,
e lower the fair
value

5% increase/decrease in
discount would resultin
decreasefincrease in
falr value by HKS4,082
(31st December, 2023;
HK$6,106)
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(¢) Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(Continued)

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

fhERER TEEEA
SREE RTZBZ1-BNATE ATESR  IERAEE EXTUEREARE  GEHOTEMBE  #AE
Valuation Relationship of
Fairvalue  technique(s) Significant unobservable inputs to
Financial assets Fair value as at 31st December, hierarchy ~ and key input(s) ~ unobservable input(s) fair value Sensitivity
ZECE 5=
2024 2023
TEn Tin Tin
HKS'000 HK§ 000 HK$000
BEARATENAEMAENE FLARARE-  TER EZRii)  WAERLE 37k BBERE DTERE EBAN/ROSHTERATE
HEAIE WISTER B /s 0657 (222
SE+ZAZT-A:TER)
Equity instruments designated ~ Non-listed equity ~ N/A Level 3(ii)  Income capitalisation  Discount rate The higher the discount 5% increase/decrease in
at fair value through other securities- approach rate, the lower the fair  discount would result in
comprehensive income HKS147,917 value decreasefincrease in fair
value by HK$3,108 (31st
December, 2023:N/A)
EOTETAEMREARY  EMESER- BRESES EZBi)  BATEEEABE R TE TR
BT 121,018%7 ~155, 681770
Debt instrumenis at fairvalue  Trade receivables -  Trade receivables-  Level (i) Significant N/A N/A NA
hrough other comprenensive  HK$127,018 HK$155,681 observation inputs

income
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2, or
3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

(i)  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

(i) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;

(iii) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

There were no transfers among Levels 1, 2 and 3 in the

current and prior years.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
(except for medium-term notes as disclosed in note 32)
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate to their fair values.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
have been determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on the discounted cash
flow analysis.
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RE IS IRRMIEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_Z_NE+-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

45, X2 B 1 B SRR 3R 45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

—E-MMEF —ET-=
+=H=+-8B +=ZA=+—H
31st December, 31st December,
2024 2023
FHET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
WE - BB REE Property, plant and equipment 67 203
R BARIMRE Investments in subsidiaries 20,681,343 20,681,343
FRAEEE Right-of-use assets 8,278 3,217
20,689,688 20,684,763
MENEE Current assets
H R Other receivables 99,943 2,251,847
JiE Uk B B X B RUIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 2,549,229 618,778
RITHEBEIRS Bank balances and cash 330,544 48,374
2,979,716 2,918,999
mENEE Current liabilities
HEmENRRESTER Other payables and accrued charges 8,905 227,411
BB A R 5B Amounts due to subsidiaries 9,090,991 1,911,753
FERTHR IR A RIRIA Amount due to an intermediate holding
company - 3,804,920
HEaE Lease liabilities 4,487 3,313
RITEE Bank borrowings 4,406,823 500,000
EEEE Deferred liabilities 112 112
13,511,318 6,447,509
MENBEFE Net current liabilities (10,531,602) (3,528,510)
10,158,086 17,156,253
&A% Capital and reserves
%N Share capital 231,401 231,401
G Reserves 9,923,265 12,356,034
10,154,666 12,587,435
FEREBEE Non-current liabilities
IRITMEMEE Bank and other borrowings - 4,568,818
HESBE Lease liabilities 3,420 -
3,420 4,568,818
10,158,086 17,156,253

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2024

45. A BN I EAR R K (&) 45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
AARRERE - Movements in the Company’s reserves:
BB
RVEE #ABH BEZRH EifR RERF &t
Shares
held for
incentive
Share Contributed award Translation Retained
premium surplus scheme reserve profits Total
TER TER iR iR iR iR
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
R-E-=F-F-H At 1st January, 2023 10,038,588 4,507,967 (166,250) (691,862) 946,078 14,634,521
ERpfR2ARERE Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - 103,139 108,139
EfRE Dividends paid - (2,381,626) - - - (2,381,6%6)
R-E-ZFt-A=1-H At 31st December, 2023 10,038,588 2,126,341 (166,250) (691,862) 1,049,217 12,356,034
EnEH R ENGER Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - 359,231 359,231
EfRkE Dividends paid - (2,126,341) - - (724579)  (2850920)
& BEB AR ANk Disposal of shares held for incentive
award scheme - - 7,260 - 51,660 58,920
RZE-mE+-A=1-H At 31st December, 2024 10,038,588 - (158,990) (691,862) 735,529 9,923,265
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BZE-_ZEZ-—_mE+-_A=+—HILLEE

For the year ended 31st December, 2024

46. T EM B AR EFR
TERB AT —RER

REIR - REE B QRWER

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

General information of principal subsidiaries

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting

Byl e period are set out below.
BRARMERE/
AT/ EMER REERLERE
Rt Issued and Attributable
RS Place of incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—EBomE  -Z-=F
2024 2023
% %
ERRAERAR FERIHS LER4ET 100 100 RERR
China Resources Gas Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$4 Investment holding
AEI China Gas Limited REEs L5B1,000%T 100 100 RERR
Cayman Islands Ordinary US$1,000 Investment holding
ERMR il AR 1571,340,0007C 39.17 017 HEREREEBATE
PRC RMB1,571,340,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
EREBRRARAA Gk 29,980,000% 7T 50.00 5000 HEREREENBAEE
PRC 1S$29,980,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
PMEEMEERAA HE AR950,000,0007 80.00 80.00 HERCEREEGRER
PRC RMB950,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
BIEERRARRR" il AR%150,000,00070 51.00 5100 HERERENBAZE
PRC RMB150,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
ERER (5B) 2RERA Gk ARH174,708,0007 51.00 5100 HEREREEBEAZE
PRC RMB174,708,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-Z_MNF+-A=+—HLFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2024

46. TEMB AT ER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
TEMBLATN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BRARBRRE/
HMERL/ ZREE rEEELRE
R Issued and Attributable
NRER Place of incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZBEC@E TR
2024 2023
% %
HEEERRARLA" Gk AR 150,000,0007 49.00 900 HERCRRERBREE
PRC RMB150,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines

EEZEMEERAA il ARH286,582,858 7T 51.00 5100 HEREREREAZE
PRC RMB286,582,858 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

RESZRMAARLE Gk AR 785,000,000 66.43 66.43 HERILARERBREE
PRC RMB785,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines
EREBRRARAR Gk AK%1,000,000,0007C 51.00 5100 WERIRREEBEAEE

PRC RMB1,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

(zmpaereras —z-n=EH) @ZIE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_Z_NE+-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

46. T EMBATIER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

TENBARN-—RER (&)

! ZERRETBRARINEGERENTY

2 MR AREEARE50% A LHEES
ANE - BMAKEREBREEEZWE
RAEERES) - Bt - ZAFRR
REEENHEAT -

: ZERRETRENINEBEEDENTY

‘ HREREBRITNE ST R4
R [ B AR S E R M B A R4S
B RENRBEEBMENRE B
AEBERERABREHAEERS
MEHEMERE BWASEE®EE
BZMBARMRMEE - Bt - %
RAANBRIMEAEER B AR ©

BREBRRARQBHARAEERR
B B LR EENBAREHAE
NAEERA T EXEEEEMA
W AvE: S

BREBRRI RZE_WER-F
ZEF T Z A=+ —BRFRNEME
M BEEaBARSETMAE
BES -

ARBEZRR - LRMIIHAEE
MEBARUAEENEEAREERR
BEEEAXE - ARBEERR #
FIEAMKE DR MNFE B RBESB
KITE »

(CONTINUED)

General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)

! These companies were established in the PRC in the form of Sino-
foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

2 The Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary as the Group is able
to nominate over 50% of the board of directors. Accordingly, the
company is regarded a subsidiary of the Group.

s These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly-
foreign-owned enterprises.

4 The Group has rights to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary
as the Group signed a memorandum in which the other shareholder
would agree with the Group’s decisions on operating, investment
and financing activities of the subsidiary, and the other shareholder
would agree the appointment of the entire senior management
nominated by the Group. Accordingly, the company is accounted for
as a subsidiary of the Group.

Except for China Resources Gas Limited which is directly held by
the Company, all the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly
held by the Company and operate principally in their places of
incorporation/establishment.

Except for EEM R, none of the subsidiaries had any debt
securities outstanding at 31st December, 2024 and 2023 or at
any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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BE-_Z_WE+-—B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

46. TEMBATESR (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
BEERFERERNIEZEREL Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries that have material
RS non-controlling interests
TRINREBEREZERERHARE The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
EF2EMBARE : of the Group that have material non-controlling interests:
EMRILR
TEEE DY FERER G
Place of BERERLA
incorporation and  Proportion of ownership AERTHEREZHERN Rt RREE
ARER principal place of interests held by Profit allocated to non- Accumulated
Name of company business non-controlling interests controlling interests non-controlling interests
“BomE —To=F 0 ZBC@E CTCZF 0 ZBo@E CTCOCE
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
% % TER TR TER TEL
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EEMR i
PRC 60.83 60.83 269,033 259,032 4,303,490 3,107,417
BHEBREERLA e
PRC 20.00 20.00 63,902 94,825 2,951,038 2,704,345
EHERREERAT HE
PRC 50.00 50.00 249,635 215,249 1,777,810 1,544,988
EFZBREERLA e
PRC 49.00 49.00 38,992 12,871 681,181 410,082
ETIZEBREERAT i
PRC 49.00 49.00 76,960 68,773 526,588 451,491
EEEBMEERLA e
PRC 51.00 51.00 52,268 38,678 448,451 427,880

ERRR(RE)ERERAR  FE
PRC 49.00 49.00 28,743 41,659 405,218 349,880

(zmpaereras —z-n=EH) QKN
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BE-Z_MF+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31st December, 2024

46. T EfBE LA EFR (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
BEERFERERNIEZEREL Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries that have material
RS () non-controlling interests (Continued)
HMAILR
FTEEE DY FERER TR
Place of BERERLA
incorporation and  Proportion of ownership BT HERERHER ESE23e
AREE principal place of interests held by Profit allocated to non- Accumulated
Name of company business non-controlling interests controlling interests non-controlling interests
—B-mE —Eo=E —E-mE  —E-=F —E-mE —Z-o=E
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
% % TR TR TR TER
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
ZERERMRARAR i
PRC 33.57 3357 18,392 34,517 374,058 506,139
EEERRAEBRLA i
PRC 49.00 49.00 24,913 29,296 364,581 372,864
BAFEREROER
FEAMBELA
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests 10,966,594 12,736,365

22,799,009 22,611,451

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-—T-—_ME+=-A=t+—HLEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024

46. T EM B A RIEFR (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
BRERNGERAA BEEENGERAA ESEERARARAT ERERNEERAA
—ECME CECC —ECME -E-cE ZBECME “EI-cE ZEopE a3
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$'000 HK§ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
ThT ThR ThR ThR ThT ThR T TER

AEGE Total assets 1,607,138 1,655,640 1,834,308 1,830,152 1,325,105 1,277,216 3,444,943 2,968,840
JA Revenue 1,236,845 1,268,746 1,041,528 1,258,083 1,152,965 1,209,264 2,677,249 2,208,475
Efiaf] Profit for the year 102,486 84,345 50,843 66,492 54,788 63,108 79,575 42,641
ERrEhaEE Total comprehensive income

for the year 102,124 83,565 50,843 64,397 54,788 64,104 79,575 42,008

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2024 )
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BE-Z_MNF+-A=+—HLFE  For the year ended 31st December, 2024

47. TEEGE N FER 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES
AEEEERE
Rt Attributable
AEERE Place of HEMER equity interest TEEH
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZECME —2-o=F
2024 2023
% %
ERERELMRERAA HE AR 2,800,000,0007 49 49 HERCRREEHRESE
PRC RMB2,800,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BERRREBRABRAT Sl AR717,578,6007C 49 49 HERLRREBHRESE
PRC RMB717,578,600 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BETMREEBRAF HE AR100,000,0007C 49 49 HERLRREBHRES
PRC RMB100,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BMEBRRERAR HE AR538,995,3007C 49 49 HERICEREFRRES
PRC RMB538,995,300 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
EREBRRAERAR hE AR#5,000,000,0007 49 49 HERCEREBBRESR
PRC RMB5,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BEARERRRARAR E AR#1,000,000,0007T 49 49 HERCEREBBRES
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas
pipelines

(zmpaereras —z-nEEH) N
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_Z_NE+-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2024
47. TEEE N RER (F) 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)
HRERAEBHAREFTELEER The Group is able to exercise joint control over these companies
BENAIM— ?ﬁ(ﬂﬁ U 52 18 A # of which the decisions about the relevant activities require
ZENBTELE SR o UL - Z the unanimous consent of the Group and the joint ventures.
/N ﬂ?ﬁ?ﬁ%$‘§@€]/\*“ ° Accordingly, these companies are regarded as joint ventures of
the Group.
KRABEERE  EXRAINAEER The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in the
BENRIHAEBRFANEEBEA opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
HELBENAEEEEFEEAND results of the year or form a substantial portion of the net assets
Do RATEEFRE  HIHMEE of the Group. To give details of other joint ventures would, in the
NAINFBRLSAREBNITE © opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of

excessive length.

48. TEHENTEHR 48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
RERR/HEAT
HENRE rEEEERE
Rt Equity interest Attributable
ARER Place of ERER held by the joint interest equity TREHR
Name of company establishment Registered capital ventures/subsidiaries of the Group Principal activities
ZECmE CToCF ZBI@E CRCCF
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
FARREERN # AR 889,000,000 32.40 32.40 32.40 R40  HERCRRESEREE
ARAE PRC RMB889,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines

* ZERAZBRNELEEFZ S L * These companies have listed their shares on the Shanghai Stock
e Exchange.

KABEERRE  LRAINAEE The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the

HENREAEENEASAERS opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected

BEEERTE - AR 7%%%% C & the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details

P E A B S N RN IBE ST ARG R of other associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the

RILEK ° Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

(_CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED _Annual Report 2024 )
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Five-year Financial Summary

S RESULTS
HE+-A=1t—-HIEE
Year ended 31st December,
—TZTF T —F T -fF T =F ZE-NF
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
FET FET FET FET FiEx
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000
WA REVENUE 55,864,169 79,642,030 94,338,329 101,271,905 102,675,888
FREF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 6,711,888 8,439,832 6,308,519 7,058,886 5,748,294
M ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
AARERA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 5,151,292 6,395,368 4,733,455 5,223,705 4,088,148
FEIE R NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 1,560,596 2,044,464 1,575,064 1,835,181 1,660,146
6,711,888 8,439,832 6,308,519 7,058,886 5,748,294
EERERE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
+=-A=+—H
31st December,
ZTZTF T CZTZZ§f CZTZ=F ZT-@mF
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
FET FHET FET FHET FEx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000
(fe=731)
(Restated)
BEBHE TOTAL ASSETS 93,870,809 106,136,308 112,303,585 137,871,085 132,482,695
BERE TOTAL LIABILITIES (47,002,450) (52,098,646) (59,758,162) (74,487,403) (68,511,719)
BB E TOTAL EQUITY 46,868,359 54,037,662 52545423 63,383,682 63,970,976
FEMERIRA - EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
RKRRHEBA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 36,274,287 41,256,915 39,307,612 40,772,231 41,171,967
FEERR S NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 10,594,072 12,780,747 13,237,811 22,611,451 22,799,009
BALE TOTAL EQUITY 46,868,359 54,037,662 52545423 63,383,682 63,970,976

M AR EER ST —F+_-_A=+—HH%
EMBRANLERETEEY - Hawia
SHEEASKERBRE K ©

Note: The comparative figures of the Group’s consolidated financial position as
at 31st December, 2022 have been restated as if the initial accounting had
been completed from the respective acquisition dates.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Ping (Chairman)
Ms. QIN Yan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. LI Xiaoshuang

Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Gaogiang
Ms. GE Lu

Mr. LI Weiwei

Mr. ZHANG Junzheng
Mr. FANG Xin

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. YU Hon To, David
Mr. YANG Yuchuan
Mr. LI Pok Yan

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman)
Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Mr. YANG Yuchuan

Mr. WANG Gaogiang

Mr. FANG Xin

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Tak Shing (Chairman)
Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. LI Pok Yan

Mr. ZHANG Junzheng

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. YANG Ping (Chairman)
Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. YANG Yuchuan

Ms. GE Lu
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Corporate Information

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS “CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE”)

Mr. YANG Ping (Chairman)
Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Mr. YANG Yuchuan

Mr. LI Pok Yan

Mr. LI Weiwei

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. CHENG Kwai Yuk

REGISTERED OFFICE

Victoria place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM10
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Room 1901-02

China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISOR

Reed Smith Richards Butler

AUDITOR

KPMG

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the
Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong
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Appleby Global Corporate Services
(Bermuda) Limited

Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
PO Box HM 1179, Hamilton HM EX
Bermuda
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PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Appleby Global Corporate Services
(Bermuda) Limited

Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
PO Box HM 1179, Hamilton HM EX
Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
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